
GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
Regular Meeting 
November 7, 2022 

6:30 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 
Call to Order: 
 
Pledge of Allegiance: 
 
Call to the Public (Public comment will be limited to two minutes per person) *: 
 
Approval of Consent Agenda: 
 

1. Payment of Bills: November 7, 2022 
 

2. Request to approve October 17, 2022 regular meeting and October 26, 2022 special meeting 
minutes 
 

3. Request to amend the Board of Review, Refunds and Chargebacks Budget (101-247-964-000) 
from $2000.00 to $5000.00. 

  
Approval of Regular Agenda: 
 

4. Request for approval of the proposed 2023 employee benefits as presented by Human Resources 
Manager, Kim Lane. 
 

5. Presentation and request to receive the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Township Audit as presented by 
Maner Costerisan. 
 

6. Request for approval of the proposed 2023 Howell Area Parks and Recreation Authority budget 
presented by Tim Church, HAPRA Director. 
 

7. Consideration of a recommendation for approval of a special use application, environmental 
impact assessment and site plan for a proposed 3,750 sq. ft. office building with outdoor storage 
located at 1247 Fendt Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive. The request is petitioned by Al 
Halliday, A & J Cartage. 
 

8. Request for introduction of the proposed rezoning ordinance number Z-22-03 and to set the 
meeting date for the purpose of considering the proposed ordinance for adoption before the 
Township Board on Monday, November 21, 2022.  The request is to rezone approximately 52 
acres from the Neighborhood Service District, Medium Density Residential district and the 
Town Center Overlay district to Residential Planned Unit Development.  The property consists 
of two vacant parcels with a combined total of approximately 52 acres with parcel ID numbers 
4711-11-300-014 and 4711-14-100-002 located at the southeast corner of Grand River and Dorr 
Road. 
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9. Request for approval to appoint Kelly VanMarter as the FOIA Coordinator for the remainder of 
the current term, to re-appoint Diana Lowe to the Planning Commission with a term ending 
11/20/23, to re-appoint Jean Ledford to the Zoning Board of Appeals with a term ending 
11/20/23 and to re-appoint Chris Grajek, Ron Matkin, Marianne McCreary, and Lindsay 
MacFarlane (alternate) to the Board of Review with terms ending 12/31/24 as recommended by 
the Township Supervisor.   
 

10. Request for discussion regarding re-negotiating the Settlement Agreement associated with a 
Consent Order for Case No. ll-26089-CE, Genoa Charter Township vs Paul Lalewicz.   
 

11. Request for discussion regarding Township contributions to the Senior Survivor playground 
project.   
 

12. Request for approval of the closed session minutes from October 26, 2022. 
a. If necessary, consider motion to enter into closed session under the Open Meetings Act, 

MCL 15.268(h) to consider material exempt from discussion or disclosure by state or 
federal statute. (roll call, requires 2/3 vote) 

b. Consider motion to adjourn the closed session and reconvene in open session. (roll call) 
 
Correspondence 
Member Discussion 
Adjournment 
 

*Citizen’s Comments- In addition to providing the public with an opportunity to address the Township Board 
at the beginning of the meeting, opportunity to comment on individual agenda items may be offered by the 
Chairman as they are presented. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
Regular Meeting  
October 17, 2022 

 
MINUTES 

 
Supervisor Rogers called the regular meeting of the Genoa Charter Township Board to order at 
6:30 pm at the Township Hall. The following members were present constituting a quorum for 
the transaction of business:  Bill Rogers, Paulette Skolarus, Jean Ledford, Terry Croft, Jim 
Mortensen, Diana Lowe and Robin Hunt. Also present were Township Manager Kelly 
VanMarter, and Township Attorney Joe Seward and one person in the audience. 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 
 
Supervisor Rogers welcomed the new Township Manager, Kelly VanMarter, to her first Board 
Meeting. 
 
The call to the public was opened at 6:31 pm with no response. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
Moved by Hunt, supported by Mortensen, to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
1. Payment of Bills: October 17, 2022  
 
2. Request to approve Minutes: October 3, 2022 
 
Regular Agenda 

Moved by Lowe, supported by Mortensen, to approve the Regular Agenda as presented. The 
motion carried unanimously. 

3. Request to approve water rate adjustments in response to the City of Brighton’s revised fee 
schedule effective December 1, 2022 as recommended by the accountants and Utility 
Director as follows: 
a) Increase the Lake Edgewood Conference Center Quarterly Water Fee to $7.06/1,000 
gallons from $6.43/1,000 gallons 
b) Increase the Lake Edgewood Other Quarterly water fee to $6.76/1,000 gallons from 
$6.16/1,000 per 1,000 gallons 
c) Hold the applicable Brighton City water connection fee at $2,802 per REU and the sewer 
connection at $7,198 per REU. 

 
Moved by Ledford, supported by Lowe, to Increase the Lake Edgewood Conference Center 
Quarterly Water Fee to $7.06/1,000 gallons from $6.43/1,000 gallons. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
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Moved by Skolarus, supported by Croft, to Increase the Lake Edgewood Other Quarterly water 
fee to $6.76/1,000 gallons from $6.16/1,000 per 1,000 gallons. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
Moved by Hunt, supported by Lowe, to hold the applicable Brighton City water connection fee at 
$2,802 per REU and the sewer connection at $7,198 per REU. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
4. Consideration of a recommendation for approval of an amendment to the Saint Joseph 

Mercy Health Planned Unit Development Agreement, final PUD site plan and environmental 
impact assessment to construct a proposed 175,043 sq. ft. 4-story hospital addition to an 
existing medical building. The project is located at 7575 Grand River Avenue, north side of 
Grand River Avenue and west of Bendix Road. The request is petitioned by Trinity Health-
Michigan. 
a) Disposition of the Amended and Restated PUD Agreement 
b) Disposition of the Environmental Impact Assessment (dated 3-30-22) 
c) Disposition of the Final PUD site plan (dated 9-16-22) 

 
Mr. Tom Tocco, the Executive Director of Facilities and Construction for Trinity Health-Michigan, 
stated he and his consultants were present this evening to answer any questions from the 
Board. 
 
Mr. Mortensen asked if the Howell hospital would be closed. Mr. Tocco stated this is a 
relocation of that hospital. This hospital will open with 56 beds with room to grow. The existing 
location currently has 40 beds. 
 
Ms. Hunt asked for confirmation that the drainage issues raised by the adjacent residents have 
been resolved. Mr. Tocco stated they have. 
 
PUD Agreement 
Moved by Skolarus, supported by Mortensen to approve the Amended and Restated Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) Agreement with the following conditions 
1. The applicant will revise the Agreement to address the comments of the Planner and 

Township Manager. Additional detail shall be provided regarding the proposed signage and 
the applicant shall revise the PUD Agreement as necessary. 

2. The Township Attorney shall review and approve the final document prior to execution. 
3. The applicant shall ensure that the signed document is property recorded with the Register 

of Deeds prior to issuance of a land use permit for the project. 
4. Any site plan fee exceedances associated with the additional meetings and consultant 

reviews as indicated on the site plan and PUD applications shall be paid prior to issuance of 
the land use permit for the project.  

The motion carried unanimously. 
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Environmental Impact Assessment 
Moved by Lowe, supported by Mortensen, to approve the Environmental Impact Assessment 
dated March 30, 2022 as submitted. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Final PUD Site Plan 
Moved by Mortensen, supported by Croft, to approve the Final PUD Site Plan dated September 
16, 2022. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 5. Consideration of a recommendation for approval of an amendment to a previously approved 

site plan for a climate-controlled indoor commercial storage business located at 2630 E. 
Grand River Avenue, south side of Grand River, east of Chilson Road. The request is 
petitioned by Schafer Construction, Inc.  

 
Mr. Stan Schafer stated they are requesting to not pave the front portion of the parking lot at this 
time as the owner has a potential user for it. He requested an extension of 12-18 months. Ms. 
VanMarter noted that her memo recommended 12 months; however, the applicant is requesting 
12-18 months. 
 
There was a discussion with the applicant regarding the allowable time frame and requiring a 
performance guarantee. Mr. Shafer agreed to a time frame of 12 months and to provide a 
performance guarantee. 
 
Moved by Hunt, supported by Lowe, to approve the amendments to the approved Site Plan 
dated October 4, 2022 with the following conditions:  
● The applicant shall be permitted to delay removal of the pavement in the un-improved future 

outlot area for a period not to exceed 12 months. 
● Within 12 months of this approval the applicant must have obtained site plan approval for 

construction of a principal building in the area of the future lot. 
● To ensure adherence to this condition, the applicant shall work with staff and the Township 

attorney to determine the best legal mechanism to ensure the faithful completion of the 
removal. This may include provisions for a performance guarantee in accordance with 
Section 21.03 of the Zoning Ordinance.  

The motion carried unanimously. 
 
6. Request for approval of a transfer of a Class C liquor license from NPZ Group LLC at 7749 

E. M36, Hamburg Township to CBOCS Properties, Inc. (Cracker Barrel) at 7925 Conference 
Center Drive, Genoa Township.  

 
Moved by Hunt, supported by Croft, to approve a transfer of a Class C liquor license from NPZ 
Group, LLC at 7749 E. M36, Hamburg Township to CBOCS Properties, Inc. (Cracker Barrel) at 
7925 Conference Center Drive, Genoa Township. The motion carried unanimously. 
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7. Consideration of amendments to the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for the General Fund, 
Fund 101 to reflect the impact of the resignation of the Township Manager and the internal 
promotions to fill the Manager and Planning Director positions as follows: 

 a) Increase Dept. 172 - Township Manager, “Salary” Line Item 101-172-702-014 from 
$139,513 to $166,435.08. 

 b) Decrease Dept. 261 - Unallocated, “Retirement” Line Item 101-261-718-001 from 
$121,000 to $119,505. 

 c) Decrease Dept. 701 - Planning and Zoning, “Planning and Zoning Wages and Salaries” 
Line Item 101-701-703-000 from $218,760 to $176,889.12.  

 
Moved by Hunt, supported by Lowe, to amend the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for Fund 101, 
Department 172 - Township Manager, “Salary” Line Item 101-172-702-014 from $139,513 to 
$166,435.08. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Mr. Mortensen stated he will make the motion to decrease the Unallocated “Retirement” line 
item; however, he requested that Staff revisit the amount being requested as he does not think it 
is correct. 
 
Moved by Mortensen, supported by Lowe, to amend the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for 
Fund 101, Department 261 – Unallocated, “Retirement” Line Item 101-261-718-001 from 
$121,000 to $119,505. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Mortensen, supported by Ledford, to amend the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for 
Fund 101, Department 701 – Planning and Zoning, “Wages and Salary” Line Item 101-701-703-
000 from $218,760 to $176,889.12. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Supervisor Rogers advised the Board the reason they are seeing so many adjustments 
throughout the fiscal year due to the new budget system required by the State of Michigan. Ms. 
Skolarus would like to see these amendments on a quarterly basis. Ms. VanMarter stated the 
Board will be provided quarterly reports to see the changes that have been made, noting that 
the first quarter reports were reported to the Board. The new auditors have requested to see 
these adjustments made and approved by the Board as they occur. She added that this is the 
first year with the new budget, so it is expected that there will be more adjustments; however, 
this will not be the case for future years.  
 
Ms. Hunt agrees that the amendments should be presented when they are being done.  
 
8. Consideration of amendments to the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for the Parks and 

Recreation Fund, Fund 208 as follows: 
a) Increase Dept. 751 – Parks & Recreation, “Park Master Plan” Line Item 208-751-934-

006 to cover the cost of survey work and wetland delineation for the Township park 
acquisition parcels from $10,000 to $20,850.  
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b) Decrease to zero Dept. 751 – Parks & Recreation, Line Item 208-751-934-003 for the 
Pedestrian Crossing at Grand River and Speedway due to MDOT consideration for the 
project. 

 c) Decrease to zero Dept. 751 – Parks & Recreation, Line Item 208-751-934-009 for the 
Pedestrian Crossing at Grand River and Golf Club due to MDOT consideration for the 
project. 

d) Create new Dept. 751 – Parks & Recreation, line item number 208-751-934-012 for the 
“Grand River Sidewalk Infill design/easement” project with a budget amount of $55,000.  

 
Moved by Mortensen, supported by Hunt, to amend the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for Fund 
208 Parks and Recreation, Line Item 208-751-934-006 to increase the budget amount from 
$10,000 to $20,850 to cover the cost of survey work and wetland delineation for the Township 
park acquisition parcels. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Ledford, supported by Skolarus, to decrease to zero Dept. 751 – Parks & Recreation, 
Line Item 208-751-934-003 for the Pedestrian Crossing at Grand River and Speedway due to 
MDOT consideration for the project. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Skolarus, supported by Lowe, to decrease to zero Dept. 751 – Parks & Recreation, 
Line Item 208-751-934-009 for the Pedestrian Crossing at Grand River and Golf Club due to 
MDOT consideration for the project. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Ledford, supported by Lowe, to amend the Fiscal Year 2022/2023 Budget for Fund 
208 Parks and Recreation, to add a new line item with fund number 208-751-934-012 for the 
Grand River Sidewalk Infill Design & Easement with a budget amount of $55,000. The motion 
carried unanimously. 
 
Correspondence 

Ms. VanMarter reviewed a memo providing answers to questions from the Board regarding the 
solar charging table.  

An email was received from the DNR regarding the grant for the Genoa Township Park 
Expansion. 

Member Discussion 

Ms. Skolarus provided photographs of the cleanup that has been started in the cemetery. They 
will be back in November to do additional work. Then they will do clean ups in the early spring, 
summer, and fall of 2023. Mr. Mortensen has visited the cemetery and it is vastly improved. 

Ms. Lowe asked if she is allowed to work in the Clerk’s Office the Saturday before the election. 
Mr. Seward stated there is the Incompatible Office Act, which does not allow for a Board 
Member to work as an election worker when they are on the ballot, but that is not the case with 
this election and Ms. Lowe. There is a provision in the act that if a community has less than 
40,000 residents, the Board can approve it.  
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The other issue is that there would then be a quorum of the Elections Commission that day if 
Ms. Lowe is working with Ms. Skolarus, so that would violate the Open Meetings Act. Ms. 
Skolarus stated this would also apply when both are working in the office together at other 
times. 

Ms. Hunt stated this is putting the Township at risk. Ms. Ledford agrees. Ms. Hunt would have 
liked to have this discussion on an agenda and provided more information. Ms. VanMarter 
stated these concerns were discussed with the Clerk prior to the last Board meeting, so there 
was time to add it to the agenda; however, a request was not made to place it on tonight’s 
agenda.  

Mr. Seward stated having Ms. Lowe discuss and vote on this item is a conflict of interest. Ms. 
Lowe left the meeting room. 

Moved by Mortensen, supported by Skolarus, that Trustee Diana Lowe can be employed in the 
Clerk’s Office with work hours that are separate and apart from the existing Clerk for the 
election on November 8, 2022. The motion failed (Ledford - no, Croft - yes, Hunt - no, 
Mortensen - yes, Skolarus - yes, and Rogers - no). 

Ms. Lowe returned to the meeting. 

Adjournment 

Moved by Hunt, supported by Ledford, to adjourn the meeting at 7:21 pm. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Patty Thomas 
Recording Secretary 
 
 
Approved: 
  Paulette Skolarus, Clerk  Bill Rogers, Supervisor 
  Genoa Charter Township  Genoa Charter Township Draf

t

18



GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
Special Meeting  
October 26, 2022 

 
MINUTES 

 
 
Supervisor Rogers called the special meeting of the Genoa Charter Township Board to order at 
6:30 pm at the Township Hall. The following members were present constituting a quorum for 
the transaction of business:  Bill Rogers, Paulette Skolarus, Jean Ledford, Terry Croft, Jim 
Mortensen, Diana Lowe and Robin Hunt. Also present were Township Manager Kelly 
VanMarter, Township Attorney Joe Seward, and Chad Karsten and Alana Ballantyne of Fahey 
Schultz Burzych Rhodes Law Firm. 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

 
Regular Agenda 

Moved by Lowe, supported by Hunt, to approve the Regular Agenda as presented. The motion 
carried unanimously. 

The call to the public was opened at 6:31 pm with no response. 
 
1. Closed session to consider a confidential written legal opinion pursuant to MCL 

15.268(1)(h). 
a. Consider motion to enter into closed session to consider a confidential written legal 

opinion pursuant to MCL 15.268(1)(h).  
b. Consider motion to conclude the closed session and return to open session.  

Supervisor Rogers explained that this was to review the attorneys’ findings from the 
independent investigation authorized by the Board on June 6, 2022 regarding various issues 
related to the Clerk. 

Moved by Mortensen, supported by Croft, to enter into closed session to consider a confidential 
written legal opinion pursuant to MCL 15.268(1)(h) at 6:32 pm. The motion carried 
unanimously with a roll call vote (Ledford - yes, Croft - yes, Hunt - yes, Lowe - yes, 
Mortensen - yes, Skolarus - yes, and Rogers - yes).  

Moved by Ledford, supported by Lowe, to conclude the closed session and return to open 
session at 8:35 pm. The motion carried unanimously with a roll call vote (Ledford - yes, 
Croft - yes, Hunt - yes, Lowe - yes, Mortensen - yes, Skolarus - yes, and Rogers - yes).  

Moved by Hunt, seconded by Lowe, that no future township funds or resources be used to 
review the 2016/2017 payroll issue due to the fact that it was thoroughly reviewed and resolved 
five years ago and this is a personal matter of the Township Clerk. The motion carried 
DRAFT
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(Ledford - yes, Croft - yes, Hunt - yes, Lowe - yes, Mortensen - yes, Skolarus - no, and 
Rogers - yes).  

Ms. Skolarus stated she voted no because the question with regard to being paid in advance 
regarding Gary McCririe has not been answered by either the attorneys here or anyone on this 
Board. 

Moved by Hunt, seconded by Croft, that the Clerk submit her resignation to the Board at or 
before the next Board Meeting of November 7, 2022. In the absence of a resignation, Township 
Staff and the attorney shall prepare a censure resolution for the November 21, 2022 Board 
meeting to protect the Township and its employees. The motion carried (Ledford - yes, Croft 
- yes, Hunt - yes, Lowe - no, Mortensen - yes, Skolarus - no, and Rogers - yes).  

Ms. Lowe stated that she voted no because Ms. Skolarus is not going to resign because the 
Board asked her. Ms. Hunt responded that doing nothing condones the behavior.   

Skolarus moved that Robin Hunt be reviewed by the same attorney as to whether or not she 
invested $1 million of Township funds and withdrew them early with a 10 percent penalty, losing 
the Township approximately $70,000. The motion failed for lack of support. 

Ms. Skolarus stated that when she was found not guilty by the County, not one member of the 
Board congratulated her. 

Mr. Mortensen stated he wanted to support the motion and voted yes because in looking at the 
whole report, unfortunately, there are a few things that are controversial regarding one 
individual. 

Adjournment 

Moved by Lowe, supported by Hunt, to adjourn the meeting at 8:49 pm. The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Patty Thomas 
Recording Secretary 
 
 
Approved: 
  Paulette Skolarus, Clerk  Bill Rogers, Supervisor 
  Genoa Charter Township  Genoa Charter Township 
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R E V I E W  A N D  R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

2023 BENEFIT SOLUTIONS

22



HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2023

• For 2023, Blue Cross Blue Shield has a renewal rate of 10.9% ($63,547 ).  This renewal cost is 
largely due to how BCBS rebalanced their costs over the entire state rather than county 
by county.  It also takes into account a 2-3% increase due to the increase in age of the 
existing workforce.

• We estimated our proposed EHIM costs this year by averaging the costs over the last five 
years.  We are reducing what we budgeted last year by about 17% (-$21,460)for 2023.  
Additionally, we are using the surplus in EHIM dollars to establish a reserve for future years 
to provide the township increased financial security for the self insured portion and also to 
eventually be able to absorb cost fluctuations.  Ultimately, this reserve will help us to 
balance out our self-funded costs year over year.

• Delta Dental has renewed our coverage at a modest 1.5% ($638)increase over last year.

• Our life and disability benefits will remain at current rates for 2023 due to the two-year rate 
guarantee we established last year.

• With all of the above considered, our net increase in health care expenses is expected to 
be 5.1% ($41,650)
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EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS AND 
TOTAL BENEFIT COSTS FOR 2023

• Employee contributions are based on 10% of BCBS and EHIM costs for Single, 2-Person, and Family Plans.
• Delta Dental Increase of 1.5% and no increase for life and disability.

Township Expenses

2022 Budget/Fees
2023 Renewal

Health/Vision $584,769 $648,316
EHIM $123,871 $102,411
Delta Dental $43,343 $43,981
Basic Life Insurance  $5,570 $5,570
Short-Term Disability $10,124 $10,124
Long-Term Disability $7,797 $7,797
Opt-Out Cost $20,345 $19,270
Wellness Program $15,000 $15,000
Total Cost $810,819 $852,469
Less Employee Contributions -$70,764 -$75,096
Net Annual Township Cost $740,055 $777,373

Percent Increase Prior to EE Contributions 5.14%
Percent Increase Less EE Contributions 5.10%

2023 Monthly Composite Rates

EEs
BCBS 2023

Rate

2023 
EHIM 
Rate

Total Monthly
Health Rate

Single 10 $668.64 $105.63 $774.27
2-Person 7 $1,604.74 $253.49 $1,858.23
Family 18 $2,005.93 $316.86 $2,322.79

Employee Expenses**

Based on     
Composite Rates

Current EE 
Contribution 

(Monthly)

EE Contribution at 
10% BCBS + EHIM 

(Monthly)

Single $73 $78

2-Person $175 $186

Family $219 $232

Monthly Total (All EE) $5,897 $6,258

Annual Total (All EE) $70,764 $75,096

** Employee Contributions are deducted on a pre-tax basis

Impact on Employees Per Pay

Current EE 
Contribution 

Per Pay

2023
Contribution 

Per Pay

Increase Per 
Pay

Single $33.69 $36.00 + $2.31

2-Person $80.77 $85.85 +  $5.08

Family $101.08 $107.08 + $6.00
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September 14, 2022 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Genoa Charter Township 
Brighton, Michigan   
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Genoa Charter Township for the year ended March 31, 
2022.  Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under 
generally accepted auditing standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of 
our audit.  We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated February 25, 2022.  Professional 
standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies.  The significant 
accounting policies used by the Genoa Charter Township are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.  No 
new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during 2022.  We 
noted no transactions entered into by the Genoa Charter Township during the year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus.  All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events.  Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected.  The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information were: 
 

Management’s calculation of the depreciation expense is based on the estimated useful lives of the capital 
assets.   
 
Management’s calculation of the accrued compensated absences is based on current hourly rates and 
policies regarding payment of sick and vacation banks. 

 
The calculation of the net pension liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of resources is based 
on an actuarial study which utilized certain actuarial assumptions.  
 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these accounting estimates in determining that 
they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
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The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
Management has corrected all such misstatements.  The following material misstatements, detected as a result 
of audit procedures, were corrected by management: Cash, long-term obligations, and deferred inflow of 
resources. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated September 14, 2022. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves application of 
an accounting principle to the Genoa Charter Township’s financial statements or a determination of the type of 
auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting 
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there 
were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Genoa Charter Township’s auditors.  However, 
these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the 
basic financial statements.  Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements.  We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 
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We were engaged to report on other supplementary information, which accompany the financial statements but 
are not RSI.  With respect to this supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and 
evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information 
complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing 
it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our 
audit of the financial statements.  We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 
 
Restriction on Use 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the management and members of the Board of Trustees of 
Genoa Charter Township and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 
Very truly yours, 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Genoa Charter Township 
Brighton, MI 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Genoa Charter Township, as of and 
for the year ended March 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
Genoa Charter Township’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of Genoa Charter Township, as of March 31, 2022, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We did not audit the financial statements of Brighton Area Fire Authority, which represent 10%, 11%, and 9%, 
respectively, of the assets, net position, and revenues of the governmental activities as of March 31, 2022, and 
the respective changes in financial position. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has 
been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Brighton Area Fire 
Authority, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of Genoa Charter 
Township and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Genoa Charter Township’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently 
known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

➢ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

➢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

➢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of Genoa Charter Township’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

➢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

➢ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that
raise substantial doubt about Genoa Charter Township’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and pension related schedules, as identified in the 
table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise Genoa Charter Township’s basic financial statements.  The other supplementary information, as listed 
in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the other supplementary information is fairly stated, 
in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

September 14, 2022 
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Management Discussion and Analysis 
March 31, 2022

 
 

Within this section of the Genoa Charter Township’s annual financial report, the Township’s management is 
providing a narrative discussion and analysis of the financial activities of the Township for the year ended March 31, 
2022.  This narrative discusses and analyzes the activity within the context of the accompanying financial statements 
and disclosures following this section.  The discussion focuses on the Township’s primary government and, unless 
otherwise noted, component units reported separately from the primary government are not included. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis introduces the Township’s basic financial statements.  The basic financial 
statements include government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial 
statements.  The Township also includes in this report additional information to supplement the basic financial 
statements. 
 

Government-wide Financial Statements 
 

The Township’s annual reports include two government-wide financial statements.  These statements provide both 
long-term and short-term information about the Township’s overall status.  Financial reporting at this level uses a 
perspective similar to that found in the private sector with its basis in full accrual accounting and elimination or 
reclassification of internal activities. 
 

The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position.  This is the Township-wide 
statement of position presenting information that includes all the Township’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Township as a 
whole is improving or deteriorating.  Evaluation of the overall health of the Township may extend to various non-
financial factors as well. 
 

The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities which reports how the Township’s net 
positions changed during the current fiscal period.  The design of this statement is to show the financial reliance of 
the Township’s distinct activities or functions on the revenues generated by the Township. 
 

Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the Township that are principally 
supported by taxes and revenue sharing from the business-type activities that are intended to recover all or a 
significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges.  Governmental activities include such activities as 
general government, public safety, and planning and zoning departments.  Business-type activities include water & 
sewer system operations.  Fiduciary activities such as tax collection are not included in the government-wide 
statements since these assets are not available to fund Township programs. 
 

The Township’s financial reporting includes all the funds of the Township (primary government) and, additionally, 
organizations for which the Township is accountable (component units).  The Township has no component units. 
 

Fund Financial Statements 
 

A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities or 
objectives.  The Township uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and 
regulations.  Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the Township’s most 
significant funds rather than the Township as a whole.  Major funds are separately reported while all others are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for nonmajor funds is provided in the 
combining statements and individual fund statements later in this report.  
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The Township has three kinds of funds: 
 
Governmental funds are reported in the financial statements and encompass essentially the same functions as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements except with a different focus on the 
financial activity.  These statements report short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable 
resources and balances of these resources available at the end of the period.  They are useful in evaluating 
annual financing requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the 
near-term.  Since the focus of the government-wide financial statements includes a long-term view, a 
reconciliation of these fund balances has been completed to detail its relation to net positions. 
 
Proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and are used to account for operations (a) that 
are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the governing 
body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the public on a 
continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has 
decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for 
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or other purposes. 
 
Fiduciary funds are reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements but are excluded from the government-
wide statements.  Fiduciary fund financial statements report resources that are not available to fund Township 
activities.   
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements provide information essential to a full understanding of both 
the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required 
supplementary information.  Other supplementary information includes detail by fund for receivables, payables, 
transfers, and payments within the reporting entity.  
 
Major funds are reported in the basic financial statements as discussed.  Combining and individual statements 
and schedules for nonmajor funds are presented in a subsequent section of this report. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Township as a Whole 
 
The Township’s overall net position at the end of the fiscal year was $63,957,472.  This is a $2,242,763 increase 
compared to the net position of $62,161,163 as of March 31, 2021, which includes prior period adjustments 
reducing net position by $446,454  
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The following tables provide a summary of the Township’s financial activities and changes in net position: 
 

Summary of Net Position 
 

3/31/2022 3/31/2021 3/31/2022 3/31/2021 3/31/2022 3/31/2021

Assets

Current and other assets 15,367,183$  13,836,734$  3,105,470$       3,358,837$       18,472,653$  17,195,571$  

Capital assets and investment in joint ventures 36,621,859    35,320,187    17,106,691       17,333,267       53,728,550    52,653,454    

Total assets 51,989,042    49,156,921    20,212,161       20,692,104       72,201,203    69,849,025    

Deferred outflow of resources

Pension activities 69,494            13,465            69,494            13,465            

Liabilities

Current l iabilities 1,963,351 1,696,012      184,982             94,673               2,148,333      1,790,685      

Long-term liabilities 248,890          45,000            5,809,843          5,850,642          6,058,733      5,895,642      

Total liabilities 2,212,241      1,741,012      5,994,825          5,945,315          8,207,066      7,686,327      

Deferred inflow of resources

Pension related activities 46,729            15,000            59,430               106,159          15,000            

Net Position:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 6,192,321      5,671,372      12,045,216       12,294,593       18,237,537    17,965,965    

Restricted 2,750,512      2,631,787      1,328,780          1,672,334          4,079,292      4,304,121      

Unrestricted 40,856,733    39,111,215    783,910             779,862             41,640,643    39,891,077    

Total net position 49,799,566$  47,414,374$  14,157,906$     14,746,789$     63,957,472$  62,161,163$  

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals
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Summary of Changes in Net Position 
 

3/31/2022 3/31/2021 3/31/2022 3/31/2021 3/31/2022 3/31/2021

REVENUES

Program revenues

Charges for services 4,715,678$      3,885,198$      1,944,525$      2,144,659$      6,660,203$      6,029,857$      

Operating grants and

capital contributions 69,156              22,820              52,500              121,656           22,820              

General revenues                                             

Federal grants 728,924           728,924                                 

State grants 2,286,306        1,910,986        2,286,306        1,910,986        

Property taxes 1,410,905        1,380,794        1,410,905        1,380,794        

Special assessments 60,740                                    60,740              

Licenses and permits 425,734                                 425,734           

Interest income 18,218              36,950              4,725                7,317                22,943              44,267              

Change in investment joint ventures 780,723           2,131,430        780,723           2,131,430        

(Loss) on sale of fixed assets                       (75,215)                                  (75,215)            

Other 315,203           365,383           238,015           152,762           553,218           518,145           

Total revenues 10,325,113      10,144,820      2,239,765        2,304,738        12,564,878      12,449,558      

EXPENSES

General government 3,610,906        3,638,130                                                    3,610,906        3,638,130        

Public safety 15,873              15,873                                                          15,873              15,873              

Parks and recreation 412,479           410,168                                                       412,479           410,168           

Public works 3,532,859        3,542,983                                                    3,532,859        3,542,983        

Refuse collection 365,929           389,160                                                       365,929           389,160           

Interest on long-term debt 1,875                8,928                433,117           1,875                442,045           

Water and sewer systems 2,382,194        2,456,473        2,382,194        2,456,473        

Total expenses 7,939,921        8,005,242        2,382,194        2,889,590        10,322,115      10,894,832      

Change in net position 2,385,192        2,139,578        (142,429)          (584,852)          2,242,763        1,554,726        

Beginning net position 47,414,374      45,274,796      14,746,789      15,331,641      62,161,163      60,606,437      

Prior period adjustment                       (446,454)          (446,454)                                

Ending net position 49,799,566$   47,414,374$   14,157,906$   14,746,789$   63,957,472$   62,161,163$   

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Totals
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The Township's net position of governmental activities increased $2,385,192 due mostly to changes in investment in 
joint ventures and federal grant funds received for the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) grant.  For governmental 
activity reporting purposes, $525,000 of the expenditures relating to the grant revenue have been capitalized as 
construction in progress.  The business-type funds reported a net loss of $142,429. This is mostly due to sizable 
repairs and maintenance costs due mostly to aging infrastructure.   
  

Financial Analysis of the Township’s Funds 
 

The Township’s General Fund had revenues over expenditures totaling $1,838,377 before other financing sources 
and uses (transfers in and transfers out) of $1,395,988.  Thus, the Township’s fund balance increased by $442,389 
for the year ended March 31, 2022.  Transfers out were made to the Road Improvement Fund and Future 
Development Parks, Paths and Recreation Fund to finance expansions and improvements. Transfers in were made 
from the Reimbursable Road Project Fund for SAD interest due to the General Fund and contingent funds from 
special assessment districts.  In addition, a transfer was made from the newly created ARPA fund for grant revenues 
reimbursing approved expenditures previously paid from the General Fund.  
 

The Township had three (3) major governmental funds besides the General Fund which were the Reimbursable 
Projects Fund, Road Improvement Fund and Utilities/DPW fund.  
 

The Township’s two major business-type funds, Oak Pointe and Lake Edgewood, each had operating losses slightly 
higher than the prior year due to wet weather conditions reducing usage and subsequent user charges and sizable 
repairs and maintenance costs due to aging infrastructure.   
 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 

The General Fund adopted its budget prior to the fiscal period in accordance with Public Act 493 of 2000.  Total 
budgeted appropriations exceeded actual expenditures by $46,686.  Expenditures are budgeted by line item, in 
which several line items exceeded the budgeted appropriations by immaterial amounts.  The budget was amended 
during the year to account for economic reality. 
 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 

The governmental activities of the Township acquired $1,031,098 of new capital assets.  The capital asset additions 
included the completion of Phase 7 sidewalks at a total cost of $436,053, of which $75,976 was paid in the current 
year.  The new basketball courts were completed with current year additions of $32,404 for a total project cost of 
$120,712.  Other additions included a new furnace for the Township hall, pavilion and walkway around the 
Township hall.  The Township began two additional construction in progress projects, the Board Room projection 
screen and a new Broadband expansion project. The projection screen project has an estimated total cost of 
$62,198, of which $52,883 has been paid during the year ended March 31, 2022.  The Broadband expansion project 
has an estimated cost of $750,000, of which $525,000 has been paid during the prior fiscal year.  This project is 
funded from ARPA Grant revenues.  Both projects are expected to be completed in the upcoming fiscal year.  
 
The Township disposed of soccer equipment with an original value of $6,192 and net book value of $0, with no 
proceeds from disposal.   
 
The Township’s business-type activities acquired new fixed assets for the water and sewer systems in the amount of 
$482,127, of which $52,500 was contributed by developers. 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2022, the governmental activities repaid $45,000 of outstanding debt, which paid the 
debt in full.  The business-type activities recorded a prior period adjustment for a prior year bond refunding.  The 
adjustment resulted in $720,000 in noncallable bonds outstanding on the original bond issue and $4,535,000 in 
refunding bonds.  $230,000 of principal was paid on the original bond issue and $75,000 of principal was paid on the 
refunding bond leaving outstanding balances of $490,000 and $4,460,000, respectively as of March 31, 2022. 
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Economic Conditions and Future Activities 
 

The Grand River Corridor tax base continues to benefit the Township in comparison to surrounding municipalities 
while taxable values continue to increase 2 to 3% annually.  The adjustment in state shared revenues because of the 
population increase also benefitted the Township for the year ending March 31, 2022.  The Township incurred 
additional personal property tax reimbursement from the State of Michigan, which exceeded expectations.  
Estimates of future year reimbursements are not currently available as the reimbursements are dependent upon 
State of Michigan sales and use tax collections. The Michigan Legislature is also considering changes to the personal 
property tax reimbursement process that could greatly impact these revenues.  
 
The building and development activity in the Township continues to moderately increase.  Water and sewer rates 
have increased over the past few years to keep-up with aging systems (repairs and maintenance).  Management 
understands that rates will need to be adjusted over the next few years to keep the aging infrastructure in the 
various districts in good condition. 
 
Management is reviewing the financial impact to the Township in relation to the Covid-19 pandemic.  The impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic has actually been positive over the past year.  The Township recognized a 21% increase in 
state shared revenue and 3% increase in tax revenue.  In addition, the Township received Federal funding under the 
ARPA grant program in the amount of $1,087,155.  Of this amount, $525,000 was spent on Broadband expansion 
and $203,924 was spent on recycling under the refuse department.  The remaining amount of $358,231 is listed as 
unearned revenues under liabilities. 
 
Contacting the Township’s Financial Management 
 

This report is designed to provide a general overview of the Township’s financial position and comply with finance-
related regulations.  If you have any further questions about this report or request additional information please 
contact the Genoa Charter Township at 2911 Dorr Road, Brighton, MI 48116. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 13,131,151$      1,205,638$        14,336,789$      

Cash and cash equivalents - restricted                         1,280,155           1,280,155           

Receivables

Taxes 74,731                                        74,731                

State shared revenue 611,017                                      611,017              

Accounts                         461,489              461,489              

Intergovernmental receivables 16,830                (16,830)                                       

Special assessments - restricted 566,343              48,625                614,968              

Inventory 59,755                126,065              185,820              

Due from others 101,224              328                      101,552              

Prepaid expenses 57,764                                        57,764                

Capital assets

Non-depreciable 2,155,396           618,864              2,774,260           

Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation 4,036,925           16,487,827        20,524,752        

Advances 748,368              (748,368)                                     

Investment in joint ventures 30,429,538        30,429,538        

Total assets 51,989,042        19,463,793        71,452,835        

DEFERRED OUTFLOW OF RESOURCES

Pension related activities 69,494                69,494                

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 185,698              132,441              318,139              

Accrued expenditures 104,705              104,705              

Accrued interest 39,745                39,745                

Due to others 204,948              12,796 217,744              

Unearned revenues 1,340,599           1,340,599           

Net pension liability 90,201                90,201                

Long-term obligations

Current 37,200                305,000              342,200              

Non-current 248,890              4,645,000           4,893,890           

Bond premium, net of amortization 111,475              111,475              

Total liabilities 2,212,241           5,246,457           7,458,698           

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Pension related activities 46,729                46,729                

Deferred gain on refunding 59,430                59,430                

Total deferred inflow of resources 46,729                59,430                106,159              

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 6,192,321           12,045,216        18,237,537        

Restricted 2,750,512           1,328,780           4,079,292           

Unrestricted 40,856,733        783,910              41,640,643        

Total net position 49,799,566$      14,157,906$      63,957,472$      

Primary Government

 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 

Operating Grants

Charges for and Capital Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental activities

General  government (3,610,906)$              569,091$                  $                     (3,041,815)$         $                      (3,041,815)$         

Refuse col lection (365,929)                   1,046,975                 681,046                                       681,046               

Parks  and recreation (412,479)                                                (412,479)                                      (412,479)              

Publ ic safety (15,873)                     (15,873)                (15,873)                

Publ ic works/roads (3,532,859)                3,099,612                 69,156                (364,091)                                      (364,091)              

Interest on long-term debt (1,875)                                                                           (1,875)                                          (1,875)                  

Total governmental activities (7,939,921)                4,715,678                 69,156                (3,155,087)            (3,155,087)           

Business-type activities

Water and sewer systems (2,369,398)                1,944,525                 52,500                         (372,373)              (372,373)              

Total (10,309,319)$            6,660,203$               121,656$            (3,155,087)           (372,373)              (3,527,460)           

General revenues

Property taxes 1,410,905                                    1,410,905            

Federa l  grants 728,924 728,924               

State grants 2,286,306                                    2,286,306            

Interest income 18,218                 4,725                   22,943                 

Other income (expense) 315,203               238,015               553,218               

Dispos i tion of water and sewer system                         (12,796)                (12,796)                

Change in investment in joint ventures 780,723               780,723                                                               

      Total general revenues 5,540,279            229,944               5,770,223            

          Changes in net position 2,385,192            (142,429)              2,242,763            

Net position, April 1, 2021 47,414,374          14,746,789          62,161,163                                  

Prior period adjustment                         (446,454)              (446,454)              

Net position, March 31, 2022 49,799,566$        14,157,906$        63,957,472$        

Net (Expenses) Revenue and Changes 

 in Net PositionProgram Revenues

 
 
 
 
 

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

BALANCE SHEET 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 

Reimbursable Road

Projects Impovement Utilities/DPW Nonmajor

General Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 3,440,325$     2,827,388$     1,958,146$     1,153,941$     3,751,351$    13,131,151$   

Receivables

Special assessments                      546,562                                19,781            566,343           

Taxes 74,731                                                      74,731             

State shared revenue 611,017                                                    611,017           

Due from other funds 975,544                                50,288             68,005             48,031            1,141,868       

Due from others                      24,732                                  76,061             431                  101,224           

Advance to other funds 748,368          748,368           

Inventory 55,255                                  4,500                59,755             

Prepaid expenditures 30,656                                  27,108             57,764             

Total assets 5,187,528$     3,398,682$     2,008,434$     1,329,615$     4,567,962$    16,492,221$   

Major Funds
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

BALANCE SHEET (continued) 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Reimbursable Road

Projects Impovement Utilities/DPW Nonmajor

General Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 163,285$         61$                   $                   22,352$           $                  185,698$        

Accrued expenditures 47,842                      56,863             104,705           

Accrued compensated absences 13,278                      23,922             37,200             

Unearned revenue 982,368                                358,231 1,340,599       

Due to other funds 55,534             101,860           43,675             923,969                               1,125,038       

Due to others 204,948                                204,948           

Total liabilities 1,467,255        101,921           43,675             1,027,106        358,231          2,998,188       

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 546,562                                19,781            566,343           

FUND BALANCE

Nonspendable                                                                

Prepaid expendiures 30,656             27,108             57,764             

Inventory 55,255             4,500                59,755             

Advances to other funds 748,368          748,368           

Restricted for:                                           

Road improvement 2,750,199        2,750,199       

Debt service                                           313                  313                   

Committed for:

Broadband expansion 247                  247                   

Capital improvement                      2,187,587      2,187,587       

Public safety 3,894              3,894               

Public works 270,901           96,212            367,113           

Recreation 1,118,459      1,118,459       

Road improvement 1,964,759        1,964,759       

Assigned for future budget deficits 669,261           34,870            704,131           

Unassigned 2,965,101                                                 2,965,101       

Total fund balance 3,720,273        2,750,199        1,964,759        302,509           4,189,950      12,927,690     

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of 
resources and fund balance 5,187,528$     3,398,682$     2,008,434$     1,329,615$     4,567,962$    16,492,221$   

Major Funds

 

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO NET POSITION OF 
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Total fund balance per balance sheet 12,927,690$ 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement

of Net Position are different because:

  Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 

    resources and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Historical costs 10,881,778$ 

Depreciation (4,689,457)    

Total 6,192,321      

 Investment in joint ventures are not current financial resources,

   and therefore, are not reported in the fund financial statements. 30,429,538    

 Accrued paid time off is not due in the current period, and 

therefore, is not reported in the fund financial statements. (248,890)        

 Pension related activities are not a consumption of current

   resources and, therefore, are reported as deferred outflow

   of resources in the Statement of Net Position. 22,765            

 Pension liabilities, net of pension plan fiduciary net position

   are not due and payable in the current period and therefore, 

   are not reported in the fund financial statements. (90,201)          

 Unavailable revenues were fully recognized as revenue in the 

    government-wide statements at the time the original assessment 

    was initiated.  Assessments are income as they are assessed

annually for fund accounting. 566,343          

Net position of governmental activities 49,799,566$ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -  
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 

Reimbursable Road Utilities/

Projects Improvement DPW Nonmajor

General Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

REVENUES

Property taxes 1,410,905$   $                      $                            $                                $                               1,410,905$               

Federal Grants 728,924                     728,924                      

State Grants 2,286,306                                     2,286,306                  

Special assessments - principal 402,739                                          9,891                           412,630                      

Special assessments - interest 2,535                                                1,484                           4,019                            

Licenses and permits 487,093                                         16,303                        503,396                      

Charges for services 1,112,670                                     2,855,904                 160,118                     4,128,692                  

Interest 7,037                2,429                 1,474                        3,259                           14,199                         

Miscellaneous 174,353                                                                  49,888                         224,241                      

Total revenues 5,478,364      407,703           1,474                        2,905,792                 919,979                     9,713,312                  

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General government 2,168,279                                        2,168,279                  

Refuse 1,333,059                                     1,333,059                  

Parks and recreation                                163,133 163,133                      

Public safety 15,873                        15,873                         

Public works                         204,016           701,251                  2,764,973                 50,755 3,720,995                  

Debt service:                                     

Principal                         45,000                        45,000                         

Interest and fees 1,875                           1,875                            

Capital outlay: 138,649          892,449                     1,031,098                  

  Total expenditures 3,639,987      204,016           701,251                  2,764,973                 1,169,085                8,479,312                  

  Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 1,838,377      203,687           (699,777)                140,819                      (249,106)                   1,234,000                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 254,012          11,000              900,000                                                     792,000                     1,957,012                  

Transfers (out) (1,650,000)    (50,088)             (11,000)                   (41,000)                       (204,924)                   (1,957,012)                

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,395,988)    (39,088)             889,000                  (41,000)                       587,076                                                         

Net changes in fund balance 442,389          164,599           189,223                  99,819                         337,970                     1,234,000                  

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 3,277,884      2,585,600       1,775,536             202,690                      3,040,012                10,881,722               

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 811,968                     811,968                      

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 3,720,273$   2,750,199$    1,964,759$          302,509$                   4,189,950$             12,927,690$            

Major Funds

 
 
 

 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

1,234,000$ 

  of Activities are different because:

Capital outlay 1,031,098$        

Depreciation expense (510,149)            

Total 520,949       

 Investments in joint ventures used in governmental activities are not

   current financial resources, and therefore are not reported in the

fund financial statements. 780,723       

liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. 45,000

 Changes in accrued sick and vacation time are not a consumption of

current resources, and therefore, are reported only on the

Statement of Net Position. (27,348)        

 Pension related activities are not a consumption of current resources, 

    and therefore, are reported as deferred outflow of resources in 

    the Statement of Net Position.

Change in net pension liability and related deferred

  outflow (inflow) of resources 790                

New assessments and adjustments 243,050              

Principal collected on assessments (411,972)            

Total (168,922)      

2,385,192$ 

governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term

  Principal received on special assessments are income as they are 

    received annually for governmental funds, but they are income

    when they are originally levied for the Statement of Activities.

Change in net position of governmental activities

  Repayment of bond and contracts payable is an expenditure in the

Net change in fund balances - governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement

  Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. 

    However, in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets

    are allocated over their useful lives as depreciation expense.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Nonmajor Fund

Oak Pointe Lake Edgewood Pine Creek

Water and Sewer Water and Sewer Water and Sewer

Systems Fund Systems Fund Systems Fund Total

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 543,470$                649,372$                12,796$                1,205,638$         

Accounts receivable 318,264                   143,225                                                 461,489                

Due from other funds 1,969                         43                                                              2,012                      

Due from other governments 328                             328                           

Inventory 116,365                   9,700                                                       126,065                

Total current assets 980,396                   802,340                   12,796                   1,795,532            

RESTRICTED ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 950,420                   329,735                                                 1,280,155            

Special assessments receivable                                 48,625                                                    48,625                   

Total restricted assets 950,420                   378,360                                                 1,328,780            

CAPITAL ASSETS

Land 358,855                   260,009                                                 618,864                

Water and sewer systems 21,292,675           8,563,064                                            29,855,739         

21,651,530           8,823,073               30,474,603         

Less accumulated depreciation (9,392,790)             (3,975,122)                                           (13,367,912)       

Capital assets, net 12,258,740           4,847,951                                            17,106,691         

Total assets 14,189,556           6,028,651              12,796                   20,231,003         

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 84,664                      47,777                                                    132,441                

Accrued interest 39,745                      39,745                   

Due to others 12,796 12,796                   

Due to other funds 14,998                      3,844                                                       18,842                   

Total current liabilities 139,407                   51,621                      12,796                   203,824                

CURRENT LIABILITIES (FROM RESTRICTED ASSETS)

Bonds payable, current portion 305,000                                                 305,000                

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (FROM NON-RESTRICTED ASSETS)

Bonds payable 4,645,000                                            4,645,000            

Bond premium, net of amortization 111,475                   111,475                

Advance from other funds 748,368                   748,368                

Total long-term liabilities 

(from non-restricted assets) 5,504,843                                                                            5,504,843            

Total liabilities 5,949,250              51,621                      12,796                   6,013,667            

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Deferred gan on refunding 59,430                      59,430                   

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 7,197,265              4,847,951                                            12,045,216         

Restricted 950,420                   378,360                                                 1,328,780            

Unrestricted 33,191                      750,719                                                 783,910                

Total net position 8,180,876$           5,977,030$           $                           14,157,906$      

Major Funds

 
 
 
 

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Nonmajor Fund

Oak Pointe Lake Edgewood Pine Creek

Water and Sewer Water and Sewer Water and Sewer

Systems Fund Systems Fund Systems Fund Total

OPERATING REVENUES

User charges 1,427,909$       516,616$          $                    1,944,525$       

OPERATING EXPENSES 1,615,094         667,537            700                    2,283,331

Operating income (loss) (187,185) (150,921) (700) (338,806)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES 

  AND (EXPENSES)

Connection fees 54,034               12,100               66,134

Interest income - special assessments 1,855                 1,297                 3,152

Interest income - reserves 1,033                 540                    1,573

Interest expense - bonds (86,626)                                                           (86,626)

Other revenue (expense), net 158,670            11,474               2,296                 172,440

Distribution of water and sewer operations (12,796)             (12,796)

Contributed infrastructure 52,500               52,500

Total non-operating revenues 

 and (expenses) 128,966 77,911 (10,500) 196,377

Net income (loss) (58,219) (73,010) (11,200) (142,429)

NET POSITION APRIL 1, 2021 8,672,258 6,063,331 11,200               14,746,789

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (433,163)           (13,291)             (446,454)           

NET POSITION MARCH 31, 2022 8,180,876$       5,977,030$       $                    14,157,906$    

Major Funds

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

55



GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Nonmajor Fund

Oak Pointe Lake Edgewood Pine Creek

Water and Sewer Water and Sewer Water and Sewer

Systems Fund Systems Fund Systems Fund Total

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) 

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 1,399,754$         508,136$             $                           1,907,890$         

Payments to vendors (1,120,607)          (467,118)               (700)                         (1,588,425)          

Net cash from (used in) operating activities 279,147                41,018                   (700)                         319,465                

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) CAPITAL AND

  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Special assessment collections 37,375                   16,208                   53,583                   

Capital asset acquisitions (429,627)               (429,627)               

Interest received from special assessments 1,855                      1,297                      3,152                      

Interest received on reserved accounts 1,033                      540                           1,573                      

Connection fee 12,100                   12,100                   

Repayment of principal on bonds (305,000)               (305,000)               

Interest paid on bonds (94,550)                  (94,550)                  

Other revenue (expense) 214,441                11,474                   2,296                      228,211                

Repayment of notes payable to other funds (63,600)                  (63,600)                  

Repayment of short term loans to (from) other funds (1,089)                     (1,111)                     116                           (2,084)                     

Net cash from (used in) capital and related 

  financing activities (639,162)               40,508                   2,412                      (596,242)               

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

  equivalents (360,015)               81,526                   1,712                      (276,777)               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT APRIL 1, 2021 1,853,905            897,581                11,084                   2,762,570            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  AT MARCH 31, 2022 1,493,890$         979,107$             12,796$                2,485,793$         

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO

  NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income (loss) (187,185)$            (150,921)$            (700)$                      (338,806)$            

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

to net cash from (used in) operating activities

Depreciation expense 510,564 198,139 708,703

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable (28,155) (8,480) (36,635)

Inventory (51,865) 300 (51,565)

Payables, net 35,788 1,980 37,768

Net cash from operating activities 279,147$             41,018$                (700)$                      319,465$             

Major Funds

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 932,685$        

LIABILITIES

Due to others 932,685$        

NET POSITION

Restricted                      

Total Liabilities and net position 932,685$        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.  
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Additions

Taxes collected for other entities 35,421,850$        

Utility charges for other entities 15,717,763          

Total additions 51,139,613          

Deductions

Taxes paid to other entitities 35,421,850          

Utility charges paid to other entities 15,717,763          

Total deductions 51,139,613          

Net change in net position                            

Net Position, Beginning                            

Net Position, Ending $                        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.  
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting and reporting policies of the Township relating to the funds and account groups included in the 
accompanying financial statements conform to generally accepted accounting principles applicable to state and local 
governments.  The more significant accounting policies of the Township are described below. 
 

A.  BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

In accordance with GASB Standards, the basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund financial 
statements. 
 

The government-wide financial statements (Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities) report on the 
Township as a whole, excluding fiduciary activities.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant 
extent on fees and charges for support.  All activities, both governmental and business-type, are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, which includes long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and obligations.  The 
government-wide financial statements focus more on the sustainability of the Township as an entity and the change in 
aggregate financial position resulting from the activities of the fiscal period. 
 

Generally, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from the government-wide financial statements.  Net 
interfund activity and balances between governmental activities and business-type activities are shown in the 
government-wide financial statements.   
 

The government-wide Statement of Net Position reports all financial and capital resources of the Township (excluding 
fiduciary funds).  It is displayed in a format of assets plus deferred outflows of resources, less liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources equals net position, with the assets and liabilities shown in order of their relative liquidity.  Net 
positions are required to be displayed in three components:  1) invested in capital assets, net of related debt, 2) 
restricted, and 3) unrestricted.  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt is capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.  Restricted net positions are those with 
constraints placed on their use by either:  1) externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), 
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations or other governments, or 2) imposed by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation.  All net positions not otherwise classified as restricted, are shown as unrestricted.  
Generally, the Township would first apply restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which 
both restricted and unrestricted net positions are available. 
 

The government-wide Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which both direct and indirect expenses of 
the various functions and programs of the Township are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that 
are clearly identifiable with a specific function or identifiable activity.  Indirect expenses for administrative overhead 
are allocated among the functions and activities using a full cost allocation approach and are presented separately to 
enhance comparability of direct expenses between governments that allocate direct expenses and those that do not.  
Interest on general long-term debt is not allocated to the various functions.  Program revenues include: 1) charges to 
customers or users who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a particular 
function or program and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or program.  Taxes, unrestricted investment income and other revenues not 
identifiable with particular functions or programs are included as general revenues.  The general revenues support the 
net costs of the functions and programs not covered by program revenues. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Also, part of the basic financial statements are the fund financial statements for governmental funds and proprietary 
funds.  The focus of the fund financial statements is on major funds, as defined by GASB standards.  Although this 
reporting model sets forth minimum criteria for determination of major funds (a percentage of assets, liabilities, 
revenues, or expenditures/expenses of fund category and of the governmental and enterprise funds combined), it also 
gives governments the option of displaying other funds as major funds.  Other nonmajor funds, are combined in a 
single column on the fund financial statements. 
 

The Township reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is the Township’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources of the 
general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 

The Utilities/DPW Special Revenue Fund.  It accounts for Township sewer/water utility activities. 
 

The Road Improvement Fund accounts for the Township’s road maintenance activity, in which funds are 
provided by transfers in from the General Fund and used to pay for road improvements and maintenance. 
 

The Reimbursable Projects Fund accounts for the activity of township construction and maintenance projects 
in which the costs are partially or fully reimbursed by the residents benefitting. 
 

The Township reports the following major enterprise funds. 
 

Oak Pointe Water and Sewer System Fund accounts for the activity associated with operating the utility system 
at the Oak Pointe development. 
 

The Lake Edgewood Water and Sewer System Fund accounts for the activities associated with operating the 
utility system at the Lake Edgewood development. 
 

B.  MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
The governmental fund financial statements are prepared on a current financial resources measurement focus and 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  To conform to the modified accrual basis of accounting, certain modifications 
must be made to the accrual method.  These modifications are outlined below: 
 

A. Revenue is recorded when it becomes both measurable and available (received within 60 days after year-end).  
Revenue considered susceptible to accrual includes:  property taxes, sales and use taxes, transient occupancy 
taxes, licenses, fees and permits, intergovernmental revenues, charges for services, fines, forfeits and 
penalties, and interest. 

 

B. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred.  Principal and interest on general long-
term debt are recorded as fund liabilities when due or when amounts have been accumulated in the debt 
service fund for payments to be made early in the following year.  

 
C. Disbursements for the purchase of capital assets providing future benefits are considered expenditures.  Bond 

proceeds are reported as another financing source. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
With this measurement focus, operating statements present increases and decreases in net current assets and 
unreserved fund balance as a measure of available resources. 
 
This is the traditional basis of accounting for governmental funds and also is the manner in which these funds are 
normally budgeted.  This presentation is deemed most appropriate to:  1) demonstrate legal and covenant compliance, 
2) demonstrate the sources and uses of liquid resources, and 3) demonstrate how the Township’s actual revenues and 
expenditures conform to the annual budget.  Since the governmental funds financial statements are presented on a 
different basis than the governmental activities column of the government-wide financial statements, a reconciliation 
is provided immediately following each fund statement.  These reconciliations briefly explain the adjustments 
necessary to transform the fund financial statements into the governmental activities column of the government-wide 
financial statements.   
 
The proprietary funds’ financial statements are prepared on the same basis (economic resources measurement focus 
and accrual basis of accounting) as the government-wide financial statements.  Therefore, most lines for the total 
enterprise funds on the proprietary funds financial statements will directly reconcile to the business-type activities 
column on the government-wide financial statements.  Because the Proprietary Funds are combined into a single 
business-type activities column on the government-wide financial statements, certain interfund activities between 
these funds are eliminated in the consolidation for the government-wide financial statements but are included in the 
fund columns in the proprietary funds financial statements.   
 
Enterprise funds (a type of Proprietary Fund) account for operations where the intent of the Township is that the costs 
of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through 
user charges.  Under GASB Statement No. 34, enterprise funds are also required for any activity whose principal 
revenue sources meet any of the following criteria:  1) any activity that has issued debt backed solely by the fees and 
charges of the activity, 2) if the cost of providing services for any activity, including capital costs such as depreciation or 
debt service, must legally be recovered through fees and charges of the activity, or 3) it is the policy of the Township to 
establish activity fees or charges to recover the cost of providing services, including capital costs. 
 
On the Enterprise Funds’ financial statements, operating revenues are those that flow directly from the operations of 
the activity, i.e. charges to customers or users who purchase or use the goods or services of that activity.  Operating 
expenses are those that are incurred to provide those goods or services.  Non-operating revenues and expenses are 
items such as investment income and interest expense that are not a result of the direct operations of the activity. 
  
Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the Township in a trustee or agency capacity on behalf of others and, 
therefore, are not available to support Township programs.  Fiduciary funds are not included in the government-wide 
financial statements as they are not an asset of the Township available to support Township programs.  The Township 
currently maintains a custodial fund to account for the monies collected and paid on behalf of developer’s escrow 
accounts and a current tax fund that accounts for taxes collected and distributed to other governments. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
C.  CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Under GASB standards, all capital assets, whether owned by governmental activities or business-type activities are 
recorded and depreciated in the government-wide financial statements.  No capital assets or depreciation are shown in 
the governmental funds financial statements. 
 
Capital assets, including public domain infrastructure (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks and other assets that are 
immovable and of value only to the Township) are defined as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 
and an estimated useful life greater than one year.  Capital assets are recorded at cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of 
donation.  Real property is considered capital assets regardless of initial cost. 
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives 
are not capitalized.  Major improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related 
capital assets. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 
  Buildings, structures and improvements   5 to 50 years 
  Utility plant   5 to 50 years 
  Machinery and equipment   2 to 40 years 
  Infrastructure 25 to 50 years 
 
Capital assets transferred between activities are transferred at their net book value (cost less accumulated 
depreciation), as of the date of the transfer. 
 
E.  BUDGETARY DATA 
 
The board of trustees follows the procedures as outlined in the Uniform Budgeting Manual for Local Units of 
Government in Michigan in the establishment of the various annual budgets. 
 
The clerk and treasurer prepare the annual budgets.  The proposed budgets are then submitted for discussion and 
approved by the Township board.  The budgets for the general, special revenue and debt service funds are approved 
by line item.  If and when it becomes necessary to amend certain amounts in the budget, a proposal outlining the 
desired changes is made to and approved by the Township board at any of their regular meetings.  Budget 
appropriations made, but not expended by year end, lapse with the fiscal year end. 
 
F.  CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, demand deposits and short-term investments with a maturity date of 
three months or less when acquired are considered to be cash equivalents. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

G.  PROPERTY TAXES 
 

The Township’s property taxes are levied and become a lien on December 1st based on the taxable valuation of 
property located in the Township as of the preceding December 31st.  These taxes are due on February 14th, with the 
final collection date of February 28th before they are added to the county delinquent tax rolls. 
 

For the year ended March 31, 2022, the Township recognized the property taxes levied December 1, 2021, as revenue. 
 Taxable Value: $ 1,300,439,189 
 Township Millage Rate:              0.7855 
 

H.  INVESTMENTS 
 

Investments are stated at market value. 
 

I. RECEIVABLES 
 

Receivables consist of amounts due from various individuals, governments and businesses related to charges for 
services, amounts owed to the Township from special assessments, grants and taxes levied that have not been 
collected 
 

J.  INVENTORY 
 

Inventory consists primarily of small items and supplies purchased to be held on hand for use in future maintenance 
needs.  Some items of inventory include meters held to be sold to replace meters or install new meters for properties 
connecting to the Township sewer and water systems.   
 

K.  INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS 
 

During the course of normal operations, the Township has numerous transactions between funds, including 
expenditure sand transfers of resources to provide services, construct assets and service debt.  The accompanying 
financial statements generally reflect such transactions as operating transfers.  Transfers between governmental and 
proprietary funds, in any, are netted as part of the reconciliation to the government-wide financial statements. 
 

The General Fund records administrative charges to various funds as revenue.  These funds record payments as 
operating expenditures/expenses. 
 

L.   UNEARNED REVENUE 
 

Unearned revenue consists of grant funds received but not yet earned as well as refuse collection fees received in 
advance of the services to be provided. 
   
M.   COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 

Township employees are granted personal and vacation leave in varying amounts.  Employees who have accrued more 
than 240 hours of personal leave are paid out 50% of hours above 240 hours at calendar year end.  Personal time will 
be paid out at a rate of 50% of accrued hours at time of termination unless termination is due to gross misconduct.  
Employees may accrue up to 180 hours of vacation pay, of which unused pay will be paid out at time of termination, 
except for termination due to gross misconduct or voluntary resignation.   
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
N.   LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 
Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are recognized as a liability in the government-wide financial 
statements and proprietary fund types when incurred.  The portion of those liabilities expected to be paid within the 
next year is a current liability, with the remaining amounts shown as long-term liabilities. 
 
Long-term debt is recognized as a liability of a governmental fund when due or when resources have been 
accumulated for payment early in the following year.  For other long-term obligations, only that portion expected to be 
financed from expandable available financial resources is reported as a fund liability of a governmental fund. 
 
O.   NET PENSION LIABILITY 
 
The net pension liability is deemed to be a noncurrent liability and is recognized on the Township’s government-wide 
financial statements. 
 
P.   FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATIONS 
 
Under GASB standards, fund balance classification comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a 
government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in governmental funds.  
The following are the five fund balance classifications: 
 

• Nonspendable – assets that are not available in a spendable form such as inventory, prepaid expenditures, and 
long term receivables not expected to be converted to cash in the near term.  It also includes funds that are 
legally or contractually required to be maintained intact such as the corpus of a permanent fund or foundation. 

 

• Restricted – amounts that are required by external parties to be used for a specific purpose.  Constraints are 
externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors or laws, regulations or enabling legislation. 

 

• Committed – amounts constrained on use imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of 
decision-making authority (i.e. Board, Council, etc). 

 

• Assigned – amounts intended to be used for specific purposes expressed by the Township Board; or 
Supervisor, Clerk, and Treasurer; who are authorized by policy approved by the Township Board to make 
assignments.  All current year assignments have been made by the Township Board. 
 

• Unassigned – all other resources; the remaining fund balance after non-spendable, restrictions, commitments, 
and assignments.  This class only occurs in the General Fund, except for cases of negative fund balances.  
Negative fund balances are always reported as unassigned, no matter which fund they deficit occurs in. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Q.  DEFERRED OUTFLOW AND DEFERRED INFLOW 
 
Under GASB standards, the Township is reporting in the Statement of Net Position (Government Wide Statements) and 
in the Balance Sheet (Fund Statements) Deferred Outflow of Resources (previously called assets) and Deferred Inflow 
of Resources (previously called liabilities). 
 
These separate financial statement elements which meet the definition of deferred outflow and inflow are no longer 
considered assets or liabilities. 
 
Deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period.  The element 
will not be recognized as an expense and (or) expenditure until the time restriction is met. 
 
Deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period.  The element will 
not be recognized as revenue until the time restriction is met. The Township has one transaction type which consist of 
elements considered a deferred inflow of resources listed on the balance sheets of various funds and the Statement of 
Net Position. 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2022, the Township records deferred outflow and (inflow) of resources on the 
Government Wide Statement of Net Position relating to pension differences from expected investment returns 
compared to actual, changes in experience, differences in actuarial assumptions and contributions made subsequent to 
the Net Pension Liability measurement date for Governmental Activities and deferred (inflow) of resources relating to 
deferred gain on refunding bonds for Business-type Activities, as found in the Statement of Net Position. 

 
Additionally, the Township records special assessment receivables generally collected over a 20-year period as 
deferred inflow of resources.  Since the revenues are unavailable (not collectable within 60 days of the end of the year) 
until a future period they are considered a deferred inflow of resources on the Balance Sheets under Fund Accounting. 
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NOTE 2 - DESCRIPTION OF REPORTING ENTITY 
 
In accordance with GASB standards, all funds, agencies, and activities of the Genoa Charter Township as the primary 
government have been included in the financial statements. 
 
The following potential component units have been evaluated under the criteria established by GASB standards and 
determined not to be component units based on financial independence and accountability. 
 
1. Genoa-Oceola Sewer and Water Authority - Genoa Charter Township appoints two members of the authority's 

five-member board.  The authority is fiscally independent from the Township.  The authority is audited as an 
independent entity in compliance with Public Act 2. 

 
2. Brighton Area District Library - This unit is an interlocal agreement between the Charter Township of Brighton, 

City of Brighton and Genoa Charter Township.  A separate audit is conducted for this unit. 
 
3. Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) - SEMCOG is a regional organization of governments 

located in Livingston, Macomb and Monroe Counties.  A separate audit is conducted for this unit. 
 
4. Marion, Howell, Oceola, Genoa Sewer and Water Authority (MHOG) - Genoa Charter Township appoints two 

members of the Authority’s eight-member board.  The authority is fiscally independent from the Township.  The 
Authority is audited as an independent entity in compliance with Public Act 2. 

 
5. Brighton Area Fire Authority - Genoa Charter Township appoints two members of the Authority’s seven-

member board.  The Authority was incorporated July 1, 2000 and is audited as an independent entity in 
compliance with Public Act 2.  
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NOTE 3 - INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 
 

As of March 31, 2022, the Township has investments in three joint ventures as follows: 
 
Marion, Howell, Oceola, Genoa Joint Sewer and Water Authority 

 
The Township is a member of the Marion, Howell, Oceola, Genoa Joint Sewer and Water Authority (hereinafter 
"MHOG").  As the name implies MHOG was incorporated by the Townships of Marion, Howell, Oceola and Genoa.  
MHOG was formed to operate and maintain a joint water system that serves residents in each member township.  
Genoa Township holds a 25% share of the equity in this joint venture which amounted to $10,906,016 as of March 31, 
2022.  Such amount is recorded in the government-wide statement of net position as total investments in joint 
ventures. 
 
The Township is unaware of any circumstances that would cause additional benefit or burden to the participating 
governments of the joint venture in the foreseeable future.  Complete financial statements of MHOG can be obtained 
from the administrative offices of MHOG at 2911 Dorr Road, Brighton, Michigan.  Selected financial information of 
MHOG as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, (the date financial information was last available) was 
as follows: 

Total assets 46,507,163$  

Total liabilities 2,883,099$    

Total net position 43,624,064$  

Total revenues 4,780,262$    

Total expenses 4,033,308$    
 

Brighton Area Fire Authority 
 
The Township is a member of the Brighton Area Fire Authority (hereinafter "Fire Authority").  The Fire Authority was 
incorporated by the City of Brighton and the Townships of Brighton and Genoa.  The Fire Authority was formed for the 
purpose of providing fire protection and safety services to the residents of its incorporating members.  The Fire 
Authority operations are funded through a voter approved millage.  Genoa Township holds a 33.33% share of the 
equity in this joint venture which amounted to $5,254,272 as of March 31, 2022.  Such amount is recorded in the 
government-wide statement of net position as total investments in joint ventures.   
 
The Township is unaware of any circumstances that would cause additional benefit or burden to the participating 
governments of the joint venture in the foreseeable future.  Complete financial statements for the Fire Authority can 
be obtained from the administrative offices of the Authority at 615 W Grand River Ave, Brighton, Michigan.  Selected 
financial information of the Fire Authority as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, (the date financial 
information was last available) was as follows: 
 

Total assets 16,416,579$  

Total liabilities and deferred inflow of resources 653,764$        

Total net position 15,762,815$  

Total revenues 7,582,753$    

Total expenses 4,748,282$    
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NOTE 3 - INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 
 
Genoa-Oceola Sewer and Water Authority 
 
The Township is a member of the Genoa-Oceola Sewer and Water Authority (hereinafter "G/O S&W").  G/O S&W was 
established by the Livingston County Drain Commission and Townships of Genoa and Oceola.  G/O S&W was formed to 
acquire, own, improve, enlarge, extend, operate, maintain, manage and administer sewage disposal systems, water 
supply systems, or both.  Genoa Township holds a 50% share of the equity in this joint venture which amounted to 
$14,269,250 as of March 31, 2022.  Such amount is recorded in the government-wide statement of net position as total 
investments in joint ventures.   
 
The Township is unaware of any circumstances that would cause additional benefit or burden to the participating 
governments of the joint venture in the foreseeable future.  Complete financial statements for G/O S&W can be 
obtained from the administrative offices of the Authority at 2911 Dorr Road, Brighton, Michigan.  Selected financial 
information of G/O S&W as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, (the date financial information was 
last available) was as follows: 
 

Total assets 30,433,056$  

Total liabilities 1,894,557$    

Total net position 28,538,499$  

Total revenues 2,582,611$    

Total expenses 3,284,289$    
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NOTE 4 - DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS 
 

Michigan Compiled Laws, Section 129.91, authorizes the Township to deposit and invest in the accounts of Federally 
insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations; bonds, securities and other direct obligations of the 
United States, or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; United States government or Federal agency 
obligation repurchase agreements; bankers’ acceptance of United States banks; commercial paper rated by two 
standard rating agencies within the two highest classifications, which mature not more than 270 days after the date of 
purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions which are rated investment grade; and 
mutual funds composed of investment vehicles which are legal for direct investment by local units of government in 
Michigan.  Financial institutions eligible for deposit of public funds must maintain an office in Michigan.   
 

The Township board has designated thirteen banks and one investment pool for the deposit of Township funds.  The 
investment policy adopted by the board is in accordance with Act 196 PA 1997. 
 

As of March 31, 2022, cash and investments consist of the following:

Cash, cash equivalents and investments

  Deposits with financial institutions:

Cash and cash equivalents 16,418,208$   

Cash equivalent  

External investment pool 314,195

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 16,732,403$   

in the following areas:

Statement of Net Position

Cash, cash equivalents and investments 14,336,789

Cash, cash equivalents and investments - restricted 1,280,155

Fiduciary Funds

Cash and cash equivalents 932,685

Total 16,549,629$   

Cash, cash equivalents and investments are presented in the financial statements 

 
 
The difference in the amounts shown above stems from cash on hand of $100 and outstanding items. 
 

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits 
 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Township’s deposits may not be returned to it.  
The Township does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  As of March 31, 2022, the Township had 
$8,826,059 of bank deposits (certificates of deposit, check, and savings accounts) that were FDIC insured;  $5,236,089 
of bank deposits that were uninsured and collateralized and $2,670,255 of bank deposits and cash equivalents that 
were uninsured and uncollateralized.  The Township believes that due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the 
limits of FDIC insurance, it is impractical to insure all deposits.  As a result, the Township evaluates each financial 
institution with which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution.  Only those institutions with an 
acceptable estimated risk level are used as depositories.  The Township's investment policy does not address this risk. 
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NOTE 4 - DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments 
 

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of failure of the counterparty, the Township will not be able to recover 
the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party.  The Township does not 
have a policy for custodial credit risk of investments. 
 

Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  The Township 
has no policy regarding credit risk.  As of March 31, 2022, the Township’s investment pool was exposed to credit risk as 
follows: 

Investment Type Fair Value Rating Rating Agency

Michigan Class Investment Pool 314,195$         AAAm Standard & Poor's
 

 

Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share 
 

The Township holds shares or interest in the Michigan CLASS Investment pool where the fair value of the investments 
is measured on a recuring basis using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the investment companies as a 
practical expedient.   
 

The Michigan CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. Treasury obligations, federal agency obligations of the U.S. 
government, high-grade commercial paper (rated “A1” or better), collateralized bank deposits, repurchase agreements 
(collateralized at 102 percent by treasuries and agencies) and approved money market funds.  The program is designed 
to meet the needs of Michigan public sector investors.  It purchases securities that are legally permissible under state 
statutes and are available for investment by Michigan counties, cities, townships, school districts, authorities, and 
other public agencies.   
 
At the year ended March 31, 222, the fair value, unfunded committments and redemption rules of those investments 
are as follows: 
 

Redemption

Unfunded Frequency, Redemption

Investment Type Fair Value Commitments if Eligible Notice Period

Michigan Class Investment Pool 314,195$                                       No restrictions None
 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a single 
issuer.  The Township’s investment policy requires diversification with a primary focus on safety.  However, the policy 
does not place a fixed percentage limit for any one issuer.  As of March 31, 2022, the Township did not have any 
concentration of credit risk as all amounts were invested in external investment pools and money market type funds. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
The Township is not authorized to invest in investments which have this type of risk. 
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NOTE 4 - DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair values of investments.  
The Township’s investment policy does not limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to losses 
in fair value resulting from a rise in interest rates.  As of March 31, 2022, the weighted average maturity of the 
underlying investments in the external investment pool and money market type funds were less than 60 days.  As a 
result, management does not believe the Township is significantly exposed to interest rate risk. 
 

Weighted

Average Maturity

Investment Type Fair Value (Years)

Michigan Class Investment Pool 314,195$         0.1377
 

 

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital asset activity for the governmental funds for the year ended March 31, 2022, was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

4/1/2021 Additions Deletions Reclassification 3/31/2022

Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 1,577,513$  $                   $                    $                       1,577,513$ 

Construction in progress 453,254      686,263      (561,634)         577,883      

Total capital assets 

  not being depreciated 2,030,767   686,263                         (561,634)         2,155,396   

Capital assets being depreciated

Buildings - Township 2,174,877   2,174,877   

Parks 3,716,902   259,069      (6,192)            561,634           4,531,413   

Equipment/vehicles - DPW 1,354,197   1,354,197   

Equipment - Township 554,818      85,766         640,584      

Vehicles - Township 25,311         25,311         

Total cost of other capital assets 7,826,105   344,835      (6,192)            561,634           8,726,382   

Accumulated depreciation

Buildings - Township (1,008,921)  (58,605)       (1,067,526)  

Parks (1,780,294)  (249,346)     6,192             (2,023,448)  

Equipment/vehicles - DPW (950,544)     (161,913)     (1,112,457)  

Equipment - Township (436,039)     (35,223)       (471,262)     

Vehicles - Township (9,702)          (5,062)          (14,764)       

Total accumulated depreciation

of other capital assets (4,185,500)  (510,149)     6,192                                  (4,689,457)  

Net capital assets being

depreciated 3,640,605   (165,314)                        561,634           4,036,925   

Governmental activities

capital asset, net 5,671,372$ 520,949$    $                     $                       6,192,321$ 
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 
 
Depreciation expense is being recorded in the government-wide statement of activities based upon the activity utilizing 
the assets.  The Township utilizes the straight-line method to depreciate capital assets over their estimated useful lives.  
Depreciation expense was allocated to the following activities: 
 

General Government 98,890$            

Public Works/Roads 161,913            

Parks and recreation 249,346            

Total 510,149$          

 
 

As of March 31, 2022, there was no debt outstanding that was related to the Township’s governmental capital assets. 
 
 
Business-type Activities Summary of Capital Asset Activity 
 

A summary of proprietary fund type property and equipment as of March 31, 2022, is as follows: 
 

Balance Balance

4/1/2021 Additions Deletions Reclassification 3/31/2022

Non-depreciable assets

Land 358,855$         $                  $                  $                  358,855$         

Construction in progress 34,411             183,525           (217,936)                              

Total non-depreciable assets 393,266           183,525                               (217,936)          358,855           

Depreciable assets

Water system 5,370,652        196,102           (63,443)            5,503,311        

Sewer system 15,457,985      50,000             281,379           15,789,364      

Total depreciable assets 20,828,637      246,102                               217,936           21,292,675      

Less 

   Accumulated depreciation (8,882,226)       (510,564)          (9,392,790)       

Total assets 12,339,677$    (80,937)$          $                  $                  12,258,740$    

OAK POINTE WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS

 
 

Balance Balance

4/1/2021 Additions Deletions Reclassification 3/31/2022

Non-depreciable assets

Land 260,009$         $                  $                  $                  260,009$         

Depreciable assets

Sewer system 8,510,564        52,500             8,563,064        

Less 

   Accumulated depreciation (3,776,983)       (198,139)          (3,975,122)       

Total assets 4,993,590$      (145,639)$        $                  $                  4,847,951$      

LAKE EDGEWOOD SEWER SYSTEM

73



GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

Balance Balance

4/1/2021 Additions Deletions Reclassification 3/31/2022

Non-depreciable assets

Land 618,864$         $                  $                  $                  618,864$         

Contruction in progress 34,411             183,525                               (217,936)                              

Total non-depreciable assets 653,275           183,525                               (217,936)          618,864           

Depreciable assets

Water system 5,370,652        196,102                               (63,443)            5,503,311        

Sewer system 23,968,549      102,500                               281,379           24,352,428      

Total depreciable assets 29,339,201      298,602                               217,936           29,855,739      

Less 

   Accumulated depreciation (12,659,209)     (708,703)                                                  (13,367,912)     

Total proprietary capital

assets, net of depreciation 17,333,267$    (226,576)$        $                  $                  17,106,691      

Less: related debt outstanding (5,061,475)       

Net investment in capital assets 12,045,216$    

TOTAL ALL ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 

The following is a summary of the Township's debt categorized for governmental and proprietary funds for the year ended March 31, 2022: 
 

Restated

Balance Balance Current

Governmental Fund Long-Term Debt - General Obligation Bonds 4/1/2021 Additions Deletions 3/31/2022 Portion

Payable to Fi fth Third Bank, specia l  assessment bonds , Series  2001

Dorr Road Water and Sewer Improvement Project; Genoa-Oceola

Sanitary Sewer; dated October 1, 2001, payable in an annual  insta l lment

$45,000 through November 1, 2021, and only includes  the interest 

appl ied to the $45,000 payment. 45,000$            $                   45,000$            $                   

Total  governmental  fund long-term debt 45,000$            $                   45,000$            $                   $                   

Proprietary Funds Long-Term Debt - Revenue Bonds Payable

Payable to US Bank, Oak Pointe Sewer System Project, Series  2014,

Principal  i s  payable in annual  insta l lments  of $240,000 to $250,000

through November 1, 2032, interest i s  charged at 3.0% annual ly. 720,000$          230,000$          490,000$          240,000$          

Payable to US Bank, Oak Pointe Sewer System Project, Series  2020

refunding. Principal  i s  payable in annual  insta l lments  of $65,000 to $380,000

through November 1, 2036, interest i s  charged at 1.3% to 2.05% annual ly. 4,535,000         75,000              4,460,000         65,000              

Unamortized Bond Discounts and Premiums

Bond premium coinciding with the US Bank Revenue Bond Payable for the

Oak Pointe Sewer System project, Series  2020 refunding, wi l l  be amortized

over 16 years  at a  rate of $7,465 annual ly. 183,113            71,638              111,475            7,465                

Total proprietary long-term debt 5,438,113                              376,638            5,061,475         312,465            

Total governmental and proprietary debt 5,483,113$       $                   421,638$          5,061,475$       312,465$          
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
The Charter Township has issued revenue bonds where the income derived from the debt service charges paid by users 
of the Charter Township’s Oak Pointe wastewater system.  In the event that the revenue from the debt service charges 
is not sufficient, the Charter Township intends to use the reserve funds and/or the operation and maintenance funds 
from the Charter Township’s Oak Pointe wastewater system to pay the debt service on the revenue bonds.  
Additionally, the Charter Township has pledged its limited faith and credits as additional security for the payment of 
the principal of, and interest on, the bonds.   
 
Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the construction of various wastewater infrastructure projects.   
 
The following is a schedule of principal and interest payments to service the long-term debt of the Township: 

 
Neither the governmental or proprietary activities had any outstanding contracts payable as of March 31, 2022. 
 
Proprietary activity bonds payable are as follows: 
 

Fiscal Years

Ending Principal Interest Total

3/31/2023 305,000$       80,688$         385,688$       

3/31/2024 320,000 79,388 399,388

3/31/2025 330,000 77,988 407,988

3/31/2026 340,000 71,388 411,388

3/31/2027 345,000 64,588 409,588

3/31/2028 - 2032 1,770,000 223,066 1,993,066

3/31/2033 - 2037 1,540,000 88,800 1,628,800

Total 4,950,000$   685,906$       5,635,906$   

Proprietary

 
As the above schedule shows, the only remaining debt as of March 31, 2022 are bonds payable related to the Oak 
Pointe Water and Sewer System.  Bonds were originally sold in 2014 to finance the cost of connecting the Oak Pointe 
Sewer System to the Genoa-Oceola Sewer Plant and disconnecting from the Oak Pointe Sewer Plant. 
 
In the fiscal year ending March 31, 2021, refunding bonds, Series 2020, were sold to refinance the 2014 bond issue at a 
lower interest rate saving the Oak Pointe residents approximately $500,000 in interest. The proceeds from the 
refunding bond remain in an escrow account held by the bond custodian.  These funds will be used to pay the callable 
portion of the 2014 Series bonds in the amount of $4,255,000 in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2023. 
 
As of March 31, 2022, defeased bonds related to the prior year refunding of the 2014 Revenue Bonds were still 
outstanding in the amount of $4,255,00.  The defeased bond is scheduled to be paid by the escrow agent on November 
1, 2022. 
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
Accrued paid time off 
 
The Township has two forms of accrued paid time off, personal time and vacation time.   
 
All full-time employees are entitled to personal time and vacation time.  Personal time is earned at a rate of 8 hours 
per month.  Employees can accrue up to 240 hours of personal time.  Personal time pay will be paid at a rate of 50% of 
accrued hours upon termination for any reason except gross misconduct.  In addition, on January 1st of each year, the 
Township pays employees 50% of personal time hours in excess of the 240 accrued hour limit with the remaining 50% 
of hours in excess of the limit forfeited. 
 
Vacation hours for full time employees are earned as follows: 
 
 1 to 5 years of service: 2 weeks of pay or 3.08 hours per pay period 
 6 to 10 years of service: 3 weeks of pay or 4.62 hours per pay period 
 11 years and beyond: 4 weeks of pay or 6.15 hours per paid period 
 
Full-time employees can accrue up to 180 hours of vacation pay.  Vacation pay will be paid at 100% of accrued hours 
upon termination for any reason except gross misconduct or voluntary resignation.   
 
Part-time employees are not entitled to personal time pay.  In lieu of vacation pay, part-time employees receive an 
annual stipend on January 1st of each year equal to their prior year average weekly hours worked multiplied by the 
eligible number of weeks earned.  The eligible number of weeks earned for part-time employees is equivalent to the 
schedule above for full-time employees.   
 
A summary of accrued paid time off liability balances are below: 
 

Balance, 

3/31/2021 Additions Deletions

Balance, 

3/31/2022

Current 

Portion

Governmental Activities

General Fund 89,964$      114,710$    89,964$      114,710$    13,278$      

DPW Fund 131,578      171,380      131,578      171,380      23,922         

Total Governmental Activities 221,542$    286,090$    221,542$    286,090$    37,200$      
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NOTE 7 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS 
 

Interfund receivables and payables at March 31, 2022, represent short-term borrowings and amounts owed for reimbursements between other funds.   
 

InterFund InterFund

Fund Receivable Fund Payable Purpose

General Fund 923,969$        Utilities/DPW Fund 923,969$        Compensation for DPW labor

General Fund 51,572 Reimbursable Project Fund 51,572 Admin fees and contigent SAD 

funds payable

General Fund 3 Road Improvement Fund 3 Reimbursement

Road Improvement Fund 50,288 Reimbursable Project Fund 50,288 Reimburse duplicate transfer

ARPA Fund 4,359 General Fund 4,359 Reimburse grant funds received

Genoa-Oceola Sewer New User Fund 40,000 Road Improvement Fund 40,000 Short term loan

Grand River Water New User Fund 3,672 Road Improvement Fund 3,672 Short term loan

Utilities/DPW Fund 50,105 General Fund 50,105 Short term loan

Utilities/DPW Fund 14,998 Oak Pointe Water and Sewer System 14,998 Shared common costs

Utilities/DPW Fund 2,902 Lake Edgewood Sewer System Fund 2,902 Shared common costs

Oak Pointe Water and Sewer System 942 Lake Edgewood Sewer System Fund 942 Repayment of expenses

Oak Pointe Water and Sewer System 1,027 General Fund 1,027 Reimbursement

Lake Edgewood Sewer System Fund 43 General Fund 43 Reimbursement

TOTAL 1,143,880$    TOTAL 1,143,880$    
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NOTE 7 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS (continued) 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended March 31, 2022 were as follows: 
 

Fund Providing Fund Receiving

Resources Resources Purpose Amount
General Fund Road Improvement Fund Reserve funds for road improvements 900,000$       

Road Improvement Fund Reimbursable Road Project Fund Contribution for road project 11,000           

Reimbursable Road Project Fund General Fund Interest collected on special assessments 2,535              

Reimbursable Road Project Fund General Fund Special assessment contingent funds 47,553           

General Fund Future Development Parks, Paths and Reserve funds for recreation projects 750,000

Recreation Fund and improvements

ARPA Fund General Fund Reimbursement for grant related expenditures 203,924

Dorr Road Water and Sewer Debt Service Fund Genoa Oceola Sewer New User Fund Contribution for debt service 1,000              

Util ity/DPW Fund Utility/DPW Reserve Fund Reserve funds for equipment and personnel 41,000

Total 1,957,012$   
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NOTE 8 - ADVANCES TO OTHER FUNDS 
 
The Township Governmental Funds, the Genoa Oceola Sewer New User Fund, advanced funds to the Oak Pointe Sewer 
and Water System Fund in 2016 in the amount of $1,207,468.  The advance, bearing no interest, is to be repaid at an 
annual rate of $63,600.   
 
A summary of the advance to other funds activity is as follows: 
 

Balance Balance Current

Governmental Fund advances to Proprietary Fund 4/1/2021 Additions Deletions 3/31/2022 Portion

GO Sewer New User fund advance to Oak Pointe

Water and Sewer System fund.  Original advance 

of $1,207,468.  Made in fiscal year 2016.  Payable

in annual installments of $63,600. 811,968$ $         63,600$ 748,368$  63,600$ 

 
Repayment of the advance will be payable as follows: 
 

Fiscal Years

Ending Amount

3/31/2023 63,600$        

3/31/2024 63,600           

3/31/2025 63,600           

3/31/2026 63,600           

3/31/2027 63,600           

3/31/2028 - 2032 318,000

3/31/2033 - 2034 112,368

Total 748,368$      
 

 
NOTE 9 - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
Pursuant to the GASB standards, a statement of cash flows is presented.  The purpose of the statement of cash flows is 
to explain the change in cash and cash equivalents during the period.  The direct method was utilized to present cash 
flows from operations.   
 
The following is a summary of beginning and ending cash and cash equivalents: 
 

3/31/2021 3/31/2022

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,192,444$       1,205,638$      

Restricted assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,570,126         1,280,155        

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,762,570$       2,485,793$      2,762,570$        
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NOTE 10 - PENSION - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN  
 

The Township of Genoa has adopted the Principal Financial Group Money Purchase Pension Plan, a defined 
contribution plan with an effective date of July 1, 1991.  The Township is making contributions to the plan on behalf of 
all eligible employees.  Eligible employees are employees who have been employed for one year with a minimum of 
1,000 hours of service.  The Township contributed $236,278 to the plan.   
 

A defined contribution pension plan provides pension benefits in return for services rendered, provides an individual 
account for each participant, and specifies how contributions to the individual's account are to be determined instead 
of specifying the amount of benefits the individual is to receive.  Under a defined contribution pension plan, the 
benefits a participant will receive depend solely on the amount contributed to the participant's account, the returns 
earned on investments of those contributions, and forfeitures of other participants’ benefits that may be allocated to 
such participants account.  Contributions, required solely by the Township, vest fully after four years of service.  An 
employee who leaves the employment of the Township for reasons other than death, total disability or normal 
retirement is entitled to the Township's contributions if vesting requirements are satisfied.  The Township is required 
to contribute an amount equal to 10% of the employee's annual compensation. 
 
NOTE 11 – PENSION - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN 
 
Plan Description 
 

The employer’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries. The employer participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS) of 
Michigan. MERS is an agent multiple employer, statewide public employee pension plan established by the Michigan 
Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine-member Retirement Board. MERS issues a 
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. This report may be 
obtained by accessing the MERS website at www.mersofmich.com and is available to the public. 
 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
For the purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Muncipal 
Employees’ Retirement System (MERS) of Michigan and additions to/deductions from MERS’ fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by MERS.  For this purpose, benefit payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms.  Investments are reported at fair value.  
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NOTE 11 - PENSION - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (continued) 
 

Benefits Provided 
 

The defined benefit plan is comprised of two divisions.  Division 01 is for the Township Manager while Division 10 is 
for the Utilities Director.  
 

Benefits shall be paid as a percentage of the final average compensation upon retirement.  Retirees are eligible for 
benefits at a rate of 1.30% and 2.00% of final average compensation multiplied by each year of service performed, 
with no maximum benefit for Division 01 and Division 10, respectively.  Final average compensation is calculated 
based on the employee's final 5 years wages for all divisions. 
 

Both divisions have a plan vesting period of 10 years, with normal retirement at age 60.  Early retirement is available 
with normal benefits at age 55 with 25 years or service for Division 01.  Early retirement is available with reduced 
benefits at age 50 with 25 years of service or age 55 with 15 years of service for both divisions.  
 
There were no changes in benefit terms during plan year 2021. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms 
 

At the December 31, 2021 valuation date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 

Division 01 Division 10

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits                                               

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits.                                               

Active employees                     1                     1 

1                   1                   
 

 
Contributions 
 

The Township is required to contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as established by 
the MERS Retirement Board.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost 
of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability.  
 

The actuarially determined rates for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2022, were 12.07% of eligible wages for 
Division 01, and 12.26% of eligible wages for Division 10.  The Township does not require employees to contribute to 
the plan. 
 
Net Pension Liability 
 

The Total Pension Liability used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an annual actuarial valuation 
as of December 31, 2021. 
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NOTE 11 - PENSION - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (continued) 
 

Actuarial assumptions 
 

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2021, annual actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

 Inflation: 2.5% 
 Salary Increase: 3.00% in the long term. 
 Investment rate of return: 7.35%, net of investment expense, including inflation.  
 

Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 3.0% long-term wage inflation 
assumption would be consistent with price inflation of 3.00-4.00%. 
 

Mortality rates used were based on a version of Pub-2010 and fully generational MP-2019. 
 

The actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience 
study of 2014 to 2018.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which 
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment, and 
administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real 
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:  
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Expected Real Rate of 

Return

Long-Term 

Expected Real Rate 

of Return

Global Equity 60.00% 4.50% 2.70%

Global Fixed Income 20.00% 2.00% 0.40%

Private Investments 20.00% 7.00% 1.40%

Totals 100.00% 4.50%

Inflation 2.50%

Assumed Investment rate of return 7.00%

Administrative expense netted above 0.25%

Investment rate of return 7.25%
 

 
Discount Rate 
 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 7.25% for 2021. The projection of cash flow used to 
determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will be made at the rates agreed 
upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on these assumptions, the pension 
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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NOTE 11 - PENSION - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (continued) 
 

Changes in Net Pension Liability 
 

Total Pension 

Liability 

(a)

Plan Fiduciary 

Net Position 

(b)

Net Pension 

Liability 

(a)-(b)

Balance at 12/31/2020  $          611,755  $          530,064  $        81,691 

Changes for the year

Service cost 21,556                          21,556 

Interest on total pension liability 47,313                          47,313 

Changes in benefits                           

Difference between expected and actual experience 9,035                              9,035 

Changes in assumptions 36,771                          36,771 

Employer contributions 29,892                       (29,892)

Employee contributions                           

Net investment income 77,158                       (77,158)

Benefit payments, including employee refunds                           

Administrative expense (885)                                    885 

Net changes 114,675            106,165            8,510             

Balance at 12/31/2021 726,430$         636,229$         90,201$        

Increase (Decrease)

 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate 
 

The following presents the Net Pension Liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well 
as what the employer’s Net Pension Liability would be using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.25%) 
or 1% higher (8.25%) than the current rate. 
 

1% Decrease 

6.25%

Current Discount 

Rate

7.25%

1% Increase 

8.25%

Net Pension Liability at 12/31/2021 90,201$            90,201$                  90,201$            

Change in Net Pension Liability (NPL) 

from change in discount rate 104,407            (87,998)             

Calculated NPL 194,608$          90,201$                  2,203$              
 

 
Note: The current discount rate shown for GASB 68 purposes is higher than the MERS assumed rate of return.  This 
is because for GASB purposes, the discount rate must be gross of administrative expenses, whereas for funding 
purposes, it is net of administrative expenses. 
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NOTE 11 - PENSION - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (continued) 
 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflow/Inflow of Resources Related to Pension 
 

For the year ended March 31, 2022, the Township recognized pension expense of $29,555. The Township reported 
deferred outflow and inflow of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 

Outflow of 

Resources

Deferred 

Inflow of 

Resources Total

Differences in experience 513$                $                     513$               

Differences in assumptions 61,945                                61,945           

Excess (Deficit) of Investment Returns (46,729)         (46,729)          

Total deferred outflows (inflows) to be amortized 62,458             (46,729)         15,729           

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date * 7,036                                  7,036              

Total deferred outflows (inflows) 69,494$          (46,729)$       22,765$         
 

 
* The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as an addition in the net pension liability for the year ending March 31, 2023. 
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflow and inflow of resources related to other pension activities will be recognized 
in pension expense as follows:  
 

Year Ended 

March 31, Expense

2023 2,572$          

2024 (6,416)           

2025 (1,827)           

2026 3,641             

2027 8,368             

2028 and thereafter 9,391             

Total 15,729$        
 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The actuarial assumptions were changed during the year as follows: 
 Decrease in investment rate of return from 7.35% to 7.00% 
 Change in discount rate from 7.60% to 7.25% 
 
Changes in benefits 
 
There were no change of benefit terms during plan year 2021. 
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NOTE 12 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

A. Wastewater Treatment System - Lake Edgewood 
 

The Township entered into a Consent Order with the Michigan Department of Environmental Great Lakes & Energy 
(EGLE) to complete an investigation of the sodium and chloride plume leaving the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
(WWTP) and to evaluate remedial measures.   
 
In January 2016, the Township submitted a No Further Action Report to the EGLE which summarized remedial 
actions completed by the Township to reduce the sodium and chloride concentrations in the local aquifer.  The 
EGLE approved the No Further Action Report and termination of the annual groundwater sampling in an April 29, 
2016 correspondence. 
 
In the year ending March 31, 2022, the Township had no expenditures relating to the annual groundwater 
sampling.  The amount of additional costs for April 1, 2022- March 31, 2023 is estimated to be minimal.  At this 
time, the state has requested the Township not to abandon any onsite wells.  Future expenditures associated with 
these sites will include well abandonment.  

 

B. Wastewater Treatment System - Oak Pointe 
 

The Township entered into a Consent Order with the Michigan Department of Environmental Great Lakes & Energy 
(EGLE) to complete an investigation of the sodium and chloride plume leaving the Wastewater Treatment Plant 
(WWTP) and to evaluate remedial measures.  The Consent Order requires a discharge from the plant’s effluent of 
150 mg/l for sodium and 250 mg/l for chlorides.  The plant has not met this limit since 2002.  In January 2015, the 
plant was taken offline, permanently eliminating the source of sodium and chloride at this site. 
 
The EGLE approved Interim Response Activities Designed to Meet Criteria Report (IRDC) in 2005 which requires 
annual groundwater monitoring and corrective action activities to protect drinking water sources.  The Township 
completed a baseline sampling event in 2015 to document site conditions when the source was eliminated.   
 
The 2015 and 2016 sampling events demonstrated decreasing concentrations at the site.  Therefore, in 2017, the 
Township petitioned the EGLE to reduce to biennial sampling of the monitoring wells.  The residential wells are 
sampled annually to protect drinking water sources. 
 
In the year ending March 31, 2022, the Township spent approximately $13,510 to complete groundwater and 
residential sampling events, and to provide and maintain reverse osmosis systems.  The amount of additional costs 
for April 1, 2022 - March 31, 2023 is estimated to be $18,000.  This cost includes annual monitoring and corrective 
action activities. 

86



GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

NOTE 13 - MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, 
actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
NOTE 14 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Township is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The Township maintains commercial insurance coverage 
covering each of those risks of loss.  Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant 
uninsured losses to the Township.  Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three 
fiscal years. 
 
NOTE 15 - STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - RESTRICTED NET POSITION 
 
In the Statement of Net position, the restricted net position consists of the following: 

 

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities

Public Works - water/sewer $                         1,328,780$      

Road improvement 2,750,199

Debt Service 313

Total 2,750,512$      1,328,780$      
 

 
NOTE 16 - TAX ABATEMENT 
 
Per Township records, the Genoa Charter Township has not made any commitments or agreements to abate property 
taxes. The Township is not subject to any tax abatement agreements entered into by other governmental entities. 
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NOTE 17 - PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 

The Township recorded prior period adjustments for the Governmental Genoa Oceola Sewer New User Fund, a 
nonmajor fund, and the proprietary funds Oak Pointe Water and Sewer Systems fund and Lake Edgewood Water and 
Sewer Systems fund during the year ended March 31, 2022. The purpose of the prior period adjustment is to restate 
the beginning fund balance or net position to reflect prior year activity not recorded in the previously issued financial 
statement.   
 

In prior years, the Township recognized an advance to other funds as a long-term receivable with related deferred 
inflow of resources, while repayments were recognized as revenue when received. The Township restated the 
advance, eliminating the deferred inflow of resources and recognizing an adjustment to fund balance of $811,968.   
 

Governmental fund restated fund balance is as follows: 
 

Genoa Oceola

Sewer New User Nonmajor

Fund Funds

Fund balance, as previously stated 838,425$                3,040,012$             

Prior period adjustments

Deferred inflow of resources 811,968                   811,968                   

Fund balance, as restated 1,650,393$             3,851,980$             
 

 
In the prior year ending March 31, 2021, there was a bond refunding (discussed earlier in Note 6, Long Term Debt) in 
the Oak Point Water and Sewer Systems proprietary fund.  Bond proceeds deposited into an escrow account, the 
offsetting bond payable and bond premium liabilities, deferred gain on refunding, and associated bond issuance costs 
were recorded incorrectly, resulting in a net overstatement of net position of $433,163 for the prior year.   
 
The Lake Edgewood Water and Sewer Systems propriety fund recognized a prior period adjustment in the amount of 
($13,291) to reflect current year revenue recorded in the prior period.   
 
A summary of restated net position is as follows: 
 

Oak Pointe Lake Edgewood

Water and Sewer Water and Sewer

Systems Fund Systems Fund

Net position, as previously stated 8,672,258$             6,063,331$             

Prior period adjustments

Bond issuance costs (113,180)                 

Interest expense (286,258)                 

Accrued interest (33,725)                   

Operating revenues (13,291)                   

Total prior period adjustments (433,163)                 (13,291)                   

Net position, as restated 8,239,095$             6,050,040$             
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NOTE 18 - UPCOMING GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
GASB 87 - LEASES  
 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB Standard No. 87, Leases to improve the 
accounting and financial reporting of leases by governments. This standard requires the recognition of leased assets 
and liabilities for leases that were previously classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows and outflows of 
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. This standard will require a lessee to recognize a lease 
liability and right-to-use lease asset and a lessor to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources.  
 
The Township is currently assessing the impact that this Standard will have on the Township’s financial statements, 
which will be required to be implemented for the statements for the year ended March 31, 2023.  

 
GASB 96 – SUBSCRIPTION-BASED INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY ARRANGEMENTS 
 

In May, 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements.  This 
Statement provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology 
arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users (governments).  This statement 1) defines a SBITA; 2) establishes that 
a SBITA results in a right-to-use subscription asset - an intangible asset – and a corresponding subscription liability; 3) 
provides the capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation costs of a 
SBITA; and 4) requires note disclosures regarding a SBITA.  To the extent relevant, the standards for SBITAs are based 
on the standards established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended.    The Township is currently evaluating the 
impact this standard will have on the financial statements when adopted.  The standard is required to be implemented 
for the Township’s statements for the year ended March 31, 2024.   
 
GASB 100 – ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND ERROR CORRECTIONS 
 

In June, 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - an amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 62.  This statement prescribes the accounting and financial reporting for (1) each type of accounting 
change and (2) error corrections.  This statement requires that (a) changes in accounting principles and error 
corrections be reported retroactively by restating prior periods, (b) changes to or within the financial reporting entity 
be reported by adjusting beginning balances of the current period, and (c) changes in accounting estimates be reported 
prospectively by recognizing the change in the current period.  The Township is currently evaluating the impact this 
standard will have on the financial statements when adopted during the 2025 fiscal year.  
 
GASB 101 – COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 

In June, 2022, the GASB Issued Statement No 101, Compensated Absences.  This Statement requires that liabilities for 
compensated absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has been used but not yet 
paid in cash or settled through noncash means.  A liability should be recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) 
the leave is attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than 
not to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means.  This Statement also 
establishes guidance for measuring a liability for leave that has not been used, generally using an employee’s pay rate 
as of the date of the financial statements.  The Township is currently evaluating the impact this standard will have on 
the financial statements when adopted in the 2025 fiscal year. 
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Variance

Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES 5,043,500$    5,412,122$    5,478,364$    66,242$          

EXPENDITURES 4,139,658       3,684,673       3,639,987       44,686             

Excess of revenues over

  expenditures 903,842          1,727,449       1,838,377       110,928          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in                                           254,012          254,012          

Transfers (out) (1,650,000)     (1,650,000)     (1,650,000)                          

Total other financing(uses) (1,650,000)     (1,650,000)     (1,395,988)     254,012          

Net change in fund balance (746,158)         77,449             442,389          364,940          

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 3,277,884       3,277,884       3,277,884        

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 2,531,726$    3,355,333$    3,720,273$    364,940$        

Budgeted Amount
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REIMBURSABLE PROJECTS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Special assessments 334,744$        413,809$        402,739$        (11,070)$          

Special assessment - Interest                                           2,535               2,535                 

Interest 1,500               2,050               2,429               379                    

Total revenues 336,244          415,859          407,703          (8,156)               

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public works

Road, lake, and utility projects

Lake Chemung weed                      77,875             76,500             1,375                 

Pardee Lake weed 28,000             31,862             31,862                                    

Grand Beach weed 10,000             6,420               6,412               8                         

East West Crooked Lake weed 12,000             12,031             12,031                                    

White Pines streetlights 800                   800                   794                   6                         

Edwin Dr road project 69,000             1,825               1,825                                      

Black Oaks road project                      20,000             22,000             (2,000)               

Darlene Drive road project                      50,220             49,442             778                    

Other                      3,050               3,150               (100)                   

Total expenditures             119,800 204,083          204,016          67                       

Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures 216,444          211,776          203,687          (8,089)               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in                                           11,000             11,000              

Transfer (out)                                           (50,088)           (50,088)             

Total other financing (uses)                                           (39,088)           (39,088)             

Net change in fund balance 216,444          211,776          164,599          (47,177)             

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 2,585,600       2,585,600       2,585,600                              

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022  $     2,802,044  $     2,797,376  $     2,750,199  $          (47,177)

Budgeted Amount
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

ROAD IMPROVEMENT FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Interest - banks 1,500$             1,500$             1,474$             (26)$                   

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public works

Road improvement projects 925,000          739,000          701,251          37,749              

Excess revenues (under)

expenditures          (923,500)          (737,500)          (699,777)                 37,723 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 900,000          900,000          900,000                                 

Transfers (out)                                           (11,000)           (11,000)             

Total other financing sources             900,000             900,000             889,000              (11,000)

Net change in fund balance (23,500)           162,500          189,223          26,723              

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 1,775,536       1,775,536       1,775,536                              

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022  $     1,752,036  $     1,938,036  $     1,964,759  $            26,723 

Budgeted Amount
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

UTILITIES/DPW FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES 2,829,180$    2,889,468$    2,905,792$    16,324$          

EXPENDITURES 2,915,600       2,826,095       2,764,973       61,122             

Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures (86,420)           63,373             140,819          77,446             

OTHER FINANCING (USES)

Transfers (out) (41,000)           (41,000)           (41,000)                                

Net change in fund balance (127,420)         22,373             99,819             77,446             

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 202,690          202,690          202,690                               

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 75,270$          225,063$        302,509$        77,446$          

Budgeted Amount

 
 
 
 

94



GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 
Schedule of Employer Contributions  
 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarial determined contributions 29,892$     26,156$     24,465$     24,298$     22,354$     22,061$     19,836$     

Contributions in relation to the actuarial 

  determined contribution 29,892        26,156        24,466        24,298        22,354        22,061        19,836        

Contribution (deficiency) excess $                     $                     1$                  $                     $                     $                     $                     

Covered employee payroll 251,427$  240,881$  234,022$  228,343$  221,282$  222,122$  215,419$  

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 11.89% 10.86% 10.45% 10.64% 10.10% 9.93% 9.21%

For the plan year ended December 31,

 
 

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year 
trend is compiled, only information for those years for which information is available will be presented. 
 

Notes to the Schedule of Employer Contributions (All divisions) 
 

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, open

Remaining amortization period:

Initial unfunded actuarial l iability 23 years, both divisions

Gain/(loss) on investments 12/31/2016-2019 19-22 years, both divisions

Assumptions 12/31/2019 19 years, both divisions

Experience, 12/31/2020-2021 17-18 years, both divisions

Asset valuation method 5 year smoothing

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.00% plus merit & longevity.  3% in the long-term

Investment rate of return 7.00%

Retirement age Normal Age: 60

Early Retirement:

Division 01

-Early retirement with normal benefits at age 55 with 25 years of service.  

-Early retirement with reduced benefits at age 50 with 25 years of service or age 55

with 15 years of service. 

Division 10

-Early retirement with reduced benefits at age 50 with 25 years of service or age 55

with 15 years of service.

Mortality Rates used were based on a version of Pub-2010 and fully generational MP-2019

 
Changes in actuarial assumptions 
 

The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the  most recent actuarial experience study of 
2014-2018.  The actuarial assumptions were changed during the year as follows: 
 Decrease in investment rate of return from 7.35% to 7.00% 
 Change in discount rate from 7.60% to 7.25%
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 

 

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY    

Service cost 21,556$         20,681$         19,846$         19,377$         18,799$         19,422$         17,922$         

Interest 47,313            40,867            35,598            33,177            31,216            26,674            22,556            

Differences in experience 9,035               1,085               (3,422)              889                    (25,787)           10,986            5,769               

Changes of assumptions 36,771            21,735            15,022            13,026            

Other changes -                     1                          1,873               

Net change in total pension liability 114,675         84,369            68,917            53,443            24,228            57,082            59,273            

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - BEGINNING 611,755         527,386         458,469         405,026         380,798         323,716         264,443         

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 726,430$      611,755$      527,386$      458,469$      405,026$      380,798$      323,716$      

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Contributions - employer 29,892$         26,156$         24,466$         24,298$         22,354$         22,061$         19,836$         

Net investment income 77,158            61,945            51,786            (15,273)           41,044            29,531            (3,802)              

Administrative Expenses (885)                  (927)                  (893)                  (725)                  (646)                  (580)                  (533)                  

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 106,165         87,174            75,359            8,300               62,752            51,012            15,501            

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION, BEGINNING 530,064         442,890         367,531         359,231         296,479         245,467         229,966         

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION, ENDING 636,229$      530,064$      442,890$      367,531$      359,231$      296,479$      245,467$      

NET PENSION LIABILITY

  (TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - 

    PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION) 90,201$         81,691$         84,496$         90,938$         45,795$         84,319$         78,249$         

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 

of the total pension liability 87.58% 86.65% 83.98% 80.16% 88.69% 77.86% 75.83%

Covered employee payroll 251,427$      240,881$      234,022$      228,343$      221,282$      222,122$      215,419$      

Net pension liability as a percentage of 

covered employee payroll 35.88% 33.91% 36.11% 39.83% 20.70% 37.96% 36.32%

For the Plan Year Ended December 31,

 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, only information for those 
years for which information is available will be presented. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

ALL FUNDS INCLUDED IN GASB 54 GENERAL FUND CONSOLIDATION 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

General Fund Buildings & Trust and Totals

Pre - GASB 54 Grounds Deposit Trust Agency Restated 

Consolidation Reserve Fund  Fund Eliminations General Fund

ASSETS

Cash and investments 3,086,689$        246,027$           105,553$         2,056$              $               3,440,325$        

Taxes receivable 74,731                74,731                

State shared revenue receivable 611,017                                    611,017              

Inventory 55,255                55,255                

Prepaid expenditures 30,656                30,656                

Due from other funds 977,257                                                            (1,713)          975,544              

Total assets 4,835,605$        246,027$           105,553$         2,056$              (1,713)$        5,187,528$        

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 163,285$           $                      $                   $                   $               163,285$           

Accrued payroll 47,842                47,842                

Accrued compensated absences 13,278                13,278                

Unearned revenues 982,368                                                          982,368              

Due to others 99,052                105,553           343                   204,948              

Due to other funds 55,534                1,713                (1,713)          55,534                

Total liabilities 1,361,359                                  105,553           2,056                (1,713)          1,467,255          

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable

Prepaid expenditures 30,656                30,656                

Inventory 55,255                55,255                

Committed - Buildings and grounds 246,027              246,027              

Unassigned 3,388,335          3,388,335          

Total fund balance 3,474,246          246,027                                                                           3,720,273          

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of

resources and fund balance 4,835,605$        246,027$           105,553$         2,056$              (1,713)$        5,187,528$        
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

ALL FUNDS INCLUDED IN GASB 54 GENERAL FUND CONSOLIDATION 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

FOR THE YEAR ENED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

General Fund -

Pre GASB Buildings & Deposit Totals

54 Grounds Trust General

Consolidation Reserve Fund Eliminations Fund

REVENUES

Property taxes 1,410,905$        $                 $                 $                 1,410,905$     

State grants 2,286,306          2,286,306       

Licenses  and permits 487,093             487,093          

Charges  for services 1,112,670                             1,112,670       

Interest and rents 6,937                 100                                    7,037              

Miscel laneous 174,353                                                   174,353          

Total revenues 5,478,264          100                                                       5,478,364       

EXPENDITURES

Appl ication fees 11,923               11,923            

Capita l  outlay 165,214                                                   165,214          

Dra in at large 14,423               14,423            

Dues 18,507               18,507            

Economic development 22,939                                  22,939            

Insurance 378,875             378,875          

Meetings 7,627                 7,627              

Office suppl ies 62,399               62,399            

Payrol l  taxes 68,086               68,086            

Profess ional  fees 139,585             139,585          

Publ ic uti l i ties 20,033               20,033            

Refunds  and chargebacks 4,919                 4,919              

Refuse 1,333,059          1,333,059       

Repairs  and maintenance 151,126                                                   151,126          

Reti rement/pens ion 116,514             116,514          

Sa laries 1,079,796          1,079,796       

Telephone 28,252               28,252            

Travel 6,722                 6,722              

Community promotion 2,904                 2,904              

Miscel laneous 2,329                 4,755                                 7,084              

Total expenditures 3,635,232          4,755                                                    3,639,987       

Excess of revenues over

 (under)  expenditures 1,843,032          (4,655)                                                   1,838,377       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers  in 254,012             50,000            (50,000)           254,012          

Transfers  (out) (1,700,000)         50,000            (1,650,000)      

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,445,988)         50,000                                                  (1,395,988)      

Net changes in fund balances 397,044             45,345                                                  442,389          

FUND BALANCE, April 1, 2021 3,077,202          200,682                                                3,277,884       

FUND BALANCE, March 31, 2022 3,474,246$        246,027$        $                 $                 3,720,273$      
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
ALL NON MAJOR FUNDS 

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 
Debt Service Fund

Future Dorr Road

Development Water

Liquor Law ARPA Genoa Oceola Grand River Parks, Paths and Utilities/ and Sewer

Enforcement Grant Sewer New User Water New User Recreation DPW Reserve Debt Service 

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 3,894$          354,119$     1,003,459$         1,140,025$         1,153,329$        96,212$        313$                       3,751,351$     

Special assessments receivable                                     19,781                                                                                                                19,781             

Due from others 431                       431                  

Advances to other funds 748,368               748,368          

Due from other funds                   4,359            40,000                 3,672                                                                                         48,031             

Total assets 3,894$          358,478$     1,812,039$         1,143,697$         1,153,329$        96,212$        313$                       4,567,962$     

LIABILITIES

Unearned revenues $               358,231$     $                       $                       $                     $                $                         358,231$        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue                                     19,781                                                                                                                19,781             

FUND BALANCE                      

Nonespendable

Advances to other funds 748,368               748,368          

Restricted

Debt service 313                         313                  

Committed                      

Broadband expansion 247               247                  

Capital improvement 1,043,890           1,143,697           2,187,587       

Public safety 3,894            3,894               

Public works 96,212           96,212             

Recreation 1,118,459          1,118,459       

Assigned for future budget deficits 34,870 34,870             

Total fund balance 3,894            247               1,792,258           1,143,697           1,153,329          96,212           313                         4,189,950       

Total liabilities, deferred inflows

of resources and fund balance 3,894$          358,478$     1,812,039$         1,143,697$         1,153,329$        96,212$        313$                       4,567,962$     

Capital Project FundsSpecial Revenue Fund
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

ALL NONMAJOR FUNDS 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 

Debt Service Fund

Future 

Development Dorr Road

Liquor Law ARPA Genoa Oceola Grand River Parks, Paths Utilities/DPW Water and Sewer

Enforcement Grant Sewer New User New User Fund and Recreation Reserve Debt Service

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Totals

REVENUES

Federal grants $                       728,924$          $                           $                           $                         $                       $                              728,924$              

Special assessments - principal                                                     9,891                                                                                                                                            9,891                       

Special assessments - interest                                                     1,484                                                                                                                                            1,484                       

Charges for services 137,512                 22,606                    160,118                 

Licenses and permits 16,303                                                                                                                                                                                             16,303                    

Interest and rents                           257                       978                           1,294                       661                         68                          1                                    3,259                       

Total revenues 16,303                729,181             149,865                 23,900                    661                         68                          1                                    919,979                 

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety 15,873                                                                                                                                                               15,873                    

Public works                           10                          7,000                       43,745                                                                                                           50,755                    

Recreation 163,133               163,133                 

Capital outlay                           525,000                                                                         367,449                                                                          892,449                 

Debt service

Principal                                                                                                                                                                       45,000                      45,000                    

Interest                                                                                                                                                                       1,875                         1,875                       

Total expenditures 15,873                525,010             7,000                       43,745                    530,582                                         46,875                      1,169,085            

Excess of revenues over

  (under) expenditures 430                       204,171             142,865                 (19,845)                  (529,921)             68                          (46,874)                     (249,106)               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in                                                                                                                 750,000               41,000               1,000                         792,000                 

Transfer (out)                           (203,924)           (1,000)                                                                                                                                          (204,924)               

Total other financing sources (uses)                           (203,924)           (1,000)                                                   750,000               41,000               1,000                         587,076                 

Net changes in fund balances 430                       247                       141,865                 (19,845)                  220,079               41,068               (45,874)                     337,970                 

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 3,464                                             838,425                 1,163,542            933,250               55,144               46,187                      3,040,012            

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 811,968                 811,968                 

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 3,894$                247$                    1,792,258$         1,143,697$         1,153,329$       96,212$            313$                           4,189,950$         

Capital Project FundsSpecial Revenue Funds
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Utility Current

Escrow Fund Tax Fund Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 67,128$           865,557$         932,685$         

LIABILITIES

Due to others 67,128$           865,557$         932,685$         

Net Position

Restricted                                                                   

Total liabilities and net positoin 67,128$           865,557$         932,685$         

Custodial Funds
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED  MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Utility Current

Escrow Fund Tax Fund Total

Additions

Taxes collected for other entities 35,421,850$   $                   35,421,850$   

Utility charges for other entities 15,717,763      15,717,763      

Total additions 35,421,850    15,717,763    51,139,613    

Deductions

Taxes paid to other entitities 35,421,850 35,421,850

Utility charges paid to other entities 15,717,763 15,717,763

Total deductions 35,421,850    15,717,763    51,139,613    

Net change in net position                                                                

Net Position, Beginning                                                                

Net Position, Ending $                   $                   $                   

Custodial Funds
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

GENERAL FUND (PRE GASB 54 RESTATEMENT) 
BALANCE SHEET 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 2,993,878$    

Accounts receivable

Taxes receivable 74,731

State shared revenue receivable 611,017

Due from other funds 977,257

Prepaid expenditures 30,656

Total assets 4,687,539$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 158,435$        

Accrued wages 47,842

Accrued compensated absences 13,278

Due to others 7,011               

Due to other funds 4,359

Unearned revenue 982,368

Total liabilities 1,213,293       

FUND BALANCE

Nonspendable 

Prepaid expenditures 30,656

Unrestricted 3,443,590

Total fund balance 3,474,246

Total liabilities and fund balance 4,687,539$    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This supplementary information shows the General Fund prior to the implementation of GASB 54, and as such does 
not present the results on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles but is presented solely for 
supplemental information. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

GENERAL FUND (PRE GASB 54 RESTATEMENT) 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES 5,411,622$    5,478,264$    66,642$          

EXPENDITURES 3,677,748       3,635,232       42,516             

Excess of revenues over expenditures 1,733,874       1,843,032       109,158          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in                      254,012          254,012          

   Transfers (out) (1,700,000)     (1,700,000)                          

Total other financing (uses) (1,700,000)     (1,445,988)     254,012          

Net changes in fund balance 33,874             397,044          363,170          

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 3,077,202       3,077,202                            

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 3,111,076$    3,474,246$    363,170$        
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This supplementary information shows the General Fund prior to the implementation of GASB 54, and as such does 
not present the results on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles but is presented solely for 
supplemental information. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

GENERAL FUND (PRE GASB 54 RESTATEMENT) 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Property taxes

Property taxes 925,000$        1,018,342$    93,342$          

Tax collection fees 375,000          388,859          13,859             

Trailer fees 3,700               3,704               4                       

Total property taxes 1,303,700       1,410,905       107,205          

State grants

State shared revenues 2,100,000       2,249,471       149,471          

LCSA personal property tax grant 11,296             19,648             8,352               

Metro Act 14,787             14,787                                  

Other state grants 6,759 2,400 (4,359)             

Total state grants 2,132,842       2,286,306       153,464          

Licenses and permits

Cable franchise fees 425,000          408,173          (16,827)           

Application fees 60,000             78,920             18,920             

Total licenses and permits 485,000          487,093          2,093               

Charges for services

Refuse collection fees 1,250,000       1,046,975       (203,025)         

Administration fees  Special assesments                      4,000               4,000               

Administration fees - DPW and Liquor Law 62,300             61,695             (605)                 

Total charges for services 1,312,300       1,112,670       (199,630)         

Interest and rents

Interest - banks 4,900               6,937               2,037               

Other

Land transfer - taxes 150,000          149,103          (897)                 

Miscellaneous 4,029               6,399               2,370               

MMRMA Reimbursement 18,851             18,851                                  

Total other 172,880          174,353          1,473               

Total revenues 5,411,622$    5,478,264$    66,642$          
 

 
This supplementary information shows the General Fund prior to the implementation of GASB 54, and as such does 
not present the results on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles but is presented solely for 
supplemental information. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

GENERAL FUND (PRE GASB 54 RESTATEMENT) 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

EXPENDITURES

Salaries - trustees 35,000$          27,961$          7,039$             

Salary - supervisor 60,455             59,739             716                   

Salaries - professional 395,000          394,133          867                   

Salary - clerk 57,505             57,505                                  

Salary - treasurer 58,655             58,642             13                     

Salaries - other 390,148          315,678          74,470             

Salaries - board of review 1,000               668                   332                   

Professional services - legal 100,000          103,129          (3,129)             

Professional services - auditor 22,605             25,855             (3,250)             

Professional services - engineers 15,000             10,601             4,399               

Refunds and tax charge backs 2,000               4,919               (2,919)             

Repairs and maintenance - Town hall 142,000          151,126          (9,126)             

Insurance 400,000          378,875          21,125             

Wellness 2,864               2,329               535                   

Utilities 18,700             20,033             (1,333)             

Retirement - pensions 120,000          116,514          3,486               

Payroll taxes 85,000             68,086             16,914             

Office supplies 64,855             62,399             2,456               

Economic development 25,000             22,939             2,061               

Telephone 27,900             28,252             (352)                 

Travel 6,500               6,722               (222)                 

Dues 22,500             18,507             3,993               

Regional meeting fees 8,000               7,627               373                   

Application fees 14,000             11,923             2,077               

Salaries - planning/zoning 66,250             78,857             (12,607)           

Salary - ordinance enforcement 87,000             86,613             387                   

Refuse 1,319,811       1,333,059       (13,248)           

Drain at large 15,000             14,423             577                   

Capital outlay 115,000          165,214          (50,214)           

Community promotion                      2,904               (2,904)             

Total expenditures 3,677,748$    3,635,232$    42,516$          
 

 
This supplementary information shows the General Fund prior to the implementation of GASB 54, and as such does 
not present the results on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles but is presented solely for 
supplemental information. 
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REIMBURSABLE PROJECTS FUND 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

REIMBURSABLE PROJECTS FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 2,827,388$    

Due from county 24,732

Special assessments receivable 546,562

Total assets 3,398,682$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 61$                   

Due to other funds 101,860          

Total liabilities 101,921

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 546,562          

FUND BALANCE

Restricted - road improvement 2,750,199

Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, and fund balance 3,398,682$    
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

REIMBURSABLE PROJECTS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Special assessments 413,809$        402,739$        (11,070)$         

Special assessments - Interest                      2,535               2,535               

Interest - banks 2,050               2,429               379                   

Total revenues 415,859          407,703          (8,156)             

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public works

Road, lake and utility projects

Lake Chemung weed 77,875             76,500             1,375               

Pardee Lake weed 31,862             31,862                                  

Grand Beach weed 6,420               6,412               8                       

East West Crooked Lake weed 12,031             12,031                                  

White Pines streetlights 800                   794                   6                       

Edwin Dr road project 1,825               1,825                                    

Black Oaks road project 20,000             22,000             (2,000)             

Darlene Drive road project 50,220             49,442             778                   

Other 3,050               3,150               (100)                 

Total expenditures 204,083          204,016          67                     

Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures 211,776          203,687          (8,089)             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in                      11,000             11,000             

Transfer (out)                      (50,088)           (50,088)           

Total other financing (uses)                      (39,088)           (39,088)           

Net change in fund balance 211,776          164,599          (47,177)           

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 2,585,600       2,585,600                            

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 2,797,376$    2,750,199$    (47,177)$         
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

ROAD IMPROVEMENT FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,958,146$    

Due from other funds 50,288             

Total assets 2,008,434$    

LIABILITIES

Due to other funds 43,675$          

FUND BALANCE

Committed - road improvements 1,964,759

Total liabilities and fund balance 2,008,434$    
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

ROAD IMPROVEMENT FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 

 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Interest - banks 1,500$             1,474$             (26)$                 

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public works

Road projects

Dust control 63,000             62,471             529                   

Crooked Lake Road paving 70,000             68,380             1,620               

Challis Road repaving 94,000             93,770             230                   

Bauer Road crushed limestone 89,000             88,660             340                   

Bauer Road repaving 200,000          200,000                               

Hubert Road paving 30,000             29,860             140                   

Kellog Road 110,000          106,141          3,859               

Decel Lane park entrance 51,000             50,919             81                     

Miscellaneous 32,000             1,050               30,950             

Total expenditures 739,000          701,251          37,749             

Excess revenues (under) expenditures (737,500)         (699,777)         37,723             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 900,000          900,000                               

Transfers (out)                      (11,000)           (11,000)           

Total other financing sources 900,000          889,000          (11,000)           

Net change in fund balance 162,500          189,223          26,723             

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 1,775,536       1,775,536                            

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 1,938,036$    1,964,759$    26,723$          
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

UTILITIES/DPW FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
MARCH 31, 2022 

 
 

ASSETS

Cash 1,153,941$    

Due from others 76,061             

Due from other funds 68,005             

Inventory 4,500               

Prepaid expenditures 27,108

Total assets 1,329,615$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 22,352$          

Accrued wages 56,863             

Accrued compensated absences 23,922             

Due to other funds 923,969          

Total liabilities 1,027,106       

FUND BALANCE

Nonspendable

Prepaid expenditures 27,108             

Inventory 4,500               

Committed 270,901          

Total fund balance 302,509          

Total liabilities and fund balance 1,329,615$    
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

UTILITIES/DPW FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Administration fees 2,731,787$      2,731,926$      139$                 

Vactor truck fees 65,463              61,295              (4,168)               

Construction fees 45,000              62,683              17,683              

Miscellaneous 47,218              49,888              2,670                

Total revenues 2,889,468        2,905,792        16,324              

EXPENDITURES

Audit and accounting services 10,500              10,500                                    

Vehicle expenses 145,528           155,736           (10,208)            

Administrative expenses 58,195              58,196              (1)                       

Computer and software 16,900              18,236              (1,336)               

Professional development 7,500                7,697                (197)                  

Payroll taxes 121,433           121,891           (458)                  

GIS System 38,331              29,554              8,777                

Insurance 482,638           407,459           75,179              

Legal 209                   209                                         

Credit card fees 17,200              18,295              (1,095)               

Employee recruiting 3,150                440                   2,710                

Office expenses 11,500              11,642              (142)                  

Retirement 152,000           146,087           5,913                

Salaries 1,516,248        1,539,668        (23,420)            

Supplies and tools 8,000                7,723                277                   

Telephone 30,268              29,080              1,188                

Uniforms 16,684              13,575              3,109                

Vactor truck 62,121              61,295              826                   

Reimbursements to util ity districts 127,690           127,690                                 

Total expenditures 2,826,095        2,764,973        61,122              

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 63,373              140,819           77,446              

OTHER FINANCING (USES)

Transfers (out) (41,000)            (41,000)                                  

Net change in fund balance 22,373              99,819              77,446              

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 1, 2021 202,690           202,690                                 

FUND BALANCE, MARCH 31, 2022 225,063$         302,509$         77,446$           
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

OAK POINTE - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 

 

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 543,470$         

Accounts receivable - operations 318,264           

Due from other funds 1,969                

Due from other governments 328                   

Inventory 116,365           

Total current assets 980,396$         

RESTRICTED ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents - future improvements 396,774           

Cash and cash equivalents - debt service 553,646           

Total restricted assets 950,420           

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land 358,855           

Water system 5,503,311        

Sewer system 15,789,364      
21,651,530      

Less accumulated depreciation (9,392,790)       

Net property, plant and equipment 12,258,740      

Total assets 14,189,556$   

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Accounts payable 84,664$           

Accrued interest 39,745              

Due to other funds 14,998              

Total current liabilities 139,407$         

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES (from restricted assets)

Capital improvement bonds - sewer plant conversion 4,950,000        

Bond premium payable, net of amortization 111,475           

Total long-term liabilities (from restricted assets) 5,061,475        

LONG-TERM LIABILITY (from non-restricted assets)

Advance from other funds 748,368           

Total liabilities 5,949,250        

Deferred inflow of resources

Deferred gain on refunding 59,430              

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 7,197,265        

Restricted 950,420           

Unrestricted 33,191              

Total net position 8,180,876        

Total liabilities, defered inflows of resources and equity 14,189,556$   
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

OAK POINTE - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 

 

OPERATING REVENUE

User charges 1,427,909$    

OPERATING EXPENSES

Audit, consulting and legal 21,104             

Capital projects 999                   

Chemicals 15,755             

Depreciation expense 510,564          

Engineering 8,530               

Groundwater exceedance expenses 13,510             

Insurance 9,448               

Labor, equipment and materials 519,120          

Laboratory costs 10,087             

Meters 740                   

Miss Dig 1,029               

Office 1,722               

Repairs and maintenance 267,953          

Sewer treatment - G/O plant 155,286          

Telephone 3,430               

Tools and supplies 7,815               

Utilities 68,002             

Total operating expenses 1,615,094       

Operating income (loss) (187,185)         

NON-OPERATING REVENUES AND (EXPENSES)

Grinder pump reimbursements 29,721             

Connection fees 54,034             

Interest income - special assessments 1,855               

Interest income - reserved accounts 1,033               

Rental income 22,080             

Reimbursements 25,308             

Interest expense - bonds (86,626)           

Agent fees  bonds (1,737)             

Other income 83,298             

Total net non-operating revenue (expense) 128,966          

Net income (loss) (58,219)           

BEGINNING NET POSITION 8,672,258       

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (433,163)         

ENDING NET POSITION 8,180,876$    
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

OAK POINTE - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) 

  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 1,399,754$    

Payments to vendors (1,120,607)     

Net cash from operating activities 279,147$        

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) CAPITAL AND

  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Special assessment collections 37,375             

Interest received from special assessments 1,855               

Interest received from reserved accounts 1,033               

Net other revenue (expense) 214,441          

Capital asset acquisitions (429,627)         

Principal paid on bonds (305,000)         

Interest and fees paid on bonds (94,550)           

Repayment of notes payable to other funds (63,600)           

Repayment of short term loans to (from) other funds (1,089)             

Net cash (used in) capital and related

  financing activities (639,162)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (360,015)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT APRIL 1, 2021 1,853,905

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT MARCH 31, 2022 1,493,890$    

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET

  CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating (loss) (187,185)$      

Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss) to net cash

from (used in) operating activities

Depreciation expense 510,564

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase) in accounts receivable (28,155)

(Increase) in inventory    (51,865)

Increase in accounts payable 35,788

Net cash from operating activities 279,147$        
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

OAK POINTE - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - OPERATIONS FUND ONLY  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 

Water Sewer Total

REVENUES

Billings - operations 357,558$        646,428$        1,003,986$    

Billings - debt service 63,096             360,827          423,923          

Interest income 8                       8                       

Rent income                      22,080             22,080             

Grinder pump income 29,721             29,721             

Income - other 3,477               3,301               6,778               

Inventory adjustment 25,932             25,933             51,865             

Reimbursements 11,645             13,663             25,308             

Total income 461,708          1,101,961       1,563,669        

EXPENSES

Accounting and consulting 5,102               5,828               10,930             

Capital projects 999                   999                   

Chemicals 15,755                                  15,755             

Consent order - ground water sodium                      13,510             13,510             

Engineering 8,530 0 8,530               

Insurance 3,295               6,153               9,448               

Labor, equipment and materials 238,201          280,919          519,120          

Laboratory costs 10,087                                  10,087             

Meters 740                                        740                   

Miss Dig expenses 507                   522                   1,029               

Office expenses 1,476               246                   1,722               

Repairs and maintenance 73,322             216,489          289,811          

Telephone 1,062               2,368               3,430               

Tools and supplies 2,495               5,320               7,815               

Transfer to debt service 359,563 359,563          

Utilities - electric 31,436             31,069             62,505             

Utilities - gas 2,102               3,395               5,497               

Sewer treatment - G/O plant 155,286          155,286          

Repayment of advances 63,600             63,600             

Total expenses 457,710          1,081,667       1,539,377       

Net revenues over (under) expenses 3,998               20,294             24,292             

BEGINNING NET POSITION 73,318             792,144          865,462          

ENDING NET POSITION 77,316$          812,438$        889,754$        
 

This schedule is prepared to present revenues and expenses related to current operations only (excludes tap-in fees and 
depreciation) and as such does not present the results of operations on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles 
but is presented for supplemental information. 
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

LAKE EDGEWOOD - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 649,372$        

Accounts receivable - operations 143,225          

Due from other funds 43                     

Inventory 9,700

Total current assets 802,340$        

RESTRICTED ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents - future improvements 329,735          

Special assessments receivable 48,625             

Total restricted assets 378,360          

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land 260,009          

Sewer system 8,563,064       

8,823,073       

Less accumulated depreciation (3,975,122)     

Net property, plant and equipment 4,847,951       

Total assets 6,028,651$    

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Accounts payable 47,777$          

Due to other funds 3,844               

Total liabilities 51,621$          

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 4,847,951       

Restricted 378,360          

Unrestricted 750,719          

Total net position 5,977,030       

Total liabilities and net position 6,028,651$    
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

LAKE EDGEWOOD - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

OPERATING REVENUE

User charges 516,616$        

OPERATING EXPENSES

Audit, consulting and legal 11,480             

Administration expenses 4,082               

Chemicals 4,146               

Depreciation expense 198,139

Insurance 2,891               

Labor, equipment and materials 145,732          

Laboratory costs 6,910               

Licenses, fees and permits 3,650               

Miss dig 507                   

Office expense 237                   

Repairs and maintenance 62,317             

Sludge disposal 22,639             

Tools and supplies 1,021               

Utilities - electric 40,633             

Utilities - other 6,825               

Utilities - gas 3,569               

Water purchases 152,759          

Total operating expenses 667,537          

Operating (loss) (150,921)         

NON-OPERATING REVENUES

Interest income - special assessments 1,297               

Interest income - reserves 540                   

Connection fees 12,100             

Contributed infrastructure 52,500             

Other income 4,451               

Reimbursement 7,023               

Total net non-operating revenues 77,911             

Net (loss) (73,010)           

BEGINNING NET POSITION 6,063,331

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (13,291)           

ENDING NET POSITION 5,977,030$    
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

LAKE EDGEWOOD - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash from users 508,136$        

Cash paid to vendors (467,118)         

Net cash from operating activities 41,018$          

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) CAPITAL AND

  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Special assessment collections - principal 16,208             

Interest received from special assessments 1,297               

Interest received from reserved accounts 540                   

Connection fees 12,100             

Repayment of loans to (from) other funds (1,111)             

Other income, net of other expenses 11,474             

Net cash from capital and related financing activities 40,508             

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 81,526             

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT APRIL 1, 2021 897,581          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT MARCH 31, 2022 979,107$        

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET

  CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating (loss) (150,921)$      

Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss) to net cash

  from (used in) operating activities

Depreciation expense 198,139

Change in assets and liabilities

(Increase) in accounts receivable (8,480)             

Decrease in inventory 300                   

Increase in accounts payable 1,980               

Net cash from operating activities 41,018$          
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GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
 

LAKE EDGEWOOD - WATER AND SEWER SYSTEMS FUND 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - OPERATIONS FUND ONLY  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 
 
 

Water Sewer Total

REVENUES

Bill ings - operations 152,608$         364,008$         516,616$         

Interest 8 8                        

Miscellaneous 4,360 4,360                

Reimbursements 7,023                7,023                

Total income 152,608           375,399           528,007           

EXPENSES

Auditing, consulting and legal 3,200                6,780                9,980                

Administration - bil l ings/meters 4,082                4,082                

Chemicals 4,146                4,146                

Insurance                       2,891                2,891                

Labor, equipment and materials                       145,732           145,732           

Laboratory costs 6,910                6,910                

Licenses, fees, permits 3,650                3,650                

Miss dig 507 507                   

Office expense 237 237                   

Repairs and maintenance 62,317 62,317              

Sludge disposal                       22,639              22,639              

Tools and supplies 119                   902                   1,021                

Transfers to reserves 10,000              10,000              

Util ities - electric                       40,633              40,633              

Util ities - gas                       3,569                3,569                

Util ities - other 6,825 6,825                

Water purchases 152,759           152,759           
 

Total expenses 160,160           317,738           477,898           

Net revenues over (under) expenses (7,552)               57,661              50,109              

BEGINNING NET POSITION 19,813              694,088           713,901           

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT (13,291)            (13,291)            

ENDING NET POSITION 12,261$           738,458$         750,719$         
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This schedule is prepared to present revenues and expenses related to current operations only (excludes tap-in fees 
and depreciation) and as such does not present the results of operations on the basis of generally accepted 
accounting principles but is presented for supplemental information. 
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Calculations As Of 12/31/2023

 

 

GL Number

 

 

Description

2023 

BOARD 

REVIEW 

Fund: 208 PARKS & REC AUTHORITY

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

208-751-587.001 PK/RC MARION TWP PARTICIPATION 120,000.00      

208-751-587.002 PK/RC GENOA TWP PARTICIPATION 120,000.00      

208-751-587.003 PK/RC OCEOLA TWP PARTICIPATION 120,000.00      

208-751-587.005 PK/RC HOWELL CITY PARTICIPATION 120,000.00      

208-751-587.006 PK/RC HOWELL TWP PARTICIPATION 120,000.00      

208-751-650.106 FACILITY MEMBERSHIPS 85,000.00        

208-751-651.022 OCEOLA BLDG RENTAL FEES 75,000.00        

208-751-651.026 GYMANASIUM RENTALS 30,000.00        

208-751-665.000 INVESTMENT INTEREST 300.00              

208-751-671.002 MISC REVENUES 400.00              

208-751-675.026 GIFT CERTIFICATE 1,000.00          

208-751-675.075 DOG PARK MAINT SERV FEES 5,000.00          

208-751-678.010 SPONSORSHIP FEES 11,000.00        

  Estimated Revenues 807,700.00      

Account Category: Appropriations

208-751-702.001 SAL & WAGES DIRECTOR 70,233.39        

208-751-702.003 SAL & WAGES - BUSINESS MANAGER 46,000.00        

208-751-702.004 SAL & WAGES - OPERATIONS MGR 29,809.68        

208-751-702.024 SAL & WAGES -MARKETING 29,183.60        

208-751-702.030 SAL & WAGES FRONT OFFICE 90,000.00        

208-751-702.034 SAL & WAGE FACILITIES MAINT/COORD 75,000.00        

208-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 26,027.34        

208-751-714.000 EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INSURANCE 18,040.00        

208-751-714.004 ICMA RETIREMENT 20,510.06        

208-751-727.000 OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,500.00          

208-751-730.000 POSTAGE 5,000.00          

208-751-740.000 OPERATING SUPPLIES - GENL 1,500.00          

208-751-740.026 OPERATING SUPPLIES SHIRTS/BADGES 2,500.00          

208-751-751.000 GASOLINE & DIESEL FUEL 3,000.00          

208-751-801.000 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 30,000.00        

208-751-804.000 CONTRACTUAL SERVICES 7,500.00          

208-751-840.000 DUES, SUBSCRIPTIONS & MEMBERSHIPS 3,000.00          

208-751-850.000 COMMUNICATION - TELEPHONES 10,000.00        

208-751-850.008 COMMUNICATION - INTERNET & CABLE 19,000.00        

208-751-860.000 TRAVEL 6,000.00          

208-751-900.000 MARKETING, PRINTING & PUBLISHING 15,000.00        

208-751-910.000 INSURANCE 40,500.00        

208-751-920.000 UTILITIES - ELECTRICITY 6,500.00          

208-751-920.001 UTILITIES - GAS 6,500.00          

HOWELL AREA PARKS AND RECREATION AUTHORITY 2023 BUDGET REPORT
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208-751-920.002 UTILITIES - WAT / SEW 2,000.00          

208-751-920.003 UTILITIES - RUBBISH 900.00              

208-751-920.012 UTILITIES - ELEC/OCEOLA 48,000.00        

208-751-920.013 UTILITIES - GAS/OCEOLA 12,000.00        

208-751-920.014 UTILITIES - WATER/OCEOLA 1,500.00          

208-751-920.015 UTILTIES - RUBBISH/OCEOLA 850.00              

208-751-930.000 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE BENNETT 4,000.00          

208-751-930.006 REPAIR & MAINT - VEHICLES 2,000.00          

208-751-930.014 GROUNDS MAINTENANCE OCEOLA 45,000.00        

208-751-931.000 BLDG R&M BENNETT 8,000.00          

208-751-931.014 BLDG R &M OCEOLA 10,000.00        

208-751-940.000 EQUIPMENT RENTAL 35,000.00        

208-751-940.040 FACILITY RENT 24,000.00        

208-751-956.000 MISCELLANEOUS 1,045.93          

208-751-956.003 BANK CHARGES & FEES 18,000.00        

208-751-957.000 EDUCATION / TRAINING 600.00              

208-751-980.004 EQUIP / COMPUTER HARDWARE 2,500.00          

208-751-980.005 EQUIPMENT/COMPUTER SOFTWARE 30,000.00        

  Appropriations 807,700.00      

Fund 208 - PARKS & REC AUTHORITY:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 807,700.00      

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 807,700.00      

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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GL Number

 

 

Description

2023 

BOARD 

REVIEW 

Fund: 214 YOUTH SPORTS

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

214-751-650.006 GENOA SOCCER FIELD RENTALS 15,000.00        

214-751-650.050 PROGRAM FEES - VOLLEYBALL 11,000.00        

214-751-650.051 PROGRAM FEES - ENRICHMENT 17,000.00        

214-751-650.052 PROGRAM FEES - PICKLEBALL 2,500.00          

214-751-650.053 PROGRAM FEES - SOCCER 100,000.00      

214-751-650.054 PROGRAM FEES - BASKETBALL 30,000.00        

214-751-650.094 PROGRAM FEES - SOFTBALL 2,300.00          

214-751-650.102 DROP IN SPORTS 10,000.00        

214-751-678.095 SPONSORSHIP FEES - YOUTH SPORTS 4,500.00          

  Estimated Revenues 192,300.00      

Account Category: Appropriations

214-751-702.004 SAL & WAGES OPERATION MANAGER 12,423.20        

214-751-702.080 SAL & WAGES YOUTH SPORTS MGR 42,848.00        

214-751-702.083 SAL & WAGES - YOUTH FACILITIES COOR 25,000.00        

214-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 5,190.37          

214-751-714.000 EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INSURANCE 1,000.00          

214-751-714.004 ICMA RETIREMENT 4,284.80          

214-751-740.000 OPERATING SUPPLIES 3,600.00          

214-751-740.080 OPER SUPPLIES/VOLLEYBALL 1,500.00          

214-751-740.081 OPER SUPP/ SOCCER 25,000.00        

214-751-740.083 OPERATING SUPPLIES - PICKLEBALL 2,000.00          

214-751-740.086 OPERATING SUPPLIES - BASKETBALL 5,000.00          

214-751-801.017 BACKGROUND CHECKS 750.00              

214-751-804.008 CONTRACT SERV -  INSTRUCTORS 4,500.00          

214-751-804.009 CONTRACT SERV - OFFCL /COACHES 7,000.00          

214-751-804.010 CONTRACT SERV - FIELD MAINTENANCE 40,000.00        

214-751-840.000 DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 200.00              

214-751-860.000 CONFERENCE /TRANSPORTATION 1,000.00          

214-751-920.002 UTILITIES - WAT / SEW 3,000.00          

214-751-942.001 PORTA JOHN RENTALS 4,000.00          

214-751-957.000 EDUCATION / TRAINING 50.00                

214-751-970.000 CAPITAL OUTLAY EQUIP 3,953.63          

  Appropriations 192,300.00      

Fund 214 - YOUTH SPORTS:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 192,300.00      

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 192,300.00      

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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Description

2023 

BOARD 

REVIEW 

Fund: 216 FESTIVALS

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

216-751-650.003 PROGRAM FEES SPECIAL EVENTS 30,000.00        

216-751-675.101 FUNDRAISING - SPECIAL EVENTS 1,000.00          

216-751-678.039 PROGRAM FEES - MELON FESTIVAL 15,000.00        

216-751-678.040 SPONSORSHIP FEES MELON FESTIVAL 32,000.00        

216-751-678.041 STREET VENDOR FEES MELON 15,000.00        

216-751-678.042 FESTIVAL TENT MELON FEST 18,000.00        

216-751-678.047 SPONSORSHIP FEES  MELON RUN 10,000.00        

216-751-678.048 PROGRAM FEES MELON RUN 17,500.00        

216-751-678.049 FOOD VENDOR FEES MELON 10,000.00        

216-751-678.050 SPONSORSHIP FEES LEGEND 12,000.00        

216-751-678.054 PROGRAM FEES - LEGENDS 2,500.00          

216-751-678.057 SPONSORSHIP FEES HORSEMAN RUN 4,000.00          

216-751-678.058 PROGRAM FEES HORSEMAN RUN 14,000.00        

216-751-678.070 SPONSORSHIP FEES - SPECIAL EVENTS 10,000.00        

  Estimated Revenues 191,000.00      

Account Category: Appropriations

216-751-702.001 SAL & WAGES FESTIVAL DIRECTOR 41,600.00        

216-751-702.004 SAL & WAGES OPERATIONS MANAGER 7,453.92          

216-751-702.103 SALARY & WAGES STAFF 17,400.00        

216-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 5,083.72          

216-751-714.000 EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INSURANCE 1,000.00          

216-751-714.004 ICMA RETIREMENT 4,160.00          

216-751-727.000 OFFICE SUPPLIES 115.00              

216-751-730.000 POSTAGE 100.00              

216-751-740.000 OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,000.00          

216-751-740.035 OPER SUPPLIES - SPECIAL EVENTS 24,500.00        

216-751-740.102 OPER SUPP MELON FESTIVAL 47,800.00        

216-751-740.106 OPER SUPP MELON RUN 5,800.00          

216-751-740.201 OPER SUPP LEGEND OF SLEEPY HOWELL 15,000.00        

216-751-740.203 OPER SUPPLIES HEADLESS HORSEMAN RUN 3,500.00          

216-751-840.000 DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 200.00              

216-751-860.000 CONFERENCE /TRANSPORTATION 1,000.00          

216-751-900.000 PRINTING & PUBLISHING 3,500.00          

216-751-942.001 PORTA JOHN RENTALS 6,000.00          

216-751-957.000 EDUCATION / TRAINING 100.00              

216-751-970.000 CAPITAL OUTLAY EQUIP 3,987.36          

216-751-980.004 EQUIP / COMPUTER HARDWARE 1,700.00          

  Appropriations 191,000.00      

Fund 216 - FESTIVALS:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 191,000.00      

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 191,000.00      

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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Description

2023 

BOARD 

REVIEW 

Fund: 217 PRESCHOOL

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

217-751-651.003 PRESCHOOL CAMP TUITION 4,160.00          

217-751-651.007 PRESCHOOL TUITION 58,560.00        

217-751-675.015 PRESCHOOL FUNDRAISING 1,000.00          

  Estimated Revenues 63,720.00        

Account Category: Appropriations

217-751-702.023 SAL & WAGES PRESCHOOL 54,840.00        

217-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 4,195.26          

217-751-714.000 EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INSURANCE 1,000.00          

217-751-740.028 OPER SUPP/PRESCHOOL 1,500.00          

217-751-801.017 BACKGROUND CHECKS 37.00                

217-751-840.000 DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 75.00                

217-751-860.000 CONFERENCE /TRANSPORTATION 400.00              

217-751-957.000 EDUCATION / TRAINING 150.00              

217-751-980.015 PRESCHOOL EQUIPMENT 1,522.74          

  Appropriations 63,720.00        

Fund 217 - PRESCHOOL:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 63,720.00        

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 63,720.00        

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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2023 

BOARD 

REVIEW 

Fund: 218 SENIOR CENTER

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

218-751-590.000 GRANTS 3,000.00          

218-751-650.030 PROGRAM FEES - ENRICHMENT 8,000.00          

218-751-650.098 PROGRAM FEES - FITNESS 45,000.00        

218-751-650.107 TRAVEL 20,000.00        

218-751-675.009 DONATIONS / PKS & RECS SENIORS 600.00              

218-751-675.013 UNITED WAY SENIORS 5,000.00          

218-751-675.100 FUNDRAISING ENRICHMENT 500.00              

218-751-678.012 MEMBERSHIP FEES 35,000.00        

218-751-678.030 SPONSORFHIP FEES - ENRICHMENT 1,000.00          

  Estimated Revenues 118,100.00      

Account Category: Appropriations

218-751-702.024 SAL & WAGES -MARKETING 5,056.80          

218-751-702.027 SAL & WAGES SENIORS 41,600.00        

218-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 3,569.25          

218-751-714.000 EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INSURANCE 1,000.00          

218-751-714.004 ICMA RETIREMENT 4,160.00          

218-751-727.000 OFFICE SUPPLIES 100.00              

218-751-730.000 POSTAGE 900.00              

218-751-740.032 OPER SUPP/SENIORS 4,500.00          

218-751-740.061 OPER SUPP/FITNESS 10,000.00        

218-751-740.070 OPER SUPP/ TRAVEL 20,000.00        

218-751-804.008 CONTRACT SERV -  INSTRUCTORS 20,000.00        

218-751-840.000 DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 300.00              

218-751-860.000 CONFERENCE /TRANSPORTATION 1,000.00          

218-751-957.000 EDUCATION / TRAINING 500.00              

218-751-967.002 GRANT EXPENSES 3,000.00          

218-751-970.000 CAPITAL OUTLAY EQUIP 2,413.95          

  Appropriations 118,100.00      

Fund 218 - SENIOR CENTER:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 118,100.00      

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 118,100.00      

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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2023 

BOARD 

REVIEW 

Fund: 219 SUMMER DAY CAMP

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

219-751-651.003 SUMMER CAMP 70,000.00        

219-751-651.025 SPECIALTY CAMPS 5,000.00          

219-751-678.030 SPONSORFHIP FEES - ENRICHMENT 5,000.00          

  Estimated Revenues 80,000.00        

Account Category: Appropriations

219-751-702.025 SAL & WAGES SUMMER CAMP MANAGER 4,800.00          

219-751-702.036 SAL & WAGE SUMMER CAMP SUPERVISOR 8,820.00          

219-751-702.037 SAL & WAGES SUMMER CAMP COUNSELOR 44,000.00        

219-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 4,407.93          

219-751-740.003 OPER SUPPLIES/T-SHIRTS 1,500.00          

219-751-740.033 OPER SUPP/SUMMER CAMP 5,000.00          

219-751-740.041 OPERATING SUPPLIES SNACKS 500.00              

219-751-740.042 FIELD TRIPS 10,000.00        

219-751-801.017 BACKGROUND CHECKS 180.00              

219-751-860.000 CONFERENCE /TRANSPORTATION 150.00              

219-751-900.000 MARKETING PRINTING & PUBLISHING 500.00              

219-751-957.000 EDUCATION / TRAINING 142.07              

  Appropriations 80,000.00        

Fund 219 - SUMMER DAY CAMP:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 80,000.00        

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 80,000.00        

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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Fund: 221 TEEN CENTER

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

221-751-649.000 CONCESSION SALES TEEN 3,604.33          

221-751-650.005 PROGRAM FEES TEENS 26,000.00        

221-751-675.010 DONATIONS - TEEN 1,000.00          

221-751-675.012 UNITED WAY - TEENS 20,000.00        

221-751-675.110 FUNDRAISING 18,000.00        

221-751-678.010 SPONSORSHIPS 12,000.00        

221-751-679.100 GRANTS > $1000 40,000.00        

  Estimated Revenues 120,604.33      

Account Category: Appropriations

221-751-702.026 SAL & WAGES TEEN MANAGERS 36,648.00        

221-751-702.035 SAL & WAGES TEEN COORDINATOR 14,700.00        

221-751-702.041 SAL & WAGES - TEEN SUPERVISOR 23,940.00        

221-751-713.000 EMPLOYER SHARE FICA 5,759.53          

221-751-714.000 EMPLOYEE MEDICAL INSURANCE 5,500.00          

221-751-714.004 ICMA RETIREMENT 4,544.80          

221-751-727.000 OFFICE SUPPLIES 300.00              

221-751-740.003 OPER SUPPLIES/T-SHIRTS 300.00              

221-751-740.015 OPER SUPP/CONCESSIONS 1,800.00          

221-751-740.036 OPER SUPPLIES - TEENS 3,300.00          

221-751-840.000 DUES & MEMBERSHIPS 200.00              

221-751-860.000 CONFERENCE /TRANSPORTATION 700.00              

221-751-900.000 PRINTING & PUBLISHING 500.00              

221-751-970.000 CAPITAL OUTLAY EQUIP 2,412.00          

221-751-979.100 GRANTS >$1000 EXP 20,000.00        

  Appropriations 120,604.33      

Fund 221 - TEEN CENTER:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 120,604.33      

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 120,604.33      

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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2023 
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Fund: 223 DOG PARK

Account Category: Estimated Revenues

223-751-675.074 DOG PARK SALES - FOBS 10,550.00        

223-751-678.010 SPONSORSHIP FEES 1,000.00          

  Estimated Revenues 11,550.00        

Account Category: Appropriations

223-751-740.000 OPERATING SUPPLIES 2,200.00          

223-751-801.018 MANAGEMENT SERVICES 5,000.00          

223-751-910.000 INSURANCE 500.00              

223-751-930.000 REPAIR & MAINTENANCE 650.00              

223-751-967.072 DOG PARK GROUNDS MAINTENANCE 2,800.00          

223-751-970.000 CAPITAL OUTLAY EQUIP 400.00              

  Appropriations 11,550.00        

Fund 223 - DOG PARK:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 11,550.00        

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 11,550.00        

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0

Report Totals:

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES - ALL FUNDS 1,584,974.33

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS - ALL FUNDS 1,584,974.33

NET OF REVENUES & APPROPRIATIONS: 0
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MEMORANDUM 
TO:   Honorable Board of Trustees 

FROM: Amy Ruthig, Planning Director 
 
DATE:  October 26, 2022 
  
RE: A&J Cartage – 1247 Fendt Drive, Howell 
 Special Land Use, Site Plan and Impact Assessment 
 
 
Please find attached the project case file for a special land use and site plan review project for 
A&J Cartage located 1247 Fendt Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive. The applicant is proposing to 
construct a 3,750 sq. ft. office building with outdoor storage that is intended for 4-6 semi-trailers. 
The property is Industrial. 
 
 

 

Procedurally, the Planning Commission is to review the special land use, site plan and 
environmental impact assessment, and put forth recommendations to the Township Board 
following a public hearing.  The project was heard before the Planning Commission on March 14, 
2022 and the Commission recommended approval. Based on that recommendation I offer the 
following for your consideration: 

Subject Property 
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SPECIAL USE PERMIT 

Moved by _______________, Supported by _______________ to APPROVE the Special Land Use 
permit for a proposed 3,750 sq. ft. office building with outdoor storage located at 1247 Fendt 
Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive. The use is found to convey a high-quality image and is 
compatible with the Research and Development category of the Master Plan and is also found 
to comply with Section 19.03 of the Zoning Ordinance.   

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Moved by _______________, Supported by _______________ to APPROVE the Environmental 
Impact Assessment dated February 23, 2022 as submitted.  

SITE PLAN 

Moved by _______________, Supported by _______________ to APPROVE the site plan dated 
October 12, 2022 with the following conditions: 

● The applicant shall comply with the conditions of the Planning Commission. 
● The applicant shall comply with the conditions of the Township Engineer’s letter dated 

March 8, 2022 prior to land use permit issuance. The stormwater comments can be 
addressed by the Livingston County Drain Commissioner’s Office as part of the SESC 
review and permit process. 

● The applicant shall comply with the conditions of the Brighton Area Fire Authority Fire 
Marshal’s letter dated March 9, 2022 prior to land use permit issuance. 

● Future parking lot lighting shall comply with the Township Exterior Lighting Standards 
(Section 12.03). 

● In order to connect to the public utilities, all REU fees must be paid at land use permit 
issuance.  
 

If you should have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  

 

Best Regards,  

 

Amy Ruthig 
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● Details on landscape plantings will be provided and approved by Township Staff. 
● A site location plan will be provided. 
● Township Staff will approve if the Township’s standard colors or the recommended ones 

are used for the sign.  
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
OPEN PUBLIC HEARING #2… Consideration of a special use application, environmental 
impact assessment and site plan for a proposed 3,750 sq. ft. office building with outdoor storage 
located at 1247 Fendt Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive. The request is petitioned by Al 
Halliday, A & J Cartage. 

A. Recommendation of Special Use Application 
B. Recommendation of Environmental Impact Assessment (2-23-22) 
C. Recommendation of Site Plan (2-23-22) 

 
Mr. Scott Tousignant from Boss Engineering, Mr. Al Halliday of A&J Cartage, and Karl Vollmar 
of Vollmar and Pucci Architects were present. 
 
Mr. Tousignant provided a summary of the topography and current use of the property and what 
is being proposed. It will be used primarily for truck storage and a small office building. With 
regard to the engineer and planner’s review letters, he does not believe the existing detention 
basin will need to be revised to meet Livingston County Drain Commissioner’s updated 
standards. They would like to waive the planting and berm requirements. They are not needed 
because of the industrial use that is adjacent to their property. They also do not feel they need 
to extend the greenbelt to the south. 
 
Mr. Borden reviewed his letter dated March 8, 2022. He complemented the applicant on the 
improvements they made from the first submittal to the second. 
1. Section 19.03 General Special Land Use Standards: 

a. If the Commission feels the project conveys “a high-quality image,” then it may be 
viewed as compatible with the Research and Development category of the Master Plan. 

b. In order to make favorable findings related to compatibility and impacts, the use 
conditions of Section 8.02.02(b) need to be met to the Commission’s satisfaction. 

c. The applicant must address any comments provided by the Township Engineer or 
Brighton Area Fire Authority regarding public facilities and services. 

2. Section 8.02.02(b) Use Conditions: 
a. The Commission may allow gravel surfacing of the outdoor storage yard, pending a 

recommendation from the Township Engineer. 
b. It is not clear that the height of materials stored outdoors (13.5’) will be fully screened 

along the southerly side lot line. 
3. Site Plan Review: 

a. Building materials and colors are subject to Planning Commission review, and the 
applicant is to present samples for the Commission’s consideration. 

APPROVED
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b. Gravel surfacing for part of the driveway requires Planning Commission approval based 
on input from the Township Engineer. 

c. The Commission may allow existing plantings to remain in lieu of new; however, the site 
is deficient in terms of the required buffer zones along the side lot lines. 

d. There is sufficient area for additional plantings along the southerly lot line. 
e. We suggest the greenbelt plantings be extended to the south (given the removal of a 

curb cut). 
 
Commissioner Rauch questioned the need for the screening along the southerly lot line. Mr. 
Borden stated currently there is no need for the screening due to the current use of the adjacent 
property; however, that could change so the screening may be needed. 
 
Ms. Byrne reviewed her letter dated March 8, 2022: 
1. The Livingston County Drain Commission is in the process of updating their design 

standards. The proposed detention basin is sized correctly per the current standards but 
should be updated to the new standard so that it is in compliance at the time of construction. 
More detail needs to be provided on the proposed detention basin and outlet structures.  

2. The Petitioner is proposing to pave the proposed parking spaces and a portion of the drive. 
Township standards require that the drive and parking be paved with concrete curb and 
gutter. The remaining drive should be paved, but she has no objections to using gravel for 
the truck storage area. 

 
The Fire Marshal’s letter dated March 9 states that all of his previous concerns have been 
addressed. 
 
Commissioner Rauch agrees with allowing gravel to remain for the truck storage area. It was 
noted that the truck storage area cannot exceed past the front of the building. The applicant will 
make a note on the plans. 
 
The call to the public was made at 7:26 pm with no response. 
 
Moved by Commissioner Rauch, seconded by Commissioner McCreary to recommend to the 
Township Board approval of the Special Use Application for a proposed 3,750 sq. ft. office 
building with outdoor storage located at 1247 Fendt Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive being that 
this use is found to convey a high-quality image and is compatible with the Research and 
Development category of the Master Plan. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Moved by Commissioner Rauch, seconded by Commissioner Mortensen, to recommend to the 
Township Board approval of the Environmental Impact Assessment dated February 23, 2022 for 
a proposed 3,750 sq. ft. office building with outdoor storage located at 1247 Fendt Drive, north 
of Grand Oaks Drive.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 

APPROVED
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Moved by Commissioner Rauch, seconded by Commissioner Dhaenens, to recommend to the 
Township Board approval of the Site Plan dated February 23, 2023 for a proposed 3,750 sq. ft. 
office building with outdoor storage located at 1247 Fendt Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive, 
based on the following conditions: 

● No berm is necessary along the south property boundary because the exciting berm and 
vegetation is satisfactory. 

● The building materials are satisfactory. 
● The greenbelt berm and plantings shall be extended to the south due to the elimination 

of the curb cut.  
● Gravel is an allowable surface for the truck storage area and the storage area shall not 

exceed into the front yard past the front building line. 
● The applicant shall comply with the conditions of the Township Engineer’s letter dated 

March 8, 2022. 
● The applicant shall comply with the conditions of the Brighton Area Fire Authority Fire 

Marshal’s letter dated March 9, 2022. 
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
OPEN PUBLIC HEARING #3…Consideration of a special use application, environmental 
impact assessment and site plan for a proposed climate-controlled indoor commercial storage 
business located at 2630 E. Grand River Avenue, south side of Grand River, east of Chilson 
Road. The request is petitioned by Schafer Construction, Inc. 

A. Recommendation of Special Use Application 
B. Recommendation of Environmental Impact Assessment (2-24-22) 
C. Recommendation of Site Plan (2-24-22) 

 
Mr. Dan LeClair of Greentech Engineering and Mr. Matt Vetter of Schafer Construction were 
present. Mr. LeClair provided a review of the project. They are proposing 325 self-storage units. 
They had originally proposed outdoor storage on the eastern side of the building; however, that 
plan has been removed. One of the landscape plans in the packet incorrectly shows that plan, 
so he asked the Commissioners to disregard it.  
 
In response to comments in the planner’s letter, they are proposing to refinish the existing 
building facade. They would like to keep the materials, but change the colors of the block and 
wood and replace the glass. It is currently 76 percent block, 6 percent glass, and 17 percent 
wood with some vertical siding. Mr. Vetter showed proposed colored renderings.  
 
Chairman Grajek questioned if the facade could be changed to appear to be more of different 
storefronts similar to the other portion of this property. 
 
They are proposing some site improvements; specifically, fencing in the parking lot that is to the 
east side of the building, replacing the parking lot light fixtures with LED lights, and building a 
fence around the parking lot to the rear. They are seeking a waiver for the installation of the 
eight-foot wide sidewalk.  They would like to provide a performance guarantee to install the 

APPROVED
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March 8, 2022 
 
Planning Commission 
Genoa Township 
2911 Dorr Road 
Brighton, Michigan 48116 

 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
At the Township’s request, we have reviewed the revised submittal from A&J Cartage for a contractor’s 
yard with outdoor storage on a vacant 2-acre lot within the GenTech Industrial Park (plans dated 2/23/22). 
 
A. Summary 
 
1. Section 19.03 General Special Land Use Standards: 

a. If the Commission feels the project conveys “a high-quality image,” then it may be viewed as 
compatible with the Research and Development category of the Master Plan. 

b. In order to make favorable findings related to compatibility and impacts, the use conditions of 
Section 8.02.02(b) need to be met to the Commission’s satisfaction. 

c. The applicant must address any comments provided by the Township Engineer or Brighton Area 
Fire Authority regarding public facilities and services. 

2. Section 8.02.02(b) Use Conditions: 
a. The Commission may allow gravel surfacing of the outdoor storage yard, pending a 

recommendation from the Township Engineer. 
b. It is not clear that the height of materials stored outdoors (13.5’) will fully screened along the 

southerly side lot line. 
3. Site Plan Review: 

a. Building materials and colors are subject to Planning Commission review, and the applicant is to 
present samples for the Commission’s consideration. 

b. Gravel surfacing for part of the driveway requires Planning Commission approval based on input 
from the Township Engineer. 

c. The Commission may allow existing plantings to remain in lieu of new; however, the site is 
deficient in terms of the required buffer zones along the side lot lines. 

d. There is sufficient area for additional plantings along the southerly lot line. 
e. We suggest the greenbelt plantings be extended to the south (given the removal of a curb cut). 

 

B. Proposal/Process 
 
The applicant proposes development of a 2-acre site as a contractor’s yard with outdoor storage, which is 
a special land use in the IND (Table 8.02).  The Impact Assessment notes that the storage area is intended 
to accommodate 4-6 trailers.   
 
Contractor’s yards with outdoor storage are also subject to the use conditions of Section 8.02.02(b). 
 
Procedurally, the Planning Commission is to review the special land use, site plan, and Environmental 
Impact Assessment, and put forth a recommendation on each to the Township Board following a public 
hearing. 

Attention: Kelly Van Marter, AICP 
Planning Director and Assistant Township Manager 

Subject: A&J Cartage – Special Land Use and Site Plan Review #2 
Location: 1247 Fendt Drive – east side of Fendt Drive, north of Grand Oaks Drive 
Zoning: IND Industrial District 
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Aerial view of site and surroundings (looking east) 

 
C. Special Land Use Review 
 

Section 19.03 of the Zoning Ordinance identifies the review criteria for Special Land Use applications as 
follows: 
 
1. Master Plan.  The Township Master Plan identifies the subject site as Research and Development, 

which is intended to “be developed as a light industrial/R&D/office park.”  This classification also 
states that “high quality building architecture should be utilized to convey a high-quality image.” 
 

Fendt Drive has been developed more as a light industrial park than what would be viewed as an 
R&D/office park, and we view the proposal as similar to the existing development of this area. 
 

The revised plan provides for an improved building and some additional landscaping that will help 
enhance the property and area.  If the Commission feels the project conveys “a high-quality image,” 
then it may be viewed as compatible with the Research and Development category. 
 

2. Compatibility.  Fendt Drive is developed with light industrial uses, some of which have accessory 
outdoor storage. 
 
The use conditions of Section 8.02.02(b) are intended to help ensure compatibility.  Provided these 
conditions are met to the Commission’s satisfaction, the proposal is generally expected to be 
compatible with the surrounding area. 
 

3. Public Facilities and Services.  Given that the majority of Fendt Drive is already developed with 
light industrial uses, we anticipate that necessary public facilities and services are already in place.   
 
However, the applicant must address any comments provided by the Township Engineer and/or 
Brighton Area Fire Authority related to this criterion. 
 

4. Impacts.  Similar to the comment above, the use conditions of Section 8.02.02(b) are intended to 
limit impacts of the proposal upon the site and surrounding properties.   
 

Provided these conditions are met, surrounding properties are not expected to be adversely impacted 
by the proposal. 
 

5. Mitigation.  If further comments/concerns arise as part of the review process, the Township may 
require additional efforts to mitigate potential adverse impacts. 

Subject site 
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D. Use Conditions 
 

Contractor’s yards with outdoor storage are subject to the use conditions of Section 8.02.02(b), as 
follows: 
 

1. Minimum lot area shall be one (1) acre.  

 

The subject site contains 2.02 acres of lot area. 
 

2. Any stockpiles of soils, fertilizer or similar loosely packaged materials shall be sufficiently 

covered or contained to prevent dust or blowing of materials.  

 

Given the nature of the use and the information contained in the revised submittal, we do not believe the 
project includes stockpiles of loosely packaged materials.   
 
If these items are included in the future, they must be covered/contained, per this condition. 
 

3. All outdoor storage areas shall be paved with a permanent, durable and dustless surface and 

shall be graded and drained to dispose stormwater without negatively impact adjacent 

property. The Township Board, following a recommendation of the Planning Commission and 

the Township Engineer, may approve a gravel surface for all or part of the display or storage 

area for low intensity activities, upon a finding that neighboring properties and the 

environment will not be negatively impacted.  

 

The applicant proposes to utilize the existing gravel surfacing for the outdoor storage area.   
 
The Commission may use its discretion to permit such, pending a recommendation from the Township 
Engineer. 
 

4. No outdoor storage shall be permitted in any required yard (setback) of buildings for the 

district in which the outdoor display, sales or storage use is located. Any approved outdoor sales 

or display with a parking lot shall meet the required parking lot setback; provided the Planning 

Commission may require additional landscaping screening or ornamental fencing.  

 

The revised submittal depicts and notes that no items will be stored within a required rear or side yard. 
 

5. The site shall include a building of at least five hundred (500) feet of gross floor area for office 

use in conjunction with the use.  

 

The proposed development includes construction of a 3,750 square foot building. 
 
6. All loading and truck maneuvering shall be accommodated on-site.  

 

Sheet 6 of the revised site plan includes a truck turning template, depicting on-site maneuvering between 
the driveway and outdoor storage area. 
 

7. All outdoor storage area property lines adjacent to a residential district shall provide a buffer 

zone A as described in Section 12.02. A buffer zone B shall be provided on all other sides. The 

Planning Commission may approve a six (6) foot high screen wall or fence, or a four (4) foot 

high landscaped berm as an alternative.  

 

The property is not adjacent to a residential district; therefore, a buffer zone B is required along the rear 
and both sides. 
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As outlined in our site plan review below, new plantings are proposed along the northerly side yard, while 
the remainder of the 3 buffer zones are proposed to remain as-is with established vegetation (though the 
south side entails off-site vegetation as the buffer). 
 
8. The height of all material and equipment stored in an outdoor storage area shall not exceed the 

height of any landscape screening, wall or fence. Boats and recreational vehicles may exceed the 

height of the fence provided that they are setback from the fence a distance equal to their 

height. Storage of materials up to the height of the adjacent building wall may be permitted in 

the rear yard if it is illustrated on the site plan, the rear yard does not abut a residential district 

or face an expressway, and such storage is confined to within twenty (20) feet of the building. 

 
The revised submittal states that the trailers stored outdoors are approximately 13.5 feet tall. 
 
This condition is likely met for the north side (existing berm, evergreen trees, and proposed shrubs) and 
rear (80-foot wide existing wooded area); however, since the screening noted along the south side is on 
the adjacent property, we do not believe this condition is fully met. 
 
E. Site Plan Review 

 
1. Dimensional Requirements.  The project complies with the dimensional requirements of the IND, as 

noted below: 
 

 Min. Lot Req. Minimum Yard Setbacks (feet) Max. Lot 

Coverage (%) 

Max. 

Height 

(feet) 
Area 

(acres) 

Width 

(feet) 

Front 

Yard 

Side 

Yard 

Rear 

Yard 

Parking 

Lot 

IND 1 150 50 25 40 20 front 
10 side/rear 

40% building 
85% impervious 30 

Proposal 2 281 74 99 (N) 
98 (S) 180 74 front 

31 side 
4.2% building 

31% impervious 18.2 

 

2. Building.  Building materials and colors are subject to review and approval by the Planning 
Commission. 
 

In accordance with the standards of Section 12.01, the revised submittal depicts a building 
constructed of split-faced concrete block with horizontal bands of smooth-faced block in an earth-
toned color palette. 
 

The applicant has also indicated that material and color samples will be presented to the Commission 
for their consideration.  
 

3. Pedestrian Circulation.  Per Section 12.05 and the Township’s Pathway Plan, neither a walk nor 
path is required along Fendt Drive. 
 

The site plan does include a 5-foot wide concrete sidewalk between the barrier-free parking space and 
building entrance. 
 

4. Vehicular Circulation.  The site currently contains 2 curb cuts to/from Fendt Drive, though the 
southerly cut will be removed as part of the project.   
 

The area between Fendt Drive and the parking lot will be surfaced with concrete, while the drive in 
front of the building extending to the outdoor storage area will be gravel.   
 

150



Proposed dimensions, parking lot striping, and main driveway surfacing all comply with Ordinance 
standards; however, the gravel drive and storage area are subject to Planning Commission approval, 
based on a recommendation from the Township Engineer. 
 
The applicant must address any additional comments provided by the Township Engineer and/or the 
Brighton Area Fire Authority with respect to vehicular circulation. 

 
5. Parking.  The revised plan provides the 6 spaces required by Ordinance, including 1 barrier-free 

space.  A detail on Sheet 7 depicts double striped spaces, per Ordinance standards. 
 

6. Landscaping.  The revised landscape plan has been reviewed for compliance with the standards of 
Section 12.02, as shown in the following table: 
 

Standard Required Proposed Notes 

Front yard 
greenbelt (project 
area only) 

20’ width 
7 canopy trees 

40’ width 
3 existing deciduous trees 
12 existing evergreen trees 

PC may allow existing 
plantings to serve as 
greenbelt. 

Buffer Zone “B” 
(north) 

20’ width 
11 canopy trees 
11 evergreen trees 
42 shrubs 
6’ wall OR 3’ berm 

25’ width 
16 evergreen trees (existing) 
3-4’ berm (existing) 
32 shrubs (proposed) 

Deficient by canopy tree 
and shrub plantings. 
 

Buffer Zone “B” 
(south) 

20’ width 
11 canopy trees 
11 evergreen trees 
44 shrubs 
6’ wall OR 3’ berm 

25’ width Deficient in terms of 
plantings and wall/berm. 
The new lawn area allows 
for additional plantings. 
Applicant notes that 
adjacent property has a 
landscaped berm. 

Buffer Zone “B” 
(east) 

20’ width 
10 canopy trees 
10 evergreen trees 
37 shrubs 
6’ wall OR 3’ berm 

80’ width 
Existing vegetation 

PC may allow existing 
plantings to serve as 
buffer.  

 
Given the removal of a curb cut, we suggest that the greenbelt plantings be extended to the southerly 
lot line.  This will help to offset at least some of the deficient plantings elsewhere on the site. 
 

7. Exterior Lighting.  Sheet 6 includes fixture details and a photometric plan.  The plan includes 3 wall 
mounted light fixtures that are fully cut off, downward directed LEDs.  Mounting heights, fixture 
types, and light intensities all comply with the requirements of Section 12.03. 
 

8. Waste Receptacle/Enclosure.  The revised submittal states that the minimal waste generated will be 
disposed of off-site by the owner, and that, if necessary, curbside pickup will be utilized. 

 

9. Impact Assessment.  The revised Impact Assessment (dated February 23, 2022) notes that the 
proposed project is not expected to have an adverse impact upon natural features, stormwater, 
surrounding land, public services/utilities, or traffic and pedestrians.   

 
Should you have any questions concerning this matter, please do not hesitate to contact our office. 
 
Respectfully, 
SAFEBUILT 
 
 
  
  

Brian V. Borden, AICP 
Michigan Planning Manager 
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March 8, 2022 
 
Ms. Kelly Van Marter 
Genoa Township 
2911 Dorr Road 
Brighton, MI 48116 
 
Re: A&J Cartage 

Site Plan Review No. 2 

 
Dear Ms. Van Marter: 
 
Tetra Tech conducted a second review of the proposed A&J Cartage site plan last dated February 23, 2022. The 
plans and impact assessment were submitted by Boss Engineering on behalf of A&J Cartage. The site is on a 2-acre 
parcel located on the east side of Fendt Drive. The site includes an existing gravel drive and truck parking area, and 
the Petitioner is proposing a 3,750 square foot building and drive improvements. We offer the following comments: 
 

1. The Livingston County Drain Commission is in the process of updating their design standards. The 
proposed detention basin is sized correctly per the current standards but should be updated to the new 
standard so that it is in compliance at the time of construction. More detail needs to be provided on the 
proposed detention basin and structures.  A draft version of the new standards is attached separately for 
reference.  

2. The Petitioner is proposing to pave the proposed parking spaces and a portion of the drive. Township 
standards require that the drive and parking be paved with concrete curb and gutter. The remaining drive 
should be paved, but we have no objections to using gravel for the truck storage area.  

3. General notes for the water improvements should be provided on the notes page. A note should be included 
to indicate that MHOG Sewer and Water Authority be contacted to coordinate the water service connection.  

4. Note 37 under “Sanitary Sewers” refers to county storm drains, not sanitary sewer. Note 36 should refer to 
the GO Sewer and Water Authority rather than MHOG.  

 
We suggest the Petitioner revise the site plan to address the above comments prior to approval. Please call or email 
if you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Gary J. Markstrom, P.E. Shelby Byrne 
Vice President Project Engineer 
 
Attachment 
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March 9, 2022 
 
 
Kelly VanMarter 
Genoa Township 
2911 Dorr Road 
Brighton, MI  48116 
 
RE: A & J Cartage 
 1247 Fendt Dr.  
 Genoa Twp., MI   
 
Dear Kelly: 
 
The Brighton Area Fire Department has reviewed the above-mentioned site plan.  The 
plans were received for review on March 2, 2022 and the drawings are dated January 6, 
2022 with latest revisions dated February 23, 2022. The project is based on an existing 2.02-
acres parcel currently used for outside storage and the proposed construction of a 3,750 
square foot, Type IIB mixed-use Business and Storage Building and associated access drive.  
The plan review is based on the requirements of the International Fire Code (IFC) 2021 
edition.  
 
All previous comments and revisions have been addressed. 
 
Additional comments will be given during the building plan review process (specific to the 
building plans and occupancy).  The applicant is reminded that the fire authority must 
review the fire protection systems submittals (sprinkler & alarm) prior to permit issuance by 
the Building Department and that the authority will also review the building plans for life 
safety requirements in conjunction with the Building Department. 
 
If you have any questions about the comments on this plan review please contact me at 
810-229-6640. 
 
Cordially, 

 
Rick Boisvert, CFPS 
Fire Marshal 
 
cc:Amy Ruthig amy@genoa.org 
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IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
For  

A & J Cartage 
GENOA TOWNSHIP 

LIVINGSTON COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 

Applicant 
A & J Cartage 
1247 Fendt Rd. 

Howell, Michigan 48843 
 

  Owner: 
 Mr. Al Halliday 
1247 Fendt Rd. 

Howell, MI, 48843 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

 
Jennifer M. Austin, PLA 

Boss Engineering 
3121 E Grand River 

Howell, MI 48843 
 

Revised February 23, 2022 
(January 6, 2022 original submittal)  
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DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 
A. Name(s) and address(es) of person(s) responsible for preparation of the Impact 

Assessment and a brief statement of their qualifications. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Jennifer M. Austin, PLA 
Boss Engineering 
3121 E Grand River 
Howell, MI 48843 
 
Prepared for: 
 
Applicant & Owner:      
Al Halliday       
1247 Fendt Dr.     
Howell, MI 48843       
 
 
 

B. Description of the site, including existing structures, man-made facilities, and natural 
features, all-inclusive to within 10’ of the property boundary.  

 
The subject property is part of Tax ID # 4711-08-201-010 in the NW ¼ of Section 8, Genoa 
Township, Livingston County, MI, and is Unit 10 of the GenTech Industrial Park on Fendt Drive, 
just off Grand Oaks Drive. 
 
The subject site is bordered: 
• North by a parcel occupied by Crash Tool zoned IND, East by a vacant parcel zoned 

NRPUD, West by UPS zoned IND and South by another parcel zoned IND.  
 
Current zoning of the subject site is IND (Industrial) and has two gravel driveway entrances, 
and parking for 4-6 tractor trailers. The parcel is wooded along the east property line and has 
planted berms along the north and west property lines.  A screening berm is located along the 
property line on the adjacent parcel to the south.  See Existing Conditions Sheet 2 for an aerial 
of the parcel with these features noted. 
 
 

C. Impact on natural features: A written description of the environmental characteristics 
of the site prior to development, i.e., topography, soils, vegetative cover, drainage, 
streams, creeks or ponds. 

 
Topography of the parcel is generally flat, soils are classified as loam by the USDA Natural 
Resources Conservation Service map and is depicted on Sheet 2.  The parcel is mostly grass 
with a wooded area along the east property line that is predominantly Boxelder trees, Ash 
trees and understory/brush screening.  Berms have been constructed previously on the north 
and west property lines and are planted with various deciduous and evergreen trees ranging 
in height from 8-20’.  A lower area can be found on the east property line at the edge of the 
woodland. 
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SPECIFIC OVERVIEW 
The soils and natural features throughout the site are specified on the Existing Conditions 
Sheet 2. 
 

D. Impact on storm water management: description of soil erosion control measures 
during construction. 

 
A detention basin and forebay have been designed to manage on-site drainage.  Sheet 
flow from the west side of the building and the concrete and gravel surfaces will be 
directed to the forebay in the front of the site.  The remaining parcel drainage will flow to 
the detention basin on the north site of the site.  Discharge from the basin will outlet to 
the Fendt Drive R.O.W. which then flows north to the 36” storm sewer at the north line of 
Gen Tech Industrial Park and the regional detention basin.  
 

E. Impact on surrounding land use: Description of proposed usage and other man-made 
facilities; how it conforms to existing and potential development patterns. Effects of 
added lighting, noise or air pollution which could negatively impact adjacent 
properties. 

 
This use is compatible with surrounding Industrial uses as only 4-6 trailers will be stored on 
site.  The project proposes the construction of an office building with intermittent indoor 
parking/storage of a tractor trailer and related maintenance material/equipment.  The south 
driveway gravel entrance will be removed and restored as grass.  The north driveway entrance 
is proposed as concrete that continues to the parking area.  No new impacts to the area are 
proposed. 
 
 

F. Impact on public facilities and services: Description of number of residents, 
employees, patrons, and impact on general services, i.e., schools, police, fire. 

 
 
A total of two employees use the site currently and are expected to continue.  The impact on 
existing public facilities and services will have a marginal impact. 
 
Normal police and fire protection services should remain unchanged. 
 

G. Impact on public utilities: description of public utilities serving the project, i.e., water, 
sanitary sewer, and storm drainage system. Expected flows projected in residential 
units. 

 
The office building will need to be connected to public sanitary and MHOG water which both 
run along Fendt Drive at the front of the site.   
 
A total of two employees are planned and impact on existing public facilities and services will 
have a marginal impact. 
 

H. Storage or handling of any hazardous materials: Description of any hazardous 
materials used, stored, or disposed of on-site. 
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Approximately 20 gallons of motor oil for routine maintenance of a tractor trailer will be stored 
in the proposed building, in addition to typical tractor trailer maintenance materials and 
equipment. 
 
No outdoor storage will be located within the required 25-foot side yard setbacks nor any other 
required yard setback. 
 

I. Impact on traffic and pedestrians:  Description of traffic volumes to be generated and 
their effect on the area. 

 
Current traffic volume to the site is minimal with two tractor trailers leaving the site Monday 
through Friday from 6:00-8:00 a.m. and returning to the site between 6:00-7:00 p.m. No 
increase in this traffic volume is planned. 
 
 

J. Special provisions:  Deed restrictions, protective covenants, etc. 
 
None. 

 
K. Description of all sources: 

 
• Genoa Township Zoning Ordinance 
• Natural Resources Soil Conservation Services, USDA 
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SITE DATA:
GENOA TOWNSHIP
PARCEL # 4711-08-201-010
1247 FENDT DR
HOWELL, MI  48843
2.02 AC +/-

ZONING:  INDUSTRIAL
USE:  CONTRACTORS YARD WITH OUTDOOR STORAGE
BUILDING SQUARE FOOTAGE (FOOTPRINT): 3,750 GSF
MIN. LOT AREA REQUIRED FOR ZONING: 1 ACRE
TOTAL EX. LOT AREA: 2.02 AC +/-  (~87,991.00 SQ FT.)
MIN. LOT WIDTH: 150 FT
TOTAL EX. LOT WIDTH: 281.17 FT
MAX. LOT COVERAGE: 40% BLDG, 85% IMPERVIOUS
PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE: 4.2% BLDG, 31% IMPERVIOUS

(IMPERVIOUS=EXISTING AND PROPOSED GRAVEL, 
PROPOSED CONCRETE PARKING AND SIDEWALK AND
PROPOSED BUILDING)

MIN. SETBACKS REQUIRED:
FRONT:  50-FT IF NO PARKING IN FRONT YARD
REAR:  40-FT
SIDES: 25-FT

PROPOSED SETBACKS:
FRONT (WEST):  74 FT
SIDE (NORTH): 99 FT
SIDE (SOUTH): 101 FT
REAR (EAST):  184 FT

PARKING CALCULATION:
LIGHT INDUSTRIAL = 1.5 SPACE PER EACH 1,000 SF OF
GROSS FLOOR AREA

3,750 GSF / 1,000 SF = 3.75 * 1.5 = 5.625 SPACES

SPACES REQUIRED: 6 SPACES
PROVIDED: 6 SPACES INCLUDING 1 ADA SPACE

SITE PLAN NOTES
1. ALL GRAVEL AREAS ADJACENT TO THE NEW CONCRETE DRIVE SHOULD BE

RESTORED AS LAWN WITH TOPSOIL, SEED AND MULCH FOR
STABILIZATION.

2. BUILDING ADDRESS SHALL CONSIST OF A MINIMUM OF 6" HIGH
CHARACTERS OF CONTRASTING COLOR AND BE CLEARLY VISIBLE FROM
THE STREET. THE FINAL SIZE AND LOCATION OF CHARACTERS SHALL BE
VERIFIED WITH THE FIRE MARSHALL PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

3. A KEY BOX/KNOX BOX SHALL BE LOCATED NEAR THE FRONT ENTRY
(FINAL LOCATION TO BE DETERMINED BETWEEN THE OWNER & FIRE
MARSHALL).

4. NOTHING SHALL BE STORED IN FRONT OF THE BUILDING.
5. A MINIMUM VERTICAL CLEARANCE OF 13.5' SHALL BE MAINTAINED

THROUGHOUT THE SITE FOR EMERGENCY VEHICLE ACCESS.
6. ALL DRIVEWAYS AND PARKING LOT AISLES SHALL BE ACCESSIBLE AT ALL

TIMES FOR EMERGENCY VEHICLES - REGULAR SNOW REMOVAL.
7. THE HEIGHT OF SEMI-TRAILERS TO BE STORED OUTDOORS ARE

TYPICALLY 13.5'.
8. SEE LANDSCAPE DETAILS ON SHEET 9.

GENOA TOWNSHIP LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS PER ARTICLE 12:
1. GREENBELT : 20 FT WIDE GREENBELT ALONG PUBLIC STREET ROW INCLUDING (1) CANOPY TREE FOR EVERY FORTY LINEAR

FEET OF FRONTAGE. OR SUBSTITUTE EVERGREEN TREES FOR 50% OF REQUIRED TREES .
REQUIRED: 7 CANOPY TREES (281 LF /40 LF)

PROVIDED: BERM WITH 3 CANOPY TREES AND 12 EVERGREEN TREES -- (3) RED MAPLE, (10) WHITE FIR TREES
AND (2) DOUGLAS FIR.

2. BUFFER: BUFFER ZONE B REQUIRED PER ORDINANCE (3 FOOT HIGH BERM, 20 FT WIDE) ALONG NORTH, EAST AND SOUTH
PROPERTY LINES WITH 1 CANOPY TREE, 1 EVERGREEN AND 4 SHRUBS PER EACH 30 LF

REQUIRED: (NORTH, SOUTH) 309.27 LF - 70' FOR EXISTING WOODLAND = 239.27 LF / 30 = 7.976 TREES
8 CANOPY TREES, 8 EVERGREEN TREES AND 32 SHRUBS

(EAST) 275.52 LF/ 30 = 9.184 TREES

PROVIDED: (NORTH) BERM WITH (16) EXISTING EVERGREENS INCLUDING ARBORVITAE, WHITE PINE, SCOTS PINE
AND NORWAY SPRUCE AND (32) SHRUBS.  AN EXISTING WOODLAND BUFFER SCREENS 70 LF OF
THE EAST END OF THIS PROPERTY LINE.

(SOUTH) AN EXISTING  TALL BERM ON THE ADJACENT PARCEL PROVIDES COMPLETE SCREENING.

(EAST) THE APPROX. 70' DEEP EXISTING WOODLAND (PREDOMINATELY BOXELDER TREES AND 
UNDERSTORY/BRUSH THAT PROVIDES SCREENING) ALONG EAST PROPERTY LINE TO BE 
PRESERVED.

3. PARKING LOT: (N/A)

SEE SHEET 9 FOR DETAILS AND SESC NOTES

E. THIS USE IS COMPATIBLE WITH SURROUNDING INDUSTRIAL USES
AS ONLY 4-6 TRAILERS WILL BE STORED ON SITE.  THE PROJECT
PROPOSES THE CONSTRUCTION OF AN OFFICE BUILDING WITH
INTERMITTENT INDOOR PARKING/STORAGE OF A TRACTOR 
TRAILER AND RELATED MAINTENANCE MATERIAL/EQUIPMENT.
THE SOUTH DRIVEWAY ENTRANCE WILL BE REMOVED AND 
REPLACED BY TOPSOIL AND GRASS SEED.  THE NORTH DRIVEWAY
ENTRANCE IS PROPOSED AS CONCRETE WITH CURB AND GUTTER
TO INCLUDE NEW PARKING SPACES.  NO NEW IMPACTS TO THE
AREA ARE PROPOSED.

F. TWO TOTAL EMPLOYEES ARE PLANNED AND IMPACT ON 
EXISTING PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES WILL HAVE A 
MARGINAL IMPACT.  NORMAL POLICE AND FIRE PROTECTION
SERVICES SHOULD REMAIN UNCHANGED.

G. THE OFFICE BUILDING WILL NEED TO BE CONNECTED TO PUBLIC
SANITARY AND MHOG WATER WHICH BOTH RUN ALONG THE
FRONT OF THE SITE.  TWO TOTAL EMPLOYEES ARE PLANNED
AND IMPACT ON EXISTING PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES
WILL BE MARGINAL.

H. APPROXIMATELY 20 GALLONS OF MOTOR OIL FOR ROUTINE
MAINTENANCE OF A TRACTOR TRAILER WILL BE STORED IN THE
PROPOSED BUILDING, IN ADDITION TO TYPICAL TRACTOR
TRAILER MAINTENANCE MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT. NO
OUTDOOR STORAGE WILL BE WITHIN THE REQUIRED 25-FOOT 
SIDE YARD SETBACKS NOR ANY OTHER REQUIRED YARD
SETBACK.

IMPACT STATEMENT NOTES
I. CURRENT TRAFFIC VOLUME TO THE SITE IS MINIMAL WITH TWO

TRACTOR TRAILERS LEAVING THE SITE MONDAY THROUGH
FRIDAY FROM 6:00-8:00 A.M. AND RETURNING TO THE SITE
BETWEEN 6:00-7:00 P.M. NO INCREASE IN THIS TRAFFIC VOLUME
IS PLANNED.
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STORMWATER NARRATIVE:
A DETENTION BASIN AND FOREBAY HAVE BEEN
ADDED TO MANAGE ON-SITE DRAINAGE.   SHEET
FLOW FROM CONCRETE SURFACES AND SOME
GRAVEL SURFACES WILL BE DIRECTED TO A
FOREBAY AT BACK SIDE OF THE SITE THROUGH A
SPILLWAY.  THE EAST SIDE OF THE PARCEL
DRAINAGE WILL FLOW TO THE DETENTION BASIN
ON THE SITE.  DISCHARGE FROM THE BASIN
WILL OUTLET TO THE FENDT DRIVE R.O.W.
WHICH THEN FLOWS NORTH TO THE 36" STORM
SEWER AT THE NORTH LINE OF GEN TECH
INDUSTRIAL PARK AND THE REGIONAL
DETENTION BASIN. A 12" CULVERT IS ALSO
BEING INSTALLED IN ORDER TO FACILITATE
FLOW UNDERNEATH THE ENTRANCE OF THE SITE
IN THE R.O.W.
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UNIT 10

LIMIT OF GRADING

PROPOSED
BASIN

BOTTOM OF
FOREBAY
1022

1.23 %

1.46%

1.17 %

2.23 %

2.
00

 %

1.01 %

PROPOSED
FOREBAY

1.39 %

4.55 %

3.30
 %

1028

1024
1023

1025

1025

1026

10
28

10
2610
25

1028
1027

10
25

OUTDOOR
TRAILER STORAGE

1026.75
1025.75

SE
SC

 P
LA

N

5

A 
& 

J C
AR

TA
GE

 P
RO

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

NG

51
7-

86
1-

05
15

HO
W

EL
L, 

MI
  4

88
43

12
47

 F
EN

DT
 D

RI
VE

A 
& 

J C
AR

TA
GE

Engineering

E
n

g
in

e
e
ri

n
g

31
21

 E
. G

RA
ND

 R
IV

ER
 A

VE
.

HO
W

EL
L,

 M
I. 

 4
88

43
51

7.
54

6.
48

36
  F

AX
 5

17
.5

48
.1

67
0

En
gi

ne
er

s 
   

Su
rv

ey
or

s 
   

Pl
an

ne
rs

   
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s

SOIL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES
P=PERMANENT  T=TEMPORARY

TOTAL AREA OF DISTURBANCE = 1.33 AC     (57,882 SF)

SEE SHEET 9 FOR DETAILS AND SESC NOTES

 NOTES
1. ACCESS ROAD TO THE SITE SHALL BE PROVIDED AND MAINTAINED DURING

CONSTRUCTION AND SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED TO BE CAPABLE OF
SUPPORTING THE IMPOSED LOAD OF FIRE APPARATUS WEIGHING AT LEAST
84,000 POUNDS.

2. SOILS DATA CAN BE FOUND ON EXISTING CONDITIONS SHEET 2.
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OCS 3 TO FES 4FES 1 TO FES 2

STORM PIPE PROFILES
SCALE: 1" = 50'
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MEMORANDUM 

TO:   Honorable Board of Trustees 

FROM: Kelly VanMarter, Township Manager 

DATE:  October 27, 2022 

RE:  Legacy Apartments Rezoning  
Ordinance No. Z-22-03 

 

Please find attached a proposed rezoning ordinance for parcels 4711-11-300-014 and 
4711-14-100-002 which are located at the southeast corner of Grand River Avenue and 
Dorr Road.  The rezoning involves two vacant properties consisting of approximately 52 
acres.    The proposed rezoning is from the Neighborhood Service District (NSD), 
Medium Density Residential district (MDR) and the Town Center Overlay district (TC) to 
Residential Planned Unit Development (RPUD).   The RPUD proposes a development of 
204 apartment units and related facilities.   

 
This rezoning was recommended for approval by the Township Planning Commission on 
September 12, 2022 and by the Livingston County Planning Commission on October 19, 
2022. 

Subject 
properties 
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As required pursuant to the Charter Township Act (Act 359 of 1947) the Board is being asked to 
introduce and conduct the first reading on the proposed rezoning ordinance. Staff is requesting 
the second reading and consideration for adoption be set for the Monday, November 21, 2022 
regularly scheduled meeting. A draft publication as required by law is also attached.  

As such please consider the following action: 

Moved by __________, supported by ___________to introduce proposed ordinance number 
Z-22-03 and to set the meeting date to consider adoption before the Township Board on 
Monday, November 21, 2022 for the purpose of considering the proposed zoning map 
amendment. 

Should you have any questions concerning this matter, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Sincerely,  

Kelly VanMarter 
Township Manager 
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ORDINANCE NO. Z-22-03 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF GENOA BY 
REZONING PARCELS 4711-11-300-014 AND 4711-14-100-002 FROM NEIGHBORHOOD SERVICE 

DISTRICT (NSD) AND MEDIUM DENSTIY RESIDENTIAL (MDR) WITH TOWN CENTER 
OVERLAY (TC) TO RESIDNTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (RPUD)  

THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF GENOA HEREBY ORDAINS that the Zoning Map, as incorporated by reference 
in the Charter Township of Genoa’s Zoning Ordinance, is hereby amended as follows: 

Real property consisting of two vacant parcels with a combined total of approximately 52 acres with parcel ID numbers 
4711-11-300-014 and 4711-14-100-002 located at the southeast corner of Grand River and Dorr Road more particularly 
described as follows: 

shall be rezoned from the Neighborhood Service District (NSD), Medium Density Residential district (MDR) and the Town 
Center Overlay district (TC) to Residential Planned Unit Development (RPUD).   The Township Planning Commission and 
Township Board, in strict compliance with the Township Zoning Ordinance and with Act 110 of the Public Acts of 2006, 
as amended, reclassified the Property as Residential Planned Unit Development (RPUD) upon finding that such 
classification properly achieved the purposes of Section 10.03.01 and 22.04 of the Township’s Zoning Ordinance (as 
amended).  

Repealor:  All ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are repealed. 

Severability Should any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, or word of this Ordinance be held invalid for 
any reason, such decisions shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the Ordinance. 

Savings:  This amendatory ordinance shall not affect violations of the Zoning Ordinance or any other ordinance existing 
prior to the effective date of this Ordinance and such violation shall be governed and shall continue to be separate punishable 
to the full extent of the law under the provisions of such ordnance at the time the violation was committed.   
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Effective Date:  This map amendment was adopted by the Genoa Charter Township Board of Trustees at the regular 
meeting held ____________________ and ordered to be given publication in the manner required by law.  This ordinance 
shall be effective seven days after publication.   
 
On the motion to adopt the Ordinance the following vote was recorded: 
 
Yeas:   
Nays:   
Absent: 
 
I hereby approve the adoption of the foregoing Ordinance this _____ day of __________, 2022. 
 
 
____________________     ____________________ 
Paulette A. Skolarus      Bill Rogers 
Township Clerk       Township Supervisor 
 
Township Board First Reading:   November 7, 2022 
Date of Publication of Proposed Ordinance:  November 13, 2022 (proposed) 
Township Board Second Reading and Adoption:  November 21, 2022 (proposed) 
Date of Publication of Ordinance Adoption:  November 27, 2022 (proposed) 
Effective Date:     December 4, 2022 (proposed)  
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP,  

LIVINGSTON COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 

NOTICE OF PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT  
NOVEMBER 21, 2022 

 
Pursuant to Michigan Public Act 359 of 1947, (the Charter Township Act), notice is hereby given  
that the Genoa Charter Township Board will be considering an ordinance to amend the zoning map of the 
Charter Township of Genoa at 6:30 p.m. on Monday, November 21, 2022.   The parcels proposed for  
rezoning consists of approximately 52 acres of land and are located at the southeast corner of Grand River 
Avenue and Dorr Road.   There are two vacant parcels with parcel ID numbers are 4711-11-300-014 and 
4711-14-100-002.  The proposed rezoning is from Neighborhood Service District (NSD), Medium 
Density Residential district (MDR) and the Town Center Overlay district (TC) to Residential Planned 
Unit Development (RPUD).    
 
The complete text of the proposed ordinance is available for public inspection at the Township Hall 
located at 2911 Dorr Road, Brighton, Michigan 48116, Monday through Friday from 9:00a.m. to 
5:00p.m.  
 
Kelly VanMarter 

Township Manager 

(Press/Argus 11/13/22) 
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Genoa Township Officials 
Amended:  June 6, 2022  

PROPOSED CHANGES FOR 11/7/22 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION (3-year term)     
Chris Grajek       06/30/23 
Marianne McCreary       06/30/24 
Tim Chouinard       06/30/23 
Jeff Dhaenens       06/30/25 
Diana Lowe (1-year term)       11/20/22 reappoint thru 11/20/23 
Glynis McBain       06/30/24 
Eric Rauch       06/30/25 
 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (3-year term) 
Bill Rockwell       06/30/24 
Marianne McCreary       06/30/24 
Greg Rassel       06/30/25 
Jean Ledford (1-year term)       11/20/22 reappoint thru 11/20/23 
Michele Kreutzberg      06/30/23 
Craig Fons (alternate)      06/30/25 
 
BOARD OF REVIEW (2-year term) 
Chris Grajek       12/31/22 reappoint thru 12/31/24 
Ron Matkin       12/31/22 reappoint thru 12/31/24 
Marianne McCreary      12/31/22 reappoint thru 12/31/24 
Lindsay McFarlane (alternate)      12/31/22 reappoint thru 12/31/24 
 
SEMCOG (4-year term) 
Terry Croft        11/20/24 
Diana Lowe (alternate)      11/20/24 
 
GENOA/OCEOLA SEWER AND WATER AUTHORITY (4-year term) 
Robin Hunt       11/20/24 
Bill Rogers        11/20/24 
 
HOWELL PARKS AND RECREATION  (4-year term) 
Diana Lowe       11/20/24 
Terry Croft (alternate)      11/20/24 
 
MHOG (Marion, Howell, Oceola and Genoa) (4-year term) 
Robin Hunt       11/20/24 
Bill Rogers       11/20/24 
 
FOIA COORDINATOR (4-year term) 
Michael Archinal Kelly VanMarter       11/20/24 replace Mike with Kelly VanMarter 
 
BRIGHTON FIRE AUTHORITY (4-year term) 
Bill Rogers      11/20/24 
Terry Croft      11/20/24 
 
ELECTION COMMISSION (4-year term) 
Diana Lowe      11/20/24 
Jean Ledford      11/20/24   

175



MEMORANDUM 
TO:   Honorable Board of Trustees 

FROM: Amy Ruthig, Planning Director 
 
DATE:  November 2, 2022 
  
RE: Settlement Agreement – Consent Order 
 4222 Pardee Lake Road, Paul Lalewicz 
  
 
The Township Supervisor received the attached letter on September 28, 2022 from Mr. Paul 
Lalewicz, 4222 Pardee Lake Road, requesting an amendment to a Settlement Agreement that he 
he entered into with the Township on March 15, 2012.  The issue was the illegal use of a 
recreational vehicle for temporary seasonal housing in violation of the Township Zoning 
Ordinance.   This use violates Sections 3.03, 11.02, 11.02.06, 11.03, and 11.03.03 of the ordinance.    
 
Mr. Lalewicz is requesting the Board amend the agreement to allow for him to stay overnight 
during the months he is allowed to keep a recreational vehicle at the site.   To aid in your 
discussion, I have provided a quick history of the property below with supplemental information 
in the following pages:  

• In June of 2009, notice was sent to the property owner in regards to violation of the 
Township Zoning Ordinance.  

• In July of 2009 and June of 2010, the property owner was cited for the continued violation 
of the Township Zoning Ordinance.  

• In October of 2010, the property owner applied for and was denied by the Zoning Board 
of Appeals to allow a recreational vehicle for temporary living purposes on a vacant lot. 
(See attached). 

• In June of 2011, the Township filed a complaint with the Circuit Court as the property 
owner continued to violate the Township Zoning Ordinance.  

• In March of 2012, the Township Board and the property owner entered into a Settlement 
Agreement – Consent Order.  (See attached) 

• In June of 2013, a notice of violation of the Settlement Agreement was sent to the 
property owner. (See attached) 

 
Any modifications to the agreement would need to be approved by the Township Board and 
agreed to by Judge Hatty.  If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  

Best Regards,  

 

Amy Ruthig 
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 GENOA CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

PUBLIC HEARING 
OCTOBER 19, 2010 

6:30 P.M. 
MINUTES 

Chairman Mike Howell called the regular meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals to order at 6:30 p.m. 
at the Genoa Township Hall. The Pledge of Allegiance was then said. The following board members were 
present constituting a quorum for transaction of business: Mike Howell, Barbara Figurski, Marianne 
McCreary, Steve Wildman and Jeff Dhaenens. Also present was Township staff member Adam 
VanTassell and 32 persons in the audience.  
 
Moved by Figurski, supported by McCreary to approve the agenda as presented. Motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
10-20…A request by Paul Lalewicz, Section 30, Vacant Pardee Lake Road, for a variance to allow a 
recreation vehicle for temporary living purposes on a vacant parcel.  

Paul Lalewicz and Brian Lavan, attorney 7990 W. Grand River, Brighton, was present for the petitioner. 
Mr. Lavan stated that Mr. Lalewicz obtained a permit from the Michigan Department of Natural 
Resources in 1993 for the purposes that he is requesting a variance for tonight. Mr. Lalewicz goes to 
Bishop Lake State Campground to dispose of the waste from the RV. He keeps the lot nicely kept and is 
there from May to November, then he heads out west for the remainder of the year.  

A call to the public was made with the following response: Cheri MacCarrell- 2050 E. Coon Lake Road, 
read the following letter: “Our property is located on the north side of a small lake called Gale Lake. We 
spoke briefly concerning our reservations about the request that Mr. Lalewicz has made to allow his RV 
to stay on his parcel on Gale Lake. It is our concern that in allowing Mr. Lalewicz to park on Gale Lake for 
extended periods of time, that the wildlife on and around Gale Lake will suffer. We have personally 
watched the Red Winged Black birds, crane, swans, geese and heron fly away and circle repeatedly 
without being able to return to their nests. The repeated circling of their pontoon boat pulling kids 
tubing around the lake causes waves and noise for extended periods of time. When we first purchased 
our land, we were told that no motor boats were allowed on this lake and that it was a “no wake” lake. 
For several weekends the loud circling of the lake created waves and noise that scared the birds away. 
Please understand that we love to see children enjoying the lake, but not at the expense of causing the 
wildlife to abandon their habitat.  

Another of our concerns is for the proper disposal of the waste from the RV. We are not accusing the 
owners of anything inappropriate, but we would like some assurances that Gale Lake and the 
surrounding wetlands are not polluted. Will they have regular trash removal as the rest of the home 
owners must pay for? We wonder, in allowing this land to be designated as “temporary living”, whether 
this also allows the building of other structures, permanent/portable bathrooms, fuel storage, or the 
clearing of more wetland. The RV is already parked on the property for quite extended periods of time. 
By allowing this variance, just how long will the “temporary living” be and whose job will it be to police 
and enforce the new ordinance? Thank you for your kind consideration.” 
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Tom and Linda Plane, 4095 Pardee Lake Road, stated “A vacant lot in not a camp site. This is a residential 
area with houses, not RVs and trailers or mobile homes. Living on a vacant lot and not being taxed for a 
dwelling is not fair for others who pay higher taxes to live on their land. This will lower other property 
values. This will open the door for others to temporary live in RVs, trailers, or any other kind of junk on 
any vacant lot. People will be letting other people to temporarily live or camp out on their vacant lots. 
People bring in run down RVs, trailers and campers. Ones that leak fluids, have things falling off them or 
just look bad. This could cause problems with other residents with partying, running generators, or just 
making noise late into the night when other residents in the area have to get up early to go to work. This 
would cause a hardship on the Township in regards to making sure they don’t stay to long. Would that 
require Adam having to go out every day to make sure that they are within the 21 days a year of staying, 
making sure toilet waste is not dumped on vacant lots and making sure contaminates are not leaking on 
soils or lakes such as engine oils, coolants, fuels, or other things. This would also be a loss of tax money 
for people living on vacant lots with no dwellings. There would be RVs, trailers, and campers being 
abandoned or being parked or left there for months or years. I contacted several other townships and 
cities and they all said no.” 

Joyce Trudel, 2093 Webster Park Drive, asked “If you are not allowed to do something on your property 
should that be in your deed? Does the title insurance cover that? Mr. Lalewicz keeps the site well 
maintained.  

Sharon Hoerle, 2066 Webster Park Drive, I lived here for 54 years. I live on Pardee Lake which is the 
feeder lake for Gale Lake. I was president of the lake association. I see nothing that Mr. Lalewicz is doing 
to be an inconvenience to anyone.  

Debra Loveday, 2223 Webster Park Drive, stated “Mr. Lalewicz does keep it looking nice however I am 
against it. We bought in a residential district and would like to keep it like that.  

Dan Novak, 2061 Webster Park Drive, stated “I pass this lot every day and have lived there for 8 years. It 
is a beautiful piece of property. There are other vacant lots in the area. I am going to be purchasing one 
and I don’t intend to put a trailer on it. I have seen no parties. 

Jim French, 2191 Webster Park Drive, stated “I have lived here for 30 years. I remember when Paul 
bought the land. Paul has taken a 30 foot strip of land and put in a small storage shed and a nice dock 
for his little boat. He is not disturbing the wildlife.  

Jack Loveday, 2223 Webster Park Drive, stated “Mr. Lalewicz is a nice guy, always smiling and waving. I 
don’t believe this should be a popularity contest. How can we allow this? As for the other campers on 
the lake, they adhere to the 21 day rule. There are several other pieces of property that some could do 
the same thing on. I have seen it on other lakes. The zebra mussels would become a problem with more 
people coming and going on the lake.  

John Liss, 2292 Webster Park Drive, stated “Mr. Lalewicz has been there for several years. I don’t think 
that there is someone else asking for this. I don’t see a reason to deny him. The water by his dock is 
clearer than Pardee Lake.  

Mr. Butcher, 4285 N. Gale Drive, stated “Mr. Lalewicz is not the only one with a boat on the lake. The 
wildlife has remained that same and nothing has changed.  
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Chairman Howell requested that the following letter be inserted into the record: Cheryl Powell, 4088 
Pardee Lake Road, “This letter is in regards to the variance request for Paul Lalewicz on Pardee Lake 
Road. I have several questions regarding this matter. Water is considered temporary if allowed to park 
trailer on property? I understand it is 21 days. Is someone supposed to monitor this? Where is sewer 
discharged if they have no septic field? If this variance passes, will it open the windows for trailers to 
park everywhere on vacant land? Will having these trailers parked on vacant land decrease our property 
values?”  

The following letter was received from Marsha Noble, 2187 Webster Park Drive, “I would like to voice 
my support for Paul Lalewicz in allowing a recreational vehicle be used as temporary living purposes. He 
poses no threat to our environment; in fact he has made the area much nicer than it was previously. The 
motorhome is not a permanent fixture and I do not find it offensive. Paul is a respected member in our 
community and I would like to see him continue to live and enjoy his property.” 

The call to the public was closed. There was a brief board member discussion. 

Moved by Wildman, Supported by Figurski, to deny case# 10-20 located on Pardee Lake Road due to no 
practical difficulty associated with the property. Motion approved unanimously.  

10-21…A request by Matt Wilson, Sec. 25, 4761 Bauer Road, for a variance to allow a detached 
accessory structure in the front yard.  

A call to the public was made with no response.  

Moved by Wildman, supported by Dhaenens, to approve case#10-21 located at 4761 Bauer Road, to 
allow a detached accessory structure to remain in the front yard upon its removal by July 1, 2011. 
Motion approved unanimously.   

10-22…A request by Barbara Lewis, Sec. 14, 6860 Mahinske, for a side and front yard variance to 
construct an addition.  
 
A call to the public was made with the following response: Mark Lasagna, 6854 Mahinske, stated that he 
supports that variance.  

Moved by Figurski, supported by Wildman, to table case #10-22 located at 6854 Mahinske, per the 
petitioner’s request. Motion carried unanimously.  
 
10-23…A request by Genoa Township, Sec. 14, 2911 Dorr Road, for a lighting variance at the Genoa 
Township Athletic fields.  
 
Ms. Kelly VanMarter, Genoa Township Planning Director, was present for the petitioner. Ms. VanMarter 
gave a brief presentation on the specifications for the variance.  
 
Moved by Wildman, supported by McCreary, to approve case# 10-23, 2911 Dorr Road, for a property 
line light level variance of .2 foot-candles, a maximum light level variance of 23.8 foot-candles, a light 
fixture variance to allow for floodlight and a light fixture height variance of 40 feet. The finding of fact is 
location of the athletic fields due to the placement of wetlands on the property. Conditioned upon the 
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To:  Honorable Board of Trustees 
 
From:  Kelly VanMarter, Township Manager 
 
Date:  November 3, 2022 
 
Re:  Senior Survivor Project Contribution 

 
 
Howell Public Schools Senior Survivor program and Michigan Recreational Construction, Inc. 
have been diligently working to finalize the design for the exciting new proposed all-abilities 
children’s playground to be located at our beautiful Genoa Township park facility.   In the 
following pages you will find the proposed plan with examples of some of the playground 
amenities included in the design.  
 
With the finalized design, we also have a better idea of the overall project cost.   The purpose of 
this memo is to seek feedback from the Board to increase the Township’s contribution to the 
project.  In addition to helping to fund the full playground,  staff is seeking consideration to fund 
the proposed picnic plaza area that will provide a seating area for both the Senior Survivor Park 
and Township park visitors.  The picnic plaza area has a hatched outline on the attached plan.  
For the Monday, November 7th meeting I am seeking your input on increasing the Township’s 
contribution to the project.    Specifically, I am requesting your consideration of two options as 
follows:  
 
OPTION 1 – CONSTRUCT THE FULL PARK WITH PICNIC AREA 

TOTAL PROJECT COST INCLUDING PICNIC PLAY AREA    $814,000.00   
SCHOOLS CONTRIBUTION  $462,069.00 
CURRENT TOWNSHIP CONTRIBUTION  $139,300.00 

SHORTFALL  $212,631.00  

  
TOWNSHIP OPTIONS TO COMPLETE ENTIRE PROJECT INCREASE CONTRIBUTION 
INCREASE FY 22/23 CONTRIBUTION  $112,631.00 
TAKE ON PICNIC PLAZA AS TWP. PROJECT FOR FY 23/24  $100,000.00 

  
Total Township Contribution  
FY 22/23  $251,931.00 
FY 23/24  $100,000.00 
TOTAL COMBINED TOWNSHIP COSTS  $351,931.00 
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OPTION 2 – ELIMINATE THE PICNIC PLAZA AREA 

TOTAL PROJECT COST ELIMINATING PICNIC PLAZA AREA   $721,100.00   
SCHOOLS CONTRIBUTION  $462,069.00 
CURRENT TOWNSHIP CONTRIBUTION  $139,300.00 

SHORTFALL  $119,731.00  

  
TOWNSHIP OPTION TO FUND PARTIAL PROJECT INCREASE CONTRIBUTION  
INCREASE FY 22/23 CONTRIBUTION  $119,731.00 

  
Total Township Contribution  
FY 22/23  $259,031.00 

 
I look forward to discussing this with you at Monday’s meeting.   Please let me know if you have any 
questions.   
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Kelly VanMarter 
Township Manager 
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Senior Survivor Playground 
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Page 1 of 4

10/11/2022                                                                           Bill To: Genoa Twp
Quote Valid Until: 12/11/2022 2911 Dorr Rd
Payment Terms: Net 30 Brighton, MI 48114
Estimator: Bradley Sheffer    

brad@buildingfun.com

Survivor Playground at Genoa Park
Organization: Genoa Twp.
Address: 2911 Dorr Rd, Brighton, MI 48114
Contact: Kelly VanMartar - Twp. Manager

810.227.5225
Kelly@genoa.org

Qty Item Item Description Price Each Total

Site Prep Work to be performed includes: $92,400.00
  ~ Provide orange snow fencing around the perimeter of the work site.
  ~ Lay-out, stake and excavate the playground area as needed to prep
     for construction.
  ~ Provide fill sand to construct the mound area.
  ~ Provide sand for sandbox.
  ~ Provide geotextile fabric as needed.

Aggregate Work to be performed includes: $4,400.00
Pathway   ~ Construct the 1,637 SF aggregate pathway as shown on the master plan.

Concrete Flat Work to be performed includes: $4,350.00
Work East   ~ Provide 300 SF of 4"-thick concrete around the Information Hut.
of Picnic Area   ~ Provide 160 SF of 4"-thick concrete dub downs at (3) locations shown 

     on master plan.

Picnic Plaza Work to be performed includes: $58,500.00
  ~ Lay-out, stake and excavate the picnic plaza area as needed to prep
     for construction.
  ~ Provide 1,480 SF of 4"-thick concrete with concrete steps as shown on
     the master plan.
  ~ Provide the boulder retention wall as shown on the master plan.  Includes 
      drainage system with 4" perforated pipe.
Alternate #1:  Furnish and install (6) MyTcoat 46" round picnic tables,
                        (3) MyTcoat 6' benches with backs and (3) MyTcoat trash
                        receptacles.  ADD $34,400.00

Sub - Total: Continued…

safety surface, permits or prevailing wage unless specified in quote.

Accepted by Customer: Date:

No: 222086A R1

PROPOSAL

Michigan Recreational Construction, Inc.
18631 Conant St., Detroit MI 48234  OR  1091 Victory Dr., Howell 48834  

Proposal does not include supply of product, site preparation, drainage, restoration, removing existing structures,

Detroit Office:  313.551.0565              Howell Office:  517.545.7122

Date of Estimate:

Email:

Project Name:

Phone:
Email:
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10/11/2022                                                                           Bill To: Genoa Twp
Quote Valid Until: 12/11/2022 2911 Dorr Rd
Payment Terms: Net 30 Brighton, MI 48114
Estimator: Bradley Sheffer    

brad@buildingfun.com

Survivor Playground at Genoa Park
Organization: Genoa Twp.
Address: 2911 Dorr Rd, Brighton, MI 48114
Contact: Kelly VanMartar - Twp. Manager

810.227.5225
Kelly@genoa.org

Qty Item Item Description Price Each Total

Concrete Work to be performed includes: $49,700.00
Sluice   ~ Provide 180 SF of 6"-thick concrete sluice with cobble stones as shown 

     on the master plan.  
  ~ Provide (1) Bison Pump-n-Play Jr and (2) Pump-n-Play Pumps.  Includes
     providing water service to the pumps. 
  ~ Provide 160 LF of drain pipe from sluice drain inlet to the catch basin 
     that is located at the curb of the existing road.

Poured-in-Place Work to be performed includes: $32,500.00
Rubber Surface   ~ Provide 630 SF of PIP at a depth of 5" to meet 9' fall height over 4"

     stone base.  Colors: 30% Black / 40% Vine Green / 30% Mineral Blue
  ~ Provide 215 SF of PIP at a depth of 2.5" to meet 4' fall height over 4"
     stone base.  Colors: 30% Black / 40% Vine Green / 30% Mineral Blue

Engineered Work to be performed includes: $6,800.00
Wood Fiber   ~ Provide 3,366 SF of EWF at a depth of 12".

All Ledge Rock Work to be performed includes: $57,500.00
Formations   ~ Provide all ledge rock formations over stone base at locations shown 

     on the master plan.

Boulders Work to be performed includes: $9,500.00
  ~ Provide boulder retention wall located near Zip Line.
  ~ Provide all boulders as shown throughout the playground area.

Sub - Total: Continued…

safety surface, permits or prevailing wage unless specified in quote.

Accepted by Customer: Date:

PROPOSAL
No: 222086A R1

Date of Estimate:

Email:

Project Name:

Phone:
Email:

Proposal does not include supply of product, site preparation, drainage, restoration, removing existing structures,

Michigan Recreational Construction, Inc.
18631 Conant St., Detroit MI 48234  OR  1091 Victory Dr., Howell 48834  

Detroit Office:  313.551.0565              Howell Office:  517.545.7122 199
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10/11/2022                                                                           Bill To: Genoa Twp
Quote Valid Until: 12/11/2022 2911 Dorr Rd
Payment Terms: Net 30 Brighton, MI 48114
Estimator: Bradley Sheffer    

brad@buildingfun.com

Survivor Playground at Genoa Park
Organization: Genoa Twp.
Address: 2911 Dorr Rd, Brighton, MI 48114
Contact: Kelly VanMartar - Twp. Manager

810.227.5225
Kelly@genoa.org

Qty Item Item Description Price Each Total

Custom Work to be performed includes: $48,600.00
Natural Logs   ~ Provide all logs as shown on the master plan.  Includes (2) Log Clamber

     Piles, (14) log steps, (6) log benches, (50) stump steppers and (1) fallen
     tree.  

Information Work to be performed includes: $39,750.00
Hut   ~ Construct the Information Hut as shown on the master plan.

  ~ Provide 200 SF of paver area over stone base.

Custom Net Work to be performed includes: $121,500.00
Climb Structure   ~ Construct the custom Net Climb Structure as shown on the master plan.

      Includes netting lashed in place to galvanized steel cable and hardware
      support grid attached to Robinia frame posts.  Includes vertical log
      climbing wall and cluster of (10) stump steppers.

Independent Work to be performed includes: $173,700.00
Play Equipment   ~ Provide (1) KOMPAN 10' stainless steel embankment tunnel slide,

     (1) KOMPAN 5' stainless embankment slide and (1) KOMPAN Zipline.
  ~ Provide (1) Elephant Play Spinneround.
  ~ Provide (1) PlayWorld Unity Swing
  ~ Provide (1) Freenotes Harmony Park Calypso, (1) Pagoda Bells and 
     1-set of (5) Tuned Drums.
  ~ Provide (1) 20' x 36"-dia corrugated plastic underground tunnel.
  ~ Provide (1) In-Up-Out Vertical Tunnel w/ handholds attached to interior
     wall.
  ~ Provide (1) custom Twig Hut
  ~ Provide (1) custom Tipi. Total: Continued…

safety surface, permits or prevailing wage unless specified in quote.

Accepted by Customer: Date:

Detroit Office:  313.551.0565              Howell Office:  517.545.7122

Phone:
Email:

Proposal does not include supply of product, site preparation, drainage, restoration, removing existing structures,

Michigan Recreational Construction, Inc.
18631 Conant St., Detroit MI 48234  OR  1091 Victory Dr., Howell 48834  

PROPOSAL
No: 222086A R1

Date of Estimate:

Email:

Project Name:
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10/11/2022                                                                           Bill To: Genoa Twp
Quote Valid Until: 12/11/2022 2911 Dorr Rd
Payment Terms: Net 30 Brighton, MI 48114
Estimator: Bradley Sheffer    

brad@buildingfun.com

Survivor Playground at Genoa Park
Organization: Genoa Twp.
Address: 2911 Dorr Rd, Brighton, MI 48114
Contact: Kelly VanMartar - Twp. Manager

810.227.5225
Kelly@genoa.org

Qty Item Item Description Price Each Total

Fencing Work to be performed includes: $4,300.00
  ~ Provide 170 LF of split rail fencing at location shown on master plan.

Irrigation Work to be performed includes: $12,700.00
System    ~ Provide an underground irrigation system to water plants, trees and

      turf.  Includes upgrading existing controller that is currently used on to 
      water the soccer fields.  System will primarily use 155-165 pop-up 
      sprays with as well as 9 to 16 rotors.

Landscaping Work to be performed includes: $58,200.00
  ~ Provide (28) 2.5" caliper deciduous trees, (15) Evergreen trees ((5) at 
     5'-tall, (6) at 7'-tall and (4) at 10'-tall).  Includes hardwood mulch.
  ~ Provide (347) ornamental grasses. 
  ~ Provide 9,000 SF of Tall Type Fescue Sod over 2" screened topsoil
     throughout playground area.  

Clean-up / Work to be performed includes: $14,700.00
Site Restoration   ~ Clean-up and restore all areas disturbed due to construction

MRC MRC's contribution to the construction of the playground. -$15,000.00
Contribution Note:  MRC will continue to provide all design services throughout the

            duration of the project at no charge.

Total: $774,100.00

safety surface, permits or prevailing wage unless specified in quote.

Accepted by Customer: Date:

Detroit Office:  313.551.0565              Howell Office:  517.545.7122

Phone:
Email:

Proposal does not include supply of product, site preparation, drainage, restoration, removing existing structures,

Michigan Recreational Construction, Inc.
18631 Conant St., Detroit MI 48234  OR  1091 Victory Dr., Howell 48834  

PROPOSAL
No: 222086A R1

Date of Estimate:

Email:

Project Name:

201

kelly
Line

kelly
Text Box
PVC

kelly
Text Box
$7,300.00

kelly
Text Box
Replace sand play with seating area

kelly
Text Box
-$1,800.00

kelly
Text Box
$814,000

kelly
Text Box
Total Project Cost $814,000 minus Senior Survivor Funds of $462,069 = $351,931 
Current Township Contribution budgeted is $139,300 equals a shortfall of $212,631.  
Staff is requesting consideration of an increase in the budget for this fiscal year of $112,631 for a total Township Contribution FY 22/23 of $251,931. 
Additionally, the Board is being asked to consider taking on the "picnic plaza" portion of the project as a Township project for the next year 23/24 budget at a cost not to exceed $100,000.  

kelly
Text Box
New Total with PVC fencing & benches/tables/trash cans: 



 

 

Board 

Correspondence 

202



 
 
 
 
October 19, 2022 
 
McNamara Subdivision Property Owner 
 
RE:   Road Improvement Meeting 
  November 3rd, 2022 at 6:00pm 
  Genoa Township Hall, 2911 Dorr Road, 48116 
 
Dear resident, 
 
Genoa Township has been contacted regarding helping to finance a paving project in 
your neighborhood.  The roads in the McNamara subdivision are under the jurisdiction 
of the Livingston County Road Commission.    An estimate from T & M Asphalt Paving 
has been provided to the Township for pulverizing the existing asphalt, adding base 
material and paving with one two-inch lift of 13A asphalt and one two-inch lift of 36A 
asphalt.  The project area is approximately 42,640 feet and the estimated cost is 
$185,850. The Livingston County Road Commission has reviewed the estimate and has 
found it reasonable.   A copy of the estimate is attached to this letter for your review.   
 
The Township’s role in the project is strictly financial support and the Board has full 
discretion over whether or not to fund the project.  Public Act 188 of 1954 allows for the 
Township, through the special assessment process, to assist residents by providing 
funding and financing for the cost of the improvement, and then levying and collecting 
the special assessment to pay off the debt.   For road projects improving public roads, 
the Township Board has established a policy to help support projects by contributing 
25% of the project costs or $1500 per parcel, whichever is less.   For this project, the 
Township contribution would be 25% or $46,462. 
 
If the Board chooses to support the project, the assessments are spread over a period of 
time.  Although the Township Board ultimately determines the length of the term, the 
staff has contemplated a 10-year payback.  The Township currently charges 2% interest.   
Based on the information discussed above and the following assumptions, the Township 
estimates declining annual assessment costs of $332.68 in year one and $282.78 in year 
ten.    The spreadsheet showing cost allocation and a map of the project area are also 
attached for your reference.    
 
McNamara Road Improvement District Assumptions:  

• 51 Parcels  
• Construction cost estimate of $185,850 
• 10-year payback with 2% interest 
• Statutory notice and publication cost of $2,000 
• Township contribution of $46,462 which is 25% of the project cost.   
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To formally present this information to the neighborhood, you are invited to attend an 
informational meeting on Thursday, November 3rd at 6:00 PM at the Genoa Township 
Hall located at 2911 Dorr Road.  The contractor will be in attendance to explain the project and 
the Township will review the special assessment process and answer any questions you may 
have.   
 
For the project to move forward at least 51% of the property owners must file a petition 
supporting the project.  Petitions will be available at the meeting to distribute and/or sign if there 
is support for the project.  The petitions have very specific language required by state statute.  
All owners of a property who are listed on the deed must sign the petition for it to be valid for 
each parcel.   For a trust, the Township will need documentation from the trust to verify that the 
person signing the petition is authorized by the trust to do so.   
 
If you are unable to attend or if you have any questions please feel free to contact me at 
810.227.5225 or via email kelly@genoa.org. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Kelly VanMarter 
Manager 
 
  
Cc: Township Board Correspondence 
 McNamara Road SAD Project File  
Attachments (2):   Estimate from T&M Asphalt Paving, Inc. dated 8/23/22 
   Cost allocation spreadsheet and project area map 
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MCNAMARA ROADS 10-13-22

MCNAMARA ROADS 2023
PROJECT COST $185,850
ADMIN. $2,000
TWP. CONTRIB. ($46,462) 25% of project cost

TOTAL $141,388
INTEREST % 2
PROPERTIES 51

YEAR PAYMENT TO INTEREST TO PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING
1 2023 $16,966.56 $2,827.76 $14,138.80 $127,249.20
2 2024 $16,683.78 $2,544.98 $14,138.80 $113,110.40
3 2025 $16,401.01 $2,262.21 $14,138.80 $98,971.60
4 2026 $16,118.23 $1,979.43 $14,138.80 $84,832.80
5 2027 $15,835.46 $1,696.66 $14,138.80 $70,694.00
6 2028 $15,552.68 $1,413.88 $14,138.80 $56,555.20
7 2029 $15,269.90 $1,131.10 $14,138.80 $42,416.40
8 2030 $14,987.13 $848.33 $14,138.80 $28,277.60
9 2031 $14,704.35 $565.55 $14,138.80 $14,138.80

10 2032 $14,421.58 $282.78 $14,138.80 $0.00
$156,940.68 $15,552.68 $141,388.00

PER PARCEL $2,772.31

YEAR PAYMENT TO INTEREST TO PRINCIPAL OUTSTANDING
1 2023 $332.68 $55.45 $277.23 $2,495.08
2 2024 $327.13 $49.90 $277.23 $2,217.85
3 2025 $321.59 $44.36 $277.23 $1,940.62
4 2026 $316.04 $38.81 $277.23 $1,663.39
5 2027 $310.50 $33.27 $277.23 $1,386.16
6 2028 $304.95 $27.72 $277.23 $1,108.93
7 2029 $299.41 $22.18 $277.23 $831.69
8 2030 $293.87 $16.63 $277.23 $554.46
9 2031 $288.32 $11.09 $277.23 $277.23

10 2032 $282.78 $5.54 $277.23 $0.00
$3,077.27 $304.95 $2,772.31

Prepared by AR 10 /13/22 Correct Twp. Contribution Page 1206



Contract Proposal

T & M Asphalt Paving, Inc.
AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER

4755 OLD PLANK RD.  MILFORD, MI 48381 (248) 684-2300

Date: 8/23/2022

Project:
McNamara Subdivision
Howell

Asphalt Milling & Resurfacing - Approx. 42,640 SF
1. Mill existing asphalt 3" to 4" depth, hauling millings offsite and disposing of properly.
2. Fine grade and compact existing aggregate base.
3. Adjust structures as needed in roadways.
4. Provide and install 2" 4E1 Leveling Course Asphalt and compact.
5. Apply a tack coat for adhesion.
6. Provide and install 1.5" 5E1 Wearing Course Asphalt and compact.
Total Cost for the work above is: 185,850.00$    

Included in above cost is inspection fees & testing for the asphalt paving.

Exclusions:  Permits, bonds, undercutting, concrete work, ditch work, utility/pipe work,

restoration, & landscaping.

Payment for work shall be made within 15 days of presentment of monthly requests for payment.

This is a unit price quotation, with quantities to be verified upon completion.  Contract amount shall be determined by extending
verified quantites at quoted unit prices, and any modification resulting from change in material prices.

x This is a lump sum quotation, except for modification resulting from change in material prices.

A finance charge of 1 1/2% per month will be added each month on all

past due accounts, an annual rate of 18%.

ACCEPTED:  The above prices, specifications, and conditions are Duly Authorized Signature Rick Gordon
satisfactory and are hereby accepted.  You are authorized to do the Sales Engineer
work as specified.  Payment will be made as outlined above.  I HAVE

READ AND AGREE TO THE CONDITIONS ON PAGE TWO. Accepted

Date Signature

The prices quoted above may be subject to change if not accepted within 10 days. 207



NO ORAL It is expressly understood that all the terms, agreements and conditions relating to this contract are only
AGREEMENTS: those expressed in writing herein, and that there are no oral representations, undertakings, terms,

agreements or conditions of any kind.

APPROVAL: This proposal will not be binding upon Contractor until the signed Acceptance has been received, checked
and signed by an officer of Contractor.

PAYMENT OF Customer shall pay to Contractor all costs and expenses including, without limitation, reasonable attorney
COSTS: fees, and the fees of any collection agencies and court costs incurred by Contractor in exercising any

of its rights or remedies hereunder when enforcing any of the terms, conditions or provisions hereof.

CHANGES: No changes or alterations in the specifications shall be allowed except in wirting and at prices agreed
upon at the time the changes are authorized.

ESTIMATED OR Quantities and areas in this proposal are approximate, arrived at for estimating purposes only, and it is
APPROXIMATE understood that payment is to be made on actual quantities of work completed and actual areas covered
QUANTITIES: unless otherwise indicated.

PROPERTY LINES: Customer shall establish and designate property lines, and Customer shall be obligated to pay for work
performed as ordered in the event the property lines established and designated by Customer trespass
on other property, and Customer shall also be responsible for any damages caused thereby to the owner
of such other property.

DELAYS: Unless otherwise stated, Customer shall properly prepare and deliver the jobsite to Contractor within 30
days of Contractor's Acceptance of this Proposal. Contractor shall complete the job within a reasonable
time but shall not be liable for delays beyond its control. Customer caused delays shall entitle Contractor
to delay damages.

PERMITS: Customer shall obtain and pay for any and all permits or assessments required to perform the work.

WET OR UNSTABLE Customer shall provide a suitable dry and stable subgrade. Customer shall be responsible for resulting
SUBGRADE: costs and expenses due to requiring Contractor to place the materials on an unsuitable subgrade. A suitable

subgrade is a condition precedent to the requirement of performance of this contract.

REPRODUCTION: When resurfacing concrete, brick or asphalt pavement the Contractor is not responsible for the reproduction
CRACKS: of cracks or expansion joints which may occur.

MINIMUM GRADE: Customer shall provide all lines and grades. Contractor reserves the right to refuse to construct a pavement
unless minimum grades of 1% are possible for surface drainage. If the Customer directs contractions
with less than a minimum of 1%, it is understood that waterponding may occur and that no
warranty attaches to the work as to satisfactory surface drainage. Depressions over 3/4 inch will be filled.

STOCK PILING Contractor shall be permitted to stockpile materials necessary to the performance of its work on the property
MATERIALS: adjacent to the site of the work, without cost.

UNDERGROUND It is the Customer's responsibility to advise Contractor of the existence and location of all underground
STRUCTURES: structures such as sewers, water and gas lines, etc. which might be encountered by Contractor in the per-

formance of its work. Contractor shall be deemed to have notice of the existence of only those structures
specifically referred to in this Proposal, and of the location thereof as indicated in this Proposal. If it develops
in the performance of the work that the identity or location of the underground structures varies from those
specified herein, any extra cost occasioned thereby in moving, protecting or covering the same, or
otherwise, shall be borne by the Customer.

SOIL CONDITION: Should any unusual soil conditions be encountered not specifically referred to in this Proposal, any extra
cost in the performance of the work occasioned by such conditions shall be paid by Customer.

TREE ROOTS: Contractor shall not be responsible for damage to trees occasioned by the damage or removal of tree
roots in preparing the road bed, nor shall Contractor be obligated to remove damaged or destroyed trees.

HIDDEN OBJECTS: Contractor assumes no responsibility for removing hidden objects encountered during the performance
of the work. Any costs incurred for the removal and disposal of such hidden objects shall be borne solely
by the Customer and Contractor shall be reimbursed accordingly.

ZONING REQUIREMENTSContractor assumes no responsibility for determining whether Customer has the legal right or authority 
& OTHER LOCAL to pave the property as directed. Notwithstanding that such work might be deemed to violate any ordinance,
REGULATIONS: zoning regulation, or other law. Customer shall, nevertheless, be obligated to pay for work performed as

ordered.

PAVEMENT THICKNESS:Contractor's description of pavement and/or aggregate thickness refers to average thickness. Variations
in actual thickness may occur. Contractor shall provide sufficient material to achieve the described average
thickness.

GENERAL CONDITIONS
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November 2, 2022 
 
 
Pine Creek Subdivision Property Owner 
 
RE:   Road Improvement Meeting 
  Thursday, November 10, 2022 at 6:30pm 
  Northridge Church, 7555 Brighton Road, MI 48116 
 
Dear resident, 
 
Genoa Township has been contacted to help finance a paving project in your neighborhood.  
The Township’s role in the project is strictly financial support and the Board has full 
discretion over whether or not to fund the project.  Public Act 188 of 1954 allows for the 
Township, through the special assessment process, to assist residents by providing funding 
and financing for the cost of the improvement, and then levying and collecting the special 
assessment to pay off the debt.   If the Board chooses to support the project, the 
assessments are spread over a period of time.   
 
To formally present this information to the neighborhood, you are invited to attend an 
informational meeting on Thursday, November 10th at 6:30 PM at Northridge Church located 
at 7555 Brighton Road.  Representatives of your neighborhood and the Livingston County 
Road Commission will be in attendance to explain the project and the Township will review 
the special assessment process and answer any questions you may have.   
 
Questions regarding the scope of the project should be directed to the Pine Creek Ridge 
road committee via email at BobL54@aol.com.   Please include “Pine Creek Road Project” in 
the subject line.  If you have questions regarding the special assessment process please feel 
free to contact me at 810.227.5225 or via email kelly@genoa.org.   
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
Kelly VanMarter 
Manager 
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